Petroleum Systems and Geologic Assessment of Oil and Gas in the San Joaquin Basin Province, California

Chapter 4

California Cenozoic Biostratigraphy—Paleogene

By Kristin McDougall

Contents

Abstract	- 1
Introduction	- 1
Critical Sections of the California Paleogene	- 3
Jergins Chenev Ranch Well No. 1	- 5
Lower Arrovo el Bulito Section	- 5
Media Aqua Creek Section	12
Vaca Valley Section	12
Navils Den Section	12
Upper Arroye al Bulite Section and Secheard Welch Well #1	15
Simi Valley Section	15
Silli Valley Section	10
	15
Discussion of the Paleogene Zonation	18
Cheneyian Stage	18
Ynezian Stage	18
Bulitian Stage	18
Penutian Stage	21
Ulatisian Stage	25
Narizian Stage	26
Refugian Stage	26
Conclusions	29
Acknowledgments	30
References Cited	30
Annendix	37
Abbendix	07

Abstract

The time transgressive nature of the California benthic foraminiferal stages is in most cases the result of poor taxonomy, use of local species ranges, and a lack of understanding about the type sections. Correcting these problems allows the stages to be consistently applied and enhances their ability to identify coeval strata. Each stage is identified by the first and last appearances of selected cosmopolitan benthic foraminiferal species and of reliable local species. Although further study is needed, the stages correlate with the international time scale. The revised age interpretation of the stages suggests that the Cheneyian Stage is coeval with planktic zone P1 through P3, the Ynezian Stage is coeval with planktic zone P4, the Bulitian Stage is missing in most section but when present is coeval with zones P5 and P6a, the Penutian Stage is coeval with planktic zones P6b through early P9 (no younger than the overlap between P9 and CP11), the Ulatisian Stage is coeval with P9

(younger than CP11) through P11, the Narizian Stage is coeval with zones P12 through P15, and the Refugian Stage is coeval with zones P16 and P17.

Introduction

Micropaleontology in California evolved rapidly in the 20th century with the exploration for oil and the need for a biostratigraphic framework based on the abundant benthic foraminifers found in the sedimentary strata. Schenck and Kleinpell (1936) defined the first stage. Their Refugian Stage was recognized by both molluscan and benthic foraminiferal species. This was followed by the identification of the Miocene Stages and Zones by Kleinpell (1938), early Cenozoic zones based primarily on subsurface data of Laiming (1940, 1943), the early Paleocene, Cheneyian Stage of Goudkoff (1945; Loeblich, 1958), Pliocene and Pleistocene Stages (Wissler, 1943; Natland, 1952; Wissler, 1958), and finally the lower Tertiary Stages and zones of Mallory (1959). These stages were defined by type sections and the zones were identified by the first, last, and (or) common occurrence of diagnostic benthic foraminiferal species found in the type sections. With the exception of the Laiming zones, type sections were identified for each stage and zone. Subsequent planktic microfossil studies demonstrated that the benthic foraminiferal stages and zones are time transgressive (Bramlette and Sullivan, 1961; Sullivan, 1965; Steineck and Gibson, 1971; Schmidt, 1975; Gibson, 1976; Poore, 1976; Bukry and others, 1977; Warren and Newell, 1980). The time transgressive nature of the stages and zones was further demonstrated by paleomagnetic studies, which support the conclusions based on planktic microfossils (Bottjer and others, 1991; Prothero, 2001b).

With varying degrees of success, micropaleontologists attempted to revise selected stage and zone criteria to accommodate the transgressive nature of the stages and zones and the ecologic restrictions of the diagnostic species (Kleinpell, 1980; McDougall, 1980; Tipton, 1980; Almgren and others, 1988). Most of this work focused on an individual section and (or) stage, rather than looking at a broader interval of

time or geographic region. Unocal paleontologists (Almgren and others, 1988) discussed problems with the lower Tertiary Stages and zones of Mallory (1959) and proposed a revision using a modified version of the Laiming zones. They found that Mallory's type sections were not clearly identified (geographically or stratigraphically), did not represent continuous deposition, stages and their zones were frequently not the same age, and fossil lists were never published from several of the type sections. Although the modified Laiming zones proposed by Almgren and others (1988) are based on several sections, account for ecologically restricted species, and are tied to a widely used calcareous nannoplankton zonation (Okada and Bukry, 1980; Hag and others, 1987a), they used outdated taxonomy and local or regional ranges for the diagnostic species rather than global ranges (fig. 4.1). Consequently, the zones continue to be time transgressive and strongly influenced by ecologic control. Taxonomy, although not mentioned specifically by Almgren and others (1988), is a critical problem with the Mallory (1959) zonation; much of Mallory's work was based on University of California

graduate theses and there is very little taxonomic consistency between the various studies.

Although planktic microfossils are also present in California marine sections, they are less common and benthic foraminifers are the dominant microfossil group. Thus, there is still a need for a reliable biostratigraphy that can be correlated to international chronologies (for example, Berggren and others, 1995; Gradstein and others, 2004; Gradstein and Ogg, 2005), especially as research efforts become more global in extent. The continued demands for not only age interpretations but also for correlation with international chronologies have led to the biostratigraphic framework presented here (fig. 4.2).

The purpose of this study is to document the Paleogene portion of the biostratigraphic framework presented. This is accomplished by examining the original definitions and type sections of the stages and zones, suggesting revisions, and identifying areas for further work. Each of the type Paleogene sections was reexamined to correct the taxonomy either through direct examination of the specimens or through a literature study. The age interpretations based on benthic foraminiferal



Figure 4.1. Ranges of key Paleogene taxa according to Almgren and others (1988) are shown in grey; total ranges of these cosmopolitan species are shown in black. Species names used by Almgren and others (1988) and Laiming (1939, 1940, 1943) were modified to conform to current taxonomy (see appendix 4.1). Oligo., Oligocene.

3

faunas are reconsidered in light of the ranges of the cosmopolitan species, stratigraphy, the original intent of the biostratigraphers, and what could be realistically documented at this time. Problems encountered during this study include determining what each California Paleogene Stage represents and unraveling the various stratigraphic and taxonomic problems related to the existing zonations. These problems are complicated because (1) several zonal schemes are entrenched in California geology, (2) there are numerous informal modifications, (3) taxonomy of California benthic foraminiferal species is in serious need of revision, and (4) California geology is complex.

In the biostratigraphic framework discussed here, the Mallory (1959), Kleinpell (1938), and Natland (1952) stage names are retained. The zones of Laiming (1939, 1940, 1943) are not used because they cover only a portion of the Cenozoic, only have summary faunal lists, and no type sections were provided for the zones. The modified Laiming zones of Almgren and others (1988) are not used because although sections were identified where their zones can be observed, no faunal lists or references to faunal lists were provided, and cosmopolitan species ranges were not used.

The original intent of the California biostratigraphers was to develop a chronostratigraphic framework that allowed recognition of time intervals (that is, stages) with biostratigraphic zones based on fossils and in this case benthic foraminifers (see Hedberg, 1976; Murphy and Salvador, 1999). Unfortunately, the Opellian zones used by the early Californian biostratigraphers are subjective and loosely defined; transition intervals are often needed between the zones. Opellian zones are no longer widely used (Hedberg, 1976; Berggren and Miller, 1989). The loose definition of the California zones and the difficulty in consistently recognizing them has contributed considerably to the time transgressiveness of the California stages.

Systematic studies of benthic foraminifers have resulted in a better understanding of not only the taxonomy but also the ranges and ecologic tolerances of species (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983; Boersma, 1984; van Morkhoven and others, 1986). This wealth of systematic data, when applied to the California faunas, provides a more cohesive taxonomy, recognition of cosmopolitan species, and a better understanding of species distribution in time and space. The results of this phase of the study are summarized in appendix 4.1. The biostratigraphic zonation is then based on the ranges of cosmopolitan benthic foraminiferal species, and (or) reliable local or regional species for which ranges can be documented with planktic microfossils or other chronostratigraphic data (figs. 4.3 and 4.4). The ranges of these species, although subject to local facies control, are relatively consistent, represent discrete intervals of time, and are frequently related to global paleoceanographic events (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983; van Morkhoven and others, 1986; Berggren and Miller, 1989). Among the paleoceanographic events impacting the Paleogene marine benthic faunas include sea level changes (Haq and others, 1987a,b, 1988; Speijer and Schmitz, 1998), hiatuses and (or) erosional events (Keller and others, 1987; Haq, 1991), and water mass

changes (Thomas, 1990; Kennett and Stott, 1995; Kahn and Aubry, 2004; Cramer and Kent, 2005; Thomas, 2006; Zachos and others, 2006). These changes or events often result in extinctions and subsequent recolonization with many first (FAD) or last (LAD) appearance datums (Ortiz, 1995; Speijer and others, 1997; Culver, 2003; Coxall and others, 2006) (fig. 4.5).

A critical problem previously mentioned by Almgren and others (1988) and not fully addressed at this time is the type sections. Almgren and others (1988) demonstrated that the type sections are not well located, not continuous, and not adequately described either faunally or lithologically. The stage and the interval of time it represents are defined by a type section (stratotype) that "should be a single continuously exposed section in facies favorable for time correlation" (Hedberg, 1976, p. 71). However, because continuous stratotypes are difficult to find the stages are more easily defined by their boundaries (boundary stratotype). These boundaries should be within a continuous sequence and associated with a distinct marker horizon that when recognized away from the stratotype represents an isochronous horizon. Biostratigraphic units (zones) that are defined by their fossils are useful for recognizing stage boundaries. The diagnostic fossils must be widely recognized and have distinct isochronous ranges. The complexity of both the California sections and ecologic conditions has made this an almost impossible task, as the boundaries between the stages are almost always an unconformity or a sparsely fossiliferous interval.

Critical Sections of the California Paleogene

Five outcrop sections and two wells were designated as the type sections for the California Paleogene Stages and zones (Schenck and Kleinpell, 1936; Goudkoff, 1945; Mallory, 1959; Tipton, 1980) (table 4.1 and fig. 4.6). Many sections have undergone multiple analyses and additional data exist on the microfossil content as well as other chronostratigraphic and sedimentary information. Problems encountered during the subsequent work on these sections is summarized by Almgren and others (1988) and include the inability to locate the sections or diagnostic sedimentary features (formations or units) within the sections, missing sample locations, placement of a stage boundary at the limits of the exposure, unrecognized breaks in the sections, and inadequate descriptions of the faunas and lithologies. The most critical problem with the type sections is that often the benthic foraminiferal faunas do not reflect the original age, stage, or zone interpretation.

The sections are reviewed in order from oldest to youngest—Jergins Cheney Ranch Well No. 1 (type for the Cheneyian Stage), lower Arroyo el Bulito section (type for the Ynezian and Bulitian Stages), Media Agua Creek section (type section

TIME	CHRONS	ARITY	EPO	осн			N	FORAM STAGES	INIFERAL AND ZONES	COASTAL ONLAP	
(11/12)		POL			Martini (1971)	Bukry (1973,19	75)	PLANKTIC	BENTHIC (this study)	0 50 100 150 200 250 meters	
1	C1		Pleist.	M E	NN19	CN15 CN14 CN13	a b	N22	Hallian Wheelerian		
2	C2		ene	L	NN18 NN17 NN16	CN12	a c b a	N20/21	Venturian		
4	C2A		lioce	E	NN14	CN11	- <u>6</u> - a		Repettian		
5	C3		<u> </u>	-	NN13 NN12	CN10	c b a d	N18	Delmontion		
7 _	СЗА			ш	° NN1 alt.	CN9	c b	N17			
8 -	C4			[A]	NN11		<u>a</u>	1117			
10 -	C4A C5				NN9	CN7		N16			
11 12			Ë		NN7			N15 N14 N13	Mohnian		
13 _	C5A C5AA C5AB		巴	DLE	NN6	CN5)	N12			
14	C5AC C5AD		В	E	NN5	CN4		N10 N9	Luisian		
16 -	C5B C5C		Ĭ₹	<u>⊢</u>	NN4	CN3		N8	Relizian		
17 – 18 –	C5D				NN3	CN2		N7 <u>N6</u> /			
19	C5E			AB		0112	Γ	NE			
20	C6A			"	NN2	Ę	c	CVI	Saucesian		
22 -	C6AA C6B					0	Ĺ	N4			
23	C6C						a-b				
25			Щ		NP25		b	P22			
26	C8			ATE		19	Ĺ				
28	C9		Q	\vdash		U D	a	P21			
29 30	C10 C11		Ю О	>_			a	P20	Zemorrian		
31	C12		E	ARL	NP23	CP17/1	8*	P19]		
32	012		Ιō	ш	NP22	CP17/* (CP18)	18	P18			
34	C13		_	ш	NP21	CP16	5		Refugian		
35 -	C15 C16			P	NP19-20	CP1	5				
37	C17							P15			
39	C18				NP17	4	b	P14	Narizian		
40	010		Ш			1 FC		P13	1	/	
42	<u> </u>			щ			а	P12			
43 _	C20		0		° 2	- m	С	P11]		
45 _			$ \Omega $	Ξ		Ē	b)	
46	C21						a	P10	Ulatisian		
48						SP12	b		ļ		
49 50	C22			<u>≻</u>	∠ ª NP13	CP11	_ <u> </u>	P9		ECCE	
51 _	C23			R,			<u> </u>		1		
53				ШA			ر 		Penutian		
54	C24				NP11	CP9	b a	P6 🖻	ļ		
56			┝──			CP8	b	P5	Bulitian		
57	C25		凹	ATE		CP7	а	C			
59			Ξ		NP7 NP6	CP6 CP5		P4 b	Ynezian	PCCE	
60	C26		2	Σ	NP5	CP4		^			
62	C27		し ビ		NP4	CP3		P2			
63	C28		4	R_	NP3	CP2		P1 .	Cheneyian		mino medi
65	C29		D,	ШA	NP2 NP1	CP1	b a				
66	C30		CF	RET.							major

for the Penutian Stage, and the Ynezian, Bulitian, Penutian and Ulatisian zones), Vaca Valley section (Ulatisian Stage), Devils Den section (Narizian Stage), and the upper Arroyo el Bulito section and Seaboard Welch Well #1 (type section for the Refugian Stage). In addition the Simi Valley and Pacheco Syncline sections are examined because they were considered important by Mallory (1959) and provide additional information on the stages and zones. Reexamination of the benthic foraminiferal faunas includes a taxonomic review and identification of cosmopolitan species. Ages indicated by the benthic foraminiferal species are expressed by the coeval planktic foraminiferal or calcareous nannoplankton zones.

Jergins Cheney Ranch Well No. 1

The A zone or Cheneyian Stage was defined by Goudkoff in 1945 and included strata between claystone of the Martinez Formation (above) and typical shale of the Moreno Formation (below) in the Jergins Cheney Ranch Well No. 1 (sec. 29, T14S, R13E; American Petroleum Institute number 04019001900000). These strata were considered to predate the Martinez Formation, which is Paleocene in age. No formal type section was designated for this stage because adequate exposures were not located and the stage was only temporarily named the Chenevian Stage pending further study (Goudkoff, 1945). Zone A and its two subzones were located in wells in the San Joaquin Valley and Escarpado Canyon along the west side of the San Joaquin Valley. Planktic microfossils from the Cheneyian section were examined by Loeblich and assigned to the Globorotalia compressa-Globigerinoides daubjergensis zone (Loeblich and Tappan, 1957; Loeblich, 1958), which is equivalent to the P1 zone (Berggren and others, 1995). Hornaday (1974) discusses problems related to the recognition of the Cheneyian Stage and the Danian Stage in California. General consensus among Californian geologists is to group the Cheneyian Stage with the Cretaceous.

Only selected species were published for the Cheneyian Stage (Goudkoff, 1945) (table 4.2). Diagnostic benthic foraminifers include a number of cosmopolitan forms that are common throughout the late Cretaceous and Paleocene (*Coryphostoma midwayensis*, *Gyroidinoides globosus*, and *Neoflabellina jarvisi*). Other diagnostic species listed by Goudkoff 5

(1945) need further taxonomic work but are probably the species *Anomalinoides rubiginosus*, *Bulimina velascoensis*, *Cibicidoides dayi*, *C. hyphalus*, *Neoeponides hillebrandti*, and *Spiroplectammina richardi*, which restrict this stage to the Paleocene coeval with planktic foraminiferal zones P1 through P5.

Lower Arroyo el Bulito Section

In Arroyo el Bulito, near Santa Barbara, the Anita shale of Kelley (1943; hereafter referred to as Anita shale) conformably overlies the Cretaceous Jalama Formation and is in turn conformably overlain by the Matilija Sandstone. Mallory (1959) designated the interval from the base of the Anita shale to 140 feet below the Sierra Blanca limestone of Vedder (1972; hereafter referred to as Sierra Blanca limestone) as the type section of the Ynezian Stage. The type Bulitian Stage overlies the Ynezian and includes "the Anita shale superjacent to the strata of the topmost Ynezian and subjacent to the 20 feet of siltstone immediately underlying the Sierra Blanca limestone" (Mallory, 1959, p. 29). Almgren and others (1988) were unable to locate the Sierra Blanca limestone in the Arroyo el Bulito section either on current maps of the area (Dibblee, 1950) or by field checking, thus the physical location of the stage type section is in question.

The first benthic foraminiferal study of the Arroyo el Bulito section was the graduate work of Herlyn (1958), which was subsequently published by Mallory and others (1998). Herlyn (1958) recognized Ynezian, Bulitian, Penutian, and Ulatisian benthic foraminifers, but in the later publication the Ynezian Stage is renamed the Hokanian Stage without explanation. In another study, Gibson (1976) provided both planktic and benthic foraminiferal analysis of the Arroyo el Bulito section and several nearby sections. Gibson (1976) recognized an undifferentiated Ynezian/Bulitian interval, a barren interval, and the Penutian Stage. His Ynezian/Bulitian interval contains planktic foraminifers diagnostic of zones P1 through P3, as well as P4. Gibson's Penutian Stage contains planktic foraminifers that are diagnostic of zones P4 and P5. A third study of the section by Poore (1976) focused on calcareous nannoplankton and planktic foraminifers.

Figure 4.2. California Cenozoic biostratigraphic framework. The international time scale shown here is from Gradstein and others (2004) and Gradstein and Ogg (2005). It is correlated with the paleomagnetic chrons (Berggren, 1972; Berggren and others, 1985; Aubry and others, 1988; Berggren and others, 1995); calcareous nannofossil zones of Bukry (1973, 1975), Okada and Bukry (1980), and Martini (1970, 1971); planktic foraminiferal zones of Blow (1969, 1979), Berggren and Miller (1989), and Berggren (1972); California benthic foraminiferal zonations as proposed in this study and derived from the work of Schenck and Kleinpell (1936), Laiming (1940), Goudkoff (1945), Loeblich (1958), Natland (1952), Wissler (1943, 1958), Kleinpell (1938), Mallory (1959), McDougall (1980, 1988, 1989, 1991, 1993), Almgren and others (1988), Blake (1991), Bartow (1992), and Sliter and others (1993); and the coastal onlap fluctuations of Haq and others (1987a,b, 1988) modified by Johnson and others (2005). Lines on coastal onlap curve indicate sequence boundaries. heavy solid lines are major sequence boundaries, moderate solid lines are medium sequence boundaries, and thin solid lines are minor sequence boundaries. Dashed lines indicate maximum coastal onlap. Pleist., Pleistocene; M, Middle; E, Early; ECCE, Eocene Canyon Cutting Event.

A	GE DIA	AGN(FO	DSTI RAN	PA IC (/IIN	LEOGEI COSMO IIFERAL	NE POLITAN SPECIE	I BENTH S	HC	(K) sis (K-P5) sis (K-P5) sis (K-P5) sis (K-P5) siz (K-P5) siz (K-P5) (F-P5) (F-P5) (F-P2) (K-P14) (K-P14) (F-P5) (F-P5) (P1-P6b) (P1-P15) (
Time (Ma)	Chrons	Polarity	Epoch		Calca Nannop Zor Martini (1971)	reous blankton nes Bukry (1973,1975)	Foram Stage Zo Planktic	niniferal es and nes Benthic (this study)	Coryphostoma incrassata Anomalinotides day Neofiabellina javvis (K-P5) Stensioelina javvis (K-P5) Stensioelina javvis (K-P5) Stensioelina javis (K-P5) Bolivinotides delicatuus (i Gyroidinotides delicatuus (i Cyroidinotides delicatuus (i Cyroidinotides delicatuus (i Cyroidinotides delicatuus (i Cyroidinotides alleni (P1-P6 Silicosigmolina californic Spiroplectammia directa Neoeponides hillebrandir Cibicidoides praeacuta Anomalinotides praeacuta Loxospira gota (P1-P9) Bulimina tinitatensis (P1-P6) Bulimina tuxapamensis (P6a- Palimina aradoury (P6a- Palina aradoury (P6a-Palina aradoury (P6a-Palina aradoury (P6a-Palina aradoury (P6a-Palina aradoury (P6a-Palina aradoury ar
-32-	C12		Oligo.	early	NP23 NP22	CP17/18 (CP18)	P18	Zemorrian	
34 -	C13 C15			late	NP21 NP19-20	CP16	< <u>₽₩_</u> > P16	Refugian	
36 - 	C16 C17 C18 C19		9	ldle .	NP18 NP17 NP16	CP15	P15 P14 P13 P12	Narizian	
42 – 44 – 46 – 48 –	C20 C21		Eocen	pim .	NP14 NP15 a a c c	а с С Р 12 С Р 13 а а с Р 13	P11 P10	Ulatisian	
50 - 52 - 54 -	C22 C23			early	NP13 NP12 NP11	CP11 CP10 CP9	P9 P8 P7 P6	: Penutian	
 56 —	C24			_	NP10	CP8 b	 P5	Bulitian	
58 -	C25		Sene	dle late	NP8* NP8 NP7 NP6 NP5	CP7 CP6 CP5 CP4	P4	Ynezian	
60 62 64 66	C20 C27 C28 C29 C30		Paleoc	early mido	NP3 NP3 NP2 NP1	CP3 CP2 CP1 a		Cheneyian	

Figure 4.3. Ranges of Paleogene age diagnostic cosmopolitan benthic foraminifers. The ranges of cosmopolitan benthic foraminiferal species are plotted against the time scale shown in figure 4.2. The ranges of the species are complied from various literature sources, such as Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), van Morkhoven and others (1986), and Berggren and Miller (1989). Oligo., Oligocene.

6

		AGE I I	DIA(FOR	P/ GNO AMI	ALEOGE STIC LC NIFERA	ENE DCAL BENT L STAGES	THIC		?) -P5) -P5) 1(P4-P10, P11-P15) P6b-P8) -P9) mae (P6b-P9, ?P10) P8) P8) P8) P8) P8) P8) P8) P8
e (Ma)	SUC	rity	Ę	-	Calo Nanno Z	areous oplankton ones	Foram Stage Zoi	iniferal s and nes	piumitiva (K-P6a' piummerae (P3) aria franker (P4) aria franker (P4) botas acuta (P4) fortunatus (P6b) fortunatus (P6b) fortunatus (P6b) fortunatus (P6b) palbamensis (P6b) alabamensis (P6b) partina ignota (a palbamensis (P6b) partina ignota (P1) for martinezens a regina (P6b) partina ignota (P1) partina ignota (P1) partina ignota (P1) partina packa parti parti (P15-P11) a schendsi (P15-P11) a schondri (P1
Time	Chro	Pola	С С Ц		Martini (1971)	Bukry (1973,1975	Planktic	Benthic (this study)	Palmula palmula palmula palmula palmula palmula pronidess Eponidess Eponides Sproplectina Uvigerina vagunulin vagunulin prifarina vagunulin promalin Amphilma vaginulina palmulin properties palmulin properties balivina s generalizada palmulin properties balivina s balinina Uvigerina uvigerina uvigerina uvigerina prectofro casina du vigerina prectofro prectorina prectofrona prectofrona prectofrona prectofrona prectofrona prectofrona prectofrona di casina di
32	C12		oligo.	arly	NP23 NP22	CP17/18 (CP18)	P18	Zemorrian	
34 –	C13			ate	NP21	CP16	P17 P16	Refugian	
36 –	C16			<u> </u>	NP18	CP15	P15		
38 -	C17				NP17	b		l	
40 -	C18						P13	Narizian	
42 -	C19		e		NP16	O a	P12		
44 -	C20		ocer	middle	IP15 	P13	P11	+ ·	
46 -	C21		ш				P10	Ulatisian	
48 -	021								
50 -	C22				NP13	CP11	P9		
52 -	C23			arly	NP12	CP10	P7		
54 –				Ű	NP11		P6 b	Penutian	
56 -	C24				NP10	- CP8 b	 	Bulitian	
58 -	C25		e	late	NP9 NP8*	a CP7 CP6		-	
60	C26		Sen	dle	NP6	CP5 CP4	TP4 b	Ynezian	
60	020		eo C	mid	NP4	CP3	P3 P2	-	
	C27		al	<u>ج</u>	NIDS	C.P2	P1 °	Cheneyian	
64 –	C28		<u> </u>	ear	NP2 NP1				
66 –	C30						Pa/		

Figure 4.4. Ranges of local and regional Paleogene age diagnostic benthic foraminifers. Ranges of the key species are compiled from various sections throughout California (see appendix 4.1). Oligo., Oligocene.

7



Figure 4.5. Major paleoceanographic events in the Paleogene. Marine faunas were affected by several major oceanographic events correlated with the international time scale and the proposed correlation of the California Paleogene Stages (see fig. 4.2). Oceanographic events shown here include the coastal onlap curve of Haq and others (1987a,b, 1988), as modified by Johnson and others (2005); major extinction, colonization, and appearance events (Berggren and Miller, 1989); deep sea hiatus and canyon cutting events (Keller and others, 1987; Haq, 1991); and tectonic, circulation, and water mass changes (Keller and others, 1987; Kennett and Stott, 1995). Oligo., Oligocene.

 $\boldsymbol{\infty}$

Critica
I Section
ns of the
Califor
nia Pale
ogene

Table 4.1.	Paleogene benthic foraminiferal stages, zones, and type	e areas.
[Fm., Forn	ation; Mbr., Member]	

Age	Stage	Type area	Zone	Type area
	Refugian (Schenck and Kleinpell, 1936;	Gaviota Em. Cañada de	Uvigerina vicksburgensis	" <i>Leda</i> zone" in the Seaboard Welch Well #1 (sec.10, T16S, R13E)
	Cushman and Simonson, 1944)	Santa Anita	Valvulineria tumeyensis Zone with the Cibicides haydoni and Uvigerina atwilli subzones	upper Sacate Fm. and Gaviota Fm., Arroyo El Bulito
cene	Narizian (Mallory, 1959)	Point of Pooks Sandstone	Amphimorphina jenkinsi	Welcome Shale Mbr., Kreyenhagen Fm., Devils Den, Kern County
Еос		Member, Kreyenhagen Fm., Devils Den	Bulimina corrugata	Tejon Fm., Point of Rocks Sandstone Mbr. and lower Welcome Shale Mbr., Kreyenhagen Fm., Devils Den, Kern County
	Ulatisian	Vacaville Shale, Dunn's Peak	Amphimorphina californica	Lodo Fm., Media Agua Creek
	(Mallory, 1959)	Sandstone, Solano County	Vaginulinopsis mexicana	Lodo Fm., Media Agua Creek
	Penutian	Lada Em Madia Aqua Croak	Alabamina wilcoxensis	Lodo Fm., Media Agua Creek
	(Mallory, 1959)	Lodo Fill., Media Agua Creek	Plectofrondicularia kerni	Lodo Fm., Media Agua Creek
Paleocene/	Bulitian		Valvulineria wilcoxensis	Lodo Fm., Media Agua Creek
Eocene	(Mallory, 1959)	Anita Fm., Arroyo El Bulito	Bulimina bradburyi	Lodo Fm., Media Agua Creek
(1)	Ynezian	lower Anita Fm., Arroyo El	Bulimina excavata	Lodo Fm., Media Agua Creek
Ŭ	(Mallory, 1959)	Bulito	Silicosigmoilina californica	Lodo Fm., Media Agua Creek
Paleoce	Cheneyian (Goudkoff, 1945; Loeblich, 1958)	beds between claystone of the Martinez Fm. and typical shale of the Moreno Fm., Jergins Oil Company, Cheney Ranch Well No. 1 (sec. 29, T14S, R13E)	A zone	Jergins Oil Company, Cheney Ranch Well No. 1 (sec. 29, T14S, R13E)

Age interpretations based on calcareous nannoplankton are slightly different from that proposed by Gibson (1976), and in general Poore (1976) considered the section younger than Gibson (1976) (fig. 4.7).

Evaluation of the extensive benthic foraminiferal fauna in the Arroyo el Bulito section is difficult. Attempts to update the taxonomy through a literature study were not adequate because numerous species are labeled as "similar" (cf.) or "with affinities to" (aff.). Further, a wide variety of species names are used. From the base of the Anita shale to sample A8937, a dominantly arenaceous fauna with only long-ranging cosmopolitan species such as *Silicosigmoilina californica* is present (fig. 4.7). Between samples A8937 and A8930 (fig. 4.7), several cosmopolitan species appear such as *Aragonia aragonensis*, *Bolivinoides delicatulus*, *Bulimina bradburyi*, *Coryphostoma midwayensis*, *Nuttalinella florealis*, and *Nuttaloides truempyi*. The FAD of these species is either in the Cretaceous or in planktic zone P4, and their LAD is either in planktic zone P5 or in the Eocene. These species continue up to samples A8944 through A8954 of Herlyn (1958) and 38 through 31A (fig. 4.7) of Gibson (1976) where species with LAD's in planktic zone P5 or P6 disappear. In samples A8946 of Herlyn (1958) and higher, new species (*Bulimina alazaensis, Bulimina macilenta*, and *Hanzawaia caribaea*) appear whose FAD is in planktic foraminiferal zone P7 or younger, indicating an early Eocene age. Although Herlyn (1958) and Mallory and others (1998) indicated that the upper part of their Anita shale is assigned to the Ulatisian Stage, middle Eocene, there are no species supporting a middle Eocene age.

There is very little agreement among the microfossil groups about the age of this section. Taxonomic problems with the benthic foraminifers do not explain the age discrepancies between the planktic microfossil groups. Further work is needed on this section.



Figure 4.6. Map showing general location of California Paleogene type sections.

Table 4.2. Species diagnostic of the Cheneyian Stage according to Goudkoff (1945).[Taxonomic nomenclature was updated. o = characteristic occurrence; x = occasional occurrence]

Diagnostic species	Updated taxonomy	Cosmopolitan range	Zo	nes
			A-2	A'-2
Bolivina incrassata Reuss	Coryphostoma incrassata or C. midwayensis	K or K-P5	х	
Bulimina petroleana Cushman and Hedberg	probably <i>B.velascoensis</i>	P1-P5	х	x
Bulimina cf. B. triangularis Cushman and Parker	Pyramidina triangularis	K - ?	0	0
Cibicides cf. C. ungeriana (d'Orbigny)	probably Cibicidoides dayi	K-P5	0	
Epistomina caracolla (Roemer)	probably Neoeponides hillebrandti or N. lunata	P1-P5	х	x
Flabellina pilulifera Cushman and Campbell	Neoflabellina jarvisi	K-P5	х	
Globulina lacrima subsperica Cushman and Goudkoff		long ranging	х	
<i>Gyroidina globosus</i> (Hagenow)	Gyroidinoides globosus	K-P6a	х	x
Robulus sp.	No description or figure	?	0	0
Spiroplectoides clotho (Gryzybowski)	probably Spiroplectammina richardi	P4-P14	0	
Vaginulina (Marginulina) cf. V. plummerae (Cushman)		?	0	
Valvulineria lillisi Cushman and Goudkoff	Anomalinoides rubigunosis	K-P5	0	
Valvulinera orolomaensis Cushman and Goudkoff	probably Cibicidoides hyphalus	K-P5	x	0
Dentalina megapolitana Reuss		?		x

Media Agua Creek Section

The Media Agua Creek section, located along the west side of the San Joaquin Valley (fig. 4.6), is key to the California Paleogene biostratigraphy as many of the type stages and (or) zones occur in this section. In Media Agua Creek, the Lodo Formation conformably overlies the Cretaceous rocks of English (1921) and is in turn unconformably overlain by the Point of Rocks Sandstone Member of the Kreyenhagen Formation. The absence of the Cheneyian Stage was attributed to the coarseness of the sediment (Mallory, 1970). Planktic microfossil studies (Poore, 1976, 1980; Warren, 1983; Almgren and others, 1988) determined that the Media Agua Creek section was not continuous, with unconformities occurring at the base and within the lower Lodo Formation, removing all but a small portion of the Paleocene P4 planktic foraminiferal zone. The early Eocene planktic foraminiferal zones P6b through P10 and calcareous nannoplankton zones CP9 through CP13 were recognized in the upper Lodo Formation and in the Point of Rocks Sandstone Member of the Kreyenhagen Formation. Planktic microfossils are not preserved in the upper part of the section, so no age assignments were possible for samples A7027 through A7007 (Poore, 1976) (fig. 4.8). Paleomagnetic analysis of the upper Lodo Formation and the Point of Rocks Sandstone Member of the Kreyenhagen Formation indicates the presence of early and middle Eocene Chrons C22r through C20r (Prothero, 2001a). Thus, planktic microfossil and paleomagnetic interpretations are in general agreement.

A reexamination of the Media Agua Creek benthic foraminiferal faunas and an updated taxonomy suggests that this section includes a short Paleocene interval that is overlain by the lowermost Eocene strata. If the late middle Eocene is present, it cannot be recognized in Mallory's (1959, 1970) samples. Updating the taxonomy involved only a literature examination and the assumption that the name originally given to the specimen was correct. Additional work is needed to verify the original designation and the consistency of the identification.

The lower Lodo Formation in the Media Agua Creek section (lower Ynezian of Mallory, 1959, 1970) contains primarily arenaceous species and a few cosmopolitan species. These species either originate in the Cretaceous and range into the Eocene or first appear in the late Paleocene (planktic zone P4) (fig. 4.8). Sample A7079 (fig. 4.8), which overlies the dominantly arenaceous late Paleocene, is a mixture of Paleocene and Eocene microfossils. Cosmopolitan species in this assemblage suggest an early Eocene age, coeval with planktic foraminiferal zone P6b or younger. Cosmopolitan species appearing in samples A7078 through A7037 (fig. 4.8) are early Eocene in age and include benthic foraminiferal species that first appear in planktic foraminiferal zone P6b or P7 and last appear in P8 or P9.

With the exception of the local species, no new age diagnostic species appear above sample A7037 (fig. 4.8). The microfauna is uniform and unchanging, containing species that

first appear in the early Eocene and last appear in the middle or late Eocene. Ranges of local species (Uvigerina garzaensis, Eggerella elongata, Lenticulina ulatisianensis, and L. welchi) suggest that the upper portion of the section is middle Eocene, coeval with planktic zones P9 through P12. No late middle or late Eocene assemblages are recognized in the sampled interval (fig. 4.8).

Based primarily on cosmopolitan species, the Media Agua Creek section is interpreted as containing an unconformity-bounded Paleocene and lower through middle Eocene strata. The Paleocene interval is coeval with planktic zone P4 and calcareous nannoplankton zone CP7 and was previously considered part of Mallory's Ynezian Stage. The Paleocene interval is unconformably overlain by an early Eocene interval coeval with planktic microfossil zones P6b through P9 and CP9 through CP12. This early Eocene interval was previously considered part of Mallory's Ynezian, Bulitian, Penutian, and Ulatisian Stages but is now assigned to the Penutian Stage. The early Eocene is overlain by middle Eocene strata coeval with planktic zones P9 through P10 and CP12 through CP13. The upper part of the section is probably middle Eocene based on the presence of Chron C20 (Prothero, 2001a). The middle Eocene strata are assigned to the Ulatisian Stage. This reevaluation, like the planktic microfossil analysis, diverges from the long established belief that the Media Agua Creek section represents continuous deposition from the early Paleocene through the late Eocene. This revised benthic foraminiferal age interpretation agrees closely with the planktic microfossil and the paleomagnetic age interpretations, which also find the section to be discontinuous and not as young as originally assumed.

Vaca Valley Section

The type section of the Ulatisian Stage is the "Vacaville Shale in the vicinity of Dunn's Peak along Ulatis Creek in the Vaca Valley Quadrangle" (Mallory, 1959) (fig. 4.9). This section was originally described and mapped by Boyd (1949, 1998). The type section of the Ulatisian Stage includes the Vacaville Shale below the dark gray silty mudstone member of Boyd (1949) to the base of Boyd's foraminiferal section (Mallory, 1959, p. 40). Almgren and others (1988) noted problems with the placement of the Ulatisian boundaries and the relationship of the stage to adjacent stages. Specifically, Almgren and others (1988) noted that the upper Ulatisian Stage at Ulatis Creek (Vaca Valley section) is younger than the upper Ulatisian zones in the Media Agua Creek section (type section for the zones) and that the base of the stage in the type section is older than the base of the lower Ulatisian zone at its type locality.

Mallory (1959) based his Ulatisian Stage on Boyd's work (1949, 1998) in Vaca Valley. This section was reexamined by Vaughan (1976), who concluded that only the upper zone of the Ulatisian Stage was present in Vaca Valley and that the

upper part of the section also contained species diagnostic of the lower Narizian Stage. Thus, Vaughan (1976) considered this section to be undifferentiated Ulatisian/Narizian Stages. Because of this confusion, Vaughan (1976) used the Laiming foraminiferal zones to interpret the age of the foraminiferal assemblages (fig. 4.9). Vaughan (1976) also examined the planktic microfossils from the type Ulatisian section and concluded that the section included planktic foraminifers diagnostic of zones P9 through P12 and calcareous nannoplankton diagnostic of zones CP11 through CP13. Paleomagnetic analysis of the Vaca Valley section recognized magnetic Chrons 22r through C20r (Prothero, 2001a; Prothero and Brabb, 2001) (fig. 4.9). There are no microfossil assemblages from the interval interpreted as Chron 20r. The age interpretations proposed by the planktic microfossils and paleomagnetics are similar.

The few cosmopolitan benthic foraminiferal species present in the Vaca Valley section between the base of the section (sample A4781A) and the glauconitic sandstone (samples 34aVS through 8Vs) indicate that this interval is middle Eocene through Oligocene in age (P9 to P22; fig. 4.9). These species continue above the glauconitic sand and are joined by Bulimina semicostata, Buliminella robersti, Nuttaloides truempyi, and Pullenia eocenica, which limit the age of this upper interval to the middle Eocene, coeval with planktic zones P10 through P15. Local species with known ranges suggest that the section below the glauconitic sandstone is middle Eocene, coeval with planktic zones P9 through P10 based on the presence of several species of Vaginulinopsis and Trifarina wilcoxensis, whereas the upper interval, which contains rare to few specimens of Uvigerina garzaensis, Valvulineria jacksonensis welcomensis, and Boldia hodgei, is middle Eocene, coeval with planktic zones P12 through P15. This revised interpretation of the benthic foraminifers in the Vaca Valley section suggests the section is middle Eocene in age and should be assigned to the Ulatisian Stage. The middle Eocene age interpretation is supported by the planktic microfossil and paleomagnetic interpretations (fig. 4.9). Because the upper and lower boundaries of the Ulatisian Stage are not present in the Vaca Valley section, a new type section is needed.

Devils Den Section

Mallory (1959) designated the Point of Rocks Sandstone and lower Welcome Shale Members of the Kreyenhagen Formation in the Devils Den area as the type section of the Narizian Stage and zones (*Bulimina corrugata* and *Amphimorphina jenkinsi* zones). The type section is the stratigraphic interval from "typical Point of Rocks Sandstone with the possible exception of the basal 75 feet, plus the Welcome Member of the Kreyenhagen Formation to a point just below the superjacent Wagonwheel Formation" (Mallory, 1959, p. 55). Almgren and others (1988) noted that the section is not continuous and that there is an unconformity between the Kreyenhagen Formation and the overlying Wagonwheel Formation that removes the late Narizian and possibly some of the early Narizian strata from this section.

Benthic foraminiferal assemblages from the Devils Den section were discussed by Mallory (1959), Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), and Smith (1956) (fig. 4.10). They place the base of the Narizian Stage at 215 meters above the Point of Rocks Sandstone Member and the top of this stage below sample 83 in the Welcome Shale Member of the Kreyenhagen Formation (Kleinpell and Mallory, 1998). Subsequent work by Almgren and others (1988) placed the entire section in the late Eocene A zones of Laiming (1940) but considered the section to be no younger than middle Eocene, coeval with calcareous nannoplankton zones CP12 through CP14. This interpretation was based on samples A7133 through A7138 from the basal Point of Rocks Sandstone Member of the Kreyenhagen Formation in the Devils Den section (Mallory, 1959; Kleinpell and Mallory, 1998) (fig. 4.10) and sample 74CB1291A, also from the basal Point of Rocks Sandstone but in the nearby aqueduct section (Berggren and Aubert, 1983; Warren, 1983). These samples contain calcareous nannoplankton diagnostic of zone CP13 and planktic foraminifers diagnostic of zone P10. Barren or only sparsely fossiliferous samples in the upper Welcome Shale Member suggest an undifferentiated middle to late Eocene age (Almgren and others, 1988). The basal Point of Rocks Sandstone Member contains no distinctive Narizian benthic foraminifers and was therefore interpreted as Ulatisian in age (Mallory, 1959; Berggren and Aubert, 1983; Kleinpell and Mallory, 1998).

Paleomagnetic analysis of the Devils Den section by Prothero (2001a) indicates that Chrons C20n or C21n and C19n or C20n are present in the Point of Rocks Sandstone and Welcome Shale Members of the Kreyenhagen Formation, respectively. This interpretation places both formations in the middle Eocene. Late Eocene Chrons C15r and C15n are recognized in the overlying Wagonwheel Formation (fig. 4.10).

Age diagnostic cosmopolitan benthic foraminifers occurring in the type section include long-ranging species that are not restricted to the middle or late Eocene (fig. 4.10). Only a few local species have ranges that provide any age limits. Lenticulina welchi, Vaginulinopsis asperuliformis, and Valvulineria jacksonensis welcomensis occur in the lower part of the type section and suggest a middle to late Eocene age coeval with planktic zones P12 through P14. The middle and upper part of the section contains Boldia hodgei, Bulimina microcostata, Bulimina sculptilis, Caucasina schencki, Plectofrondicularia packardi (rare), and Valvulineria tumevensis, which have FAD between planktic foraminiferal zones P13 and P15, indicating this part of the section is late Eocene in age. The overlying Wagonwheel Formation contains only local species whose ranges indicate an age of late Eocene, coeval with planktic foraminiferal zones P16 through P17. The revised age interpretation of the section based on the foraminifers is similar to the paleomagnetic interpretation.



Figure 4.7. Biostratigraphy and ranges of diagnostic species in the Arroyo el Bulito section, type section for the Ynezian and Bulitian Stages. Benthic foraminifers from the lower Arroyo el Bulito section were originally described by Herlyn (1958) and subsequently published by Mallory and others (1998). Species names were modified to conform to current taxonomy. Additional benthic foraminiferal and planktic microfossil studies are from Gibson (1976) and Poore (1976). Fm., Formation.

14

Upper Arroyo el Bulito Section and Seaboard Welch Well #1

The Refugian Stage was defined by Schenck and Kleinpell (1936) as the strata deposited after the Tejon Formation in the San Joaquin Valley and before strata assigned to the Zemorrian Stage. They designated Cañada Santa de Anita as the type section and listed both benthic foraminifers and mollusks in the description of the stage. Cushman and Simonson (1944) and Kleinpell and Weaver (1963) subsequently defined the two zones included in this stage. Tipton (1980) redefined the Refugian Stage and zones by designating the uppermost Sacate Formation and all but the uppermost 61 feet of the Gaviota Formation in Arroyo el Bulito as the type section for the early Refugian (fig. 4.11) and the "Leda zone" of Cushman and Simonson (1944) in the Seaboard Welch Well #1 (sec. 10, T16S, R13E; American Petroleum Institute number 04019061290000) as the type section for the late Refugian (fig. 4.12). The upper part of the Alegria Formation contains Zemorrian benthic foraminifers and is now excluded from the Refugian Stage (Almgren and Filewicz, 1984; Prothero and Thompson, 2001). Planktic microfossils in the early Refugian of the Arroyo el Bulito section are assigned to planktic zones P15/P16 undifferentiated and NP19 through NP20 (Warren and Newell, 1980; Prothero and Thompson, 2001). Late Eocene Chrons C15r through C13r are recognized in the Refugian strata in Arroyo el Bulito (Prothero and Thompson, 2001).

Only a few cosmopolitan species are present in the upper Arroyo el Bulito section and Seaboard Welch Well #1. Except for *Alabamina wilcoxensis*, the ranges of these species do not limit the age of this section. *Alabamina wilcoxensis* last appears in the late Eocene planktic foraminiferal zone P16 (figs. 4.11 and 4.12). Local species (*Uvigerina atwilli*, *U. cocoaensis*, and *U. gallowayi*) with shorter ranges limit the section to the late Eocene, coeval with planktic zones P16 through P17.

Simi Valley Section

The Simi Valley section in southern California was identified by Mallory (1959) as a section that could provide additional data about the Paleocene that the Arroyo el Bulito or Media Agua Creek sections could not. The Simi Valley section was originally examined by University of California graduate students (Browning, 1952; Grier, 1953) and the results published by Mallory (Browning and others, 1998). The section was interpreted as containing faunas diagnostic of the Ynezian, Bulitian, and Penutian Stages and zones (fig. 4.13). A more comprehensive examination of this section occurred in 1983, when in addition to benthic foraminifers (Heitman, 1983; Schymiczek, 1983), planktic foraminifers and calcareous nannoplankton were examined (Filewicz and Hill, 1983). Planktic foraminiferal zones P4 through undifferentiated zones P5 and P6a and calcareous nannoplankton zones CP5 through CP9 (Santa Susana Formation) and CP11 through CP13 (Llajas Formation) were

recognized along with several barren or nondiagnostic intervals (fig. 4.13). The calcareous nannoplankton suggested an unconformity between the Santa Susana and Llajas Formations. The dramatic change in water depth indicated by the benthic foraminifers also suggests the presence of an unconformity between the Santa Susana and Llajas Formations (Schymiczek, 1983). Paleomagnetic studies later confirmed the ages and the unconformity indicated by the planktic microfossils (Bottjer and others, 1991).

Several cosmopolitan species are recognized in the Simi Valley section, but the validity of the taxonomy is questioned because the specimens were never directly examined (fig. 4.13). Cosmopolitan species in the lower Santa Susana Formation include Angulogavelinella avnimelechi, Anomalinoides acutus, Anomalinoides rubiginosus (A. capitatus?), Bulimina bradburyi?, Cibicidoides alleni (C. eocaenicus?), Cibicidoides dayi, Coryphostoma midwayensis, Gyroidina globosus, and Palmula primitiva, which restrict the age of the lower Santa Susana Formation to the late Paleocene, coeval with planktic foraminiferal zone P4. This interval also contains species that typically do not appear until the Eocene. Taxonomic problems are probably the source of this discrepancy. Many of the Paleocene cosmopolitan species last appear between samples A7641 and MVF12 (fig. 4.13). The interval from MVF12 through SS586 contains benthic foraminifers that originate in the Paleocene and continue into the Eocene; none of the species present restrict the age of this assemblage to the Paleocene or Eocene. Planktic microfossils and paleomagnetic data also suggest that this interval spans the Paleocene/Eocene boundary. Local species such as the various species of Vaginulinopsis suggest an early Eocene rather than a late Paleocene age.

In the upper Santa Susana Formation (samples A7643 through A7656), all Paleocene cosmopolitan species are gone and only species that range from the Paleocene into the early Eocene are present. Again, species of *Vaginulinopsis* suggest this interval is Eocene.

No cosmopolitan species are present in the Llajas Formation. Diagnostic local species include *Cibicidoides coalingensis*, *Lenticulina welchi*, and several species of *Vaginulinopsis*, which suggest assignment to the middle Eocene, coeval with planktic foraminiferal zones P9 through P11. This interpretation is compatible with the calcareous nannoplankton and the paleomagnetic studies (Filewicz and Hill, 1983; Bottjer and others, 1991).

Pacheco Valley Section

Mallory (1959) thought the Pacheco Syncline sections added significantly to the knowledge about the Paleogene foraminiferal faunas because of the comprehensive benthic foraminiferal study by Smith (1957). In the Pacheco Syncline, Mallory (1959) and Smith (1957) recognized all the lower Tertiary Stages overlying the Cretaceous (fig. 4.14). Unconformities have subsequently been recognized between the Cretaceous/ Tertiary strata, the Vine Hill Sandstone/Las Juntas Shale, and the



Figure 4.8. Biostratigraphy and ranges of selected diagnostic species in Media Agua Creek, type section for the Penutian Stage and the Ulatisian, Penutian, Bulitian, and Ynezian Zones. Benthic foraminifers from Media Agua Creek were originally described by Mallory (1959, 1970). Species names were modified to conform to current taxonomy. Planktic microfossil studies are from Poore (1976) and Almgren and others (1988).

		Vacaville S	Shale	glauconitic sandstone	Vacaville Shale	Markley Fm Dunns Peak Ss.	Formation	(typ
A47811 43VS A47811 44VS A4781G 44VS A4781G 44VS A4781G 44VS A4781G 44VS A4781G 44781G A4781C 44781C A4781D 44781C A4781D 44781C A4781C 44781C A4781A 44781A	MA7810 MA7810 MA7810 28VS MA7810 MA7810 MA7810 MA7810 MA7811 MA7811	A4782D A4782C 40VS A4782B A4781T A4781T 26VS A4781S 27VS	A47822 A47820 A47820 A47820 A47820 A47820 A47820 A47820 A47820 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47821 A47822 A47821 A47822 A47822 A47821 A47822 A47822 A47822 A47822 A47822 A47822 A47822 A47822	3340VS 348VS 22VS	A478310 30VS A47836 30VS A4783F 11UC A4783B 9UC A4783B 9UC A4783B 9UC 6UC 5UC 5UC 2000	A47844	Samples	ve section
Type Vagi	inulinopsis mexic	Ulat cana Zone	tisian Type Amphimorphina californica Zone		Bulimina - Cibicides zonule		Boyd (1949; 1998) and Mallory (1959)	aca Val for the L
	CP11		CP12	Ulatisia boundary i	n/Narizian CP13		Poore (1983)	Je Je
	CP11	E	P9 CP12	B-1A to A-3 Barren Barren	A-2 P12 P12 P12 P12 P12 P12 P13		Vaughan (1976)	v Itisian Sta
022	C22n		C21r		C21n		Prothero and Brabb (2001)	lige
			Ulatisian		Q2 m Q		McDougall, this study	9)
							<i>Uvigerina alabamensis</i> (P6b-F	? 12)
							Vaginulinopsis nudicostata (P	8-P10)
							Vaginulinopsis vacavillensis (F	P8-P10)
							Uvigerina churchi (P4- P16)	
							Cibicidoides coalingensis (P9-	P10)
							Eponides mexicanus (P7-P22)
							Lenticulina ulatisian (P0-P20)
							Spiroplectammina richardi (P4	-P14)
							Globocassidulina globosa (P4	and vounger)
							Uvigerina lodoensis miramae	(P6b-P9, ?P10)
							Uvigerina elongata (P9-P22)	
							Bolivina explicata lodoensis (F	P7-P10)
			-				Cibicidoides eocaenus (P6b-P	22)
	+						Alabamina wilcoxensis (P6a-F	?17)
	B						Karreriella elongata (P8-P22)	D. ()
							Cibicidoides martinensis (P6b	-214)
							Lenticulina welchi (?P9-P10, F	(DCh D14)
							vaginulinopsis asperuliformis	(200-214)
							Vaginulinonsis saundersi (20/	1/6 P7-P0 2P10/16)
		-					Buliminella robertsi (P6a-P15)	no, 17-10, (° 10/10)
							Nuttaloides truempyi (K-P17)	
							Uvigerina garzaensis (P10-P1	7)
							Valvulineria jacksonensis weld	comensis (P12-P16)
							Bulimina semicostata (P6b-P1	8)
							Pullenia eocenica (?P6a-P8, F	P9-P17)
							Boldia hodgei (P15-P17)	

Figure 4.9. Biostratigraphy and ranges of diagnostic species in the Vaca Valley section, type Ulatisian Stage. Ranges of diagnostic benthic foraminifers from the original study by Boyd (1949, 1998) and the later study by Vaughan (1976) are shown. Planktic microfossil interpretations are by Poore (1976) and Vaughan (1976). Paleomagnetics are from Prothero and Brabb (2001). Ss., Sandstone; Fm., Formation.

Las Juntas Shale/Muir Sandstone (Poore, 1976; Graymer and others, 1994). Calcareous nannoplankton diagnostic of zones CP7, CP10, CP12, and CP13 were recognized in this section by Poore (1976) (fig. 4.15).

A revision of the benthic foraminiferal taxonomy and the addition of several new samples in the Pacheco Syncline sections highlight the presence of many cosmopolitan benthic foraminiferal species (figs. 4.14 and 4.15). The Vine Hill Sandstone is assigned to the Paleocene, coeval with planktic foraminiferal zone P4, based on the appearance of the cosmopolitan species Anomalinoides rubiginosus, Cibicidoides alleni, C. davi, Coryphostoma midwayensis, Frondicularia frankei, and Palmula primitiva and species that first appear in the Paleocene or Cretaceous, such as Loxostomoides applinae and Silicosigmoilina californica (fig. 4.14). The faunal assemblage in sample EB599 near the base of the Las Juntas Shale contains the first appearance of several early Eocene cosmopolitan benthic foraminifers (Bulimina alazaensis, B. callahani, B. tuxapamensis, Buliminella robertsi, Cibicidoides praemundulus, Plectofrondicularia paucicostata, and Pullenia eocenica) (fig. 4.14). Early Eocene local species that first appear in this sample include Amphimorphina ignota, Gonatosphaera eocenica, Trifarina wilcoxensis, and Vaginulinopsis asperuliformis. Many of these Eocene species continue to appear in the Las Juntas Shale, Muir Sandstone, and younger sediments; however, cosmopolitan and local species that last appear in the early Eocene (*Clavulina anglica*, Glomospira gordialis, and Lituotuba lituiformis) are not seen above sample Mf7770 (fig. 4.14). The benthic foraminiferal fauna in the Alhambra Formation is less diverse and abundant than in the underlying sediments but a number of age diagnostic species first appear in samples A6663 and Mf7773 (fig. 4.14). Cosmopolitan species Uvigerina elongata and Karreriella elongata and local species Amphimorphina californica, Eggerella elongata, Lenticulina ulatisian, and Lenticulina welchi suggest that this formation is middle Eocene, coeval with planktic foraminiferal zones P9 through P12.

Discussion of the Paleogene Zonation

Comparison of the California Paleogene type Stages and zones with the international time scale demonstrates the time transgressive nature of the stages (fig. 4.16). The overlap of the stages is similar to the overlap observed by previous workers (Poore, 1976, 1980; Almgren and others, 1988). Revised interpretations of the stages, type sections, and the use of cosmopolitan and selected benthic foraminiferal species indicate that the stages identify discreet intervals of time (fig. 4.17). The age of each stage and type section, as well as revisions and areas for further study, are discussed below.

Cheneyian Stage

The Cheneyian Stage was never adequately defined. Faunal lists were not published and a type section was never clearly identified. Cheneyian age strata are frequently included with the underlying Cretaceous strata. On the basis of planktic foraminifers, this stage represents strata coeval with planktic foraminiferal zone P1 and probably strata coeval with zones P2 and P3. Globally, the Danian Stage ranges from P1 through P3 and is believed to end at the P3a/P3b boundary, where there is a drop in sea level. At several locations the boundary between the Danian and Selandian Stages marks the change from high dissolved oxygen content and low productivity to low dissolved oxygen content and high productivity in the oceans (Speijer and others, 1997; Speijer and Schmitz, 1998).

Diagnostic species identified by Goudkoff (1945) range throughout the Paleocene, except *Coryphostoma incrassata*, *Bulimina velascoensis*, and *Neoeponides hillebrandti*. These species either last appear or first appear at the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary (figs. 4.3 and 4.4).

Ynezian Stage

Strata assigned to the Ynezian Stage in this study range in age from P1/P3 undifferentiated through P5 (fig. 4.7). Because of confusion regarding the Chenevian Stage, Mallory did not recognize Cheneyian Stage or Danian Stage strata overlying the Cretaceous in the Arroyo el Bulito section (type Ynezian Stage). Planktic foraminifers indicated that the interval assigned to zones P1/P3 (undifferentiated) and the overlying sparsely fossiliferous to barren interval (samples A8925 to A8929 and 82 to 70) should be excluded from the Ynezian Stage. The lower boundary of the Ynezian Stage in Arroyo el Bulito is therefore younger than P3 but older than CP7 (late P4). In the Media Agua Creek and Pacheco Syncline sections, the lower boundary is marked by an unconformity that occurs in zone CP7, whereas in the Simi Valley section the lower boundary occurs in zone CP5 or slightly older. The upper boundary in all the sections occurs in zones P4 and CP7, and is an unconformity. Until a new type section or boundary stratotypes are designated for the Ynezian Stage, the exact placement of the stage boundaries is in question. The Ynezian Stage is late Paleocene and appears to be coeval with planktic foraminiferal zone P4 and calcareous nannoplankton zones CP5 through CP7 (fig. 4.2).

Despite the unconformities, a distinctive benthic foraminiferal fauna is associated with the Ynezian Stage. The lower boundary can be recognized by the first appearances of *Anomalinoides acutus*, *Bulimina bradburyi*, *Bulimina excavata*, *Glomospira gordialis*, *Globocassidulina globosa*, and *Spiroplectammina richardi*. *Frondicularia frankei* and *Uvigerina laimingi* are restricted to the Ynezian Stage. The upper boundary of the stage is identified by the first appearances of *Aragonia aragonensis* and *Cibicidoides coalingensis* (figs. 4.3 and 4.4).

Bulitian Stage

Strata assigned to the Bulitian Stage in this study range in age from P4 through P8 (CP4 through CP10). There is no

	Ls (1988)	evil (typ ne N	lory (1959) ory (1998)	en ecti zian	Section on for Stage)	zensis (P6b-P14)	alifornica (K-P9, ?P10-13)	ipyi (K-P17)	a airecta (K-P14) sis (P6b-P20)	ensis (P6a-P17)	globosa (P4-P22)	n <i>sis</i> (P10-P17)	'si (P6a-P15)	ied (ir/-P8, P3-F13, ir 14-F13) potensis (P6h-P22)	vavensis (P6b-P22)	a richardi (P4-P14)	ı <i>pitatus</i> (P6a-P18, ?P19-P20)	<i>:tata</i> (P6b-P18)	(P4- P16) ononcio undromoncio (P12- P16)	0/16/15/5 WE/CUITE/15/5 (F12 -F10) 1 (?P6a-P8, P9-P17)	vi (P4-P20)	(P1-N12)	a paucicostata (?P8-P11, P12-P20)	<i>phila</i> (P6a -N11)	alis (P4-P7) peruliformis (P6b-P14)	gnota (P6b-P18)	i (?P9-P10, P11-P15) to (P3_P15)	ensis (P5-P14)	<i>ita</i> (P8-P22)	<i>cki</i> (P15-P17)	stata (P13-P15) مصطحط 2013 P14 P15 P23)	a packarur (:r 13-r 14, r 13-r 22) 1 (P6b-P10. ?to P15)	yensis (P13-P16)	\$ (P15-P16)	5-P17)	ingensis (P9-P17) neis (D18_D17)	015-P17)	<i>i</i> (P15-P16)	nus (P7-P22)	iyi (P16-N15, ?N16)	
Formations	Almgren and othe	Prothero (2001a)	Kleinpell and Mall	McDougall, this	Samples	Cibicides martine.	Silicosigmoilina c	Nuttaloides truem	Spiropiectammina Bulimina alazaen	Alabamina wilcox	Globocassidulina	Uvigerina garzaeı	Buliminella robert	Karreriella chana	Osangularia midv	Spiroplectammina	Anomalinoides ca	Bulimina semicos	Uvigerina churchi	Valvulliteria jacks Pullenia eocenica	Bulimina bradbur	Buliminella grata	Plectofrondiculari	Hanzawaia ammo	Giomospira gordi Vaqinulinopsis as	Amphimorphina i	Lenticulina welch	Aragonia aragone	Karreriella elonga	Caucasina schen	Bulimina microco	Anomalina regina	Valvulineria tume	Bulimina sculptilis	Boldia hodgei (P1	Cibicidoides coali	Uvigerina cucuae	Cibicides haydon	Eponides mexica	Uvigerina gallowa	Anomanna camo
	n.		Ze		A5468 A5466E A5466D	╞						Ļ			+																										
Wagonwheel F		C15n	Refugian	Refugian	A5465H A5465F A5465F A5465D A5466C A5466C A5466B A5466A A5466A A5466A A5466A A5466A A5466A							 															?			?					?						
Welcome Shale Mbr. of Kreyenhagen Fm.	A-2/A-1	-	Varizian ne A. jenkinsi Zone	Narizian	A8 A3 A8 A9 83 82 A13 A15 A16 A17 81 A20 A22 A24 A25 A26 A27 74 A28 A29 A30 A31																•																				
of Rocks Ss. Mbr. of		20n/ 20n/ 21n	II B. corrugata Zo	5	A32 A33 B3 64 C1-F C3 C4 C5 C47A 45 C40D C47D												?	₽			╽╸			■↓	-		• • • • •														

Discussion of the Paleogene Zonation

Figure 4.10. Biostratigraphy and ranges of diagnostic species in the Devils Den section, type Narizian Stage. Ranges of diagnostic benthic foraminifers are shown from the original study by Smith (1956) and Kleinpell and Mallory (1998). Interpretation of the benthic foraminiferal age by Almgren and others (1988) and planktic microfossils interpretations by Poore (1976) are also shown. Paleomagnetics are from Prothero (2001a). Fm., Formation; Ss., Sandstone; Mbr., member; Zem., Zemorrian.

Sacate	e Forma	ation			Gaviota Formation	Form	nations	ea		
C16n		C15r	!		C15n	C13r	C13r			Arro /pe rly I
NP17	NP18		NP19		NP19/20	NP20	NP21	Proth	nero and	oyo sec Pefu
					P16		P17 /C12r	Inon	npson (2001)	ugie
NP16	NP18			NP	19/20 (CP15b)			Warr	en and Newell (1980)	n fo
Narizia	an				Refugian	1		Tinto	n(1980)	Sta
A. jenkins	<i>i</i> Zone		Va	lvulineria tu	<i>umeyensis</i> Zone	U. vicksburgen:	sis Zone		л (1900)	he lige
Narizia	an				Refugian			McD	ougall, this study	, ³
608 607 606 605 604 603	613 612 611 610	619 618 617 616 615 614	625 624 623 622 621	<u>632</u> 631 630 629 628 627 626	652 652 655 664 664 664 664 664 664 664 664 664	663 662 6661 6660 659 659 658 656 656 655 655	668 667 665 665	Sam	ples	
						• •		Bulim	nina sculptilis (P15-P16)
								Plect	tofrondicularia packard	i (?P13-P14, P15-P22)
								Uvige	erina garzaensis (P10-P	17)
								Hanz	awaia ammophila(P6a	a-N12)
								Valvı	ılineria jacksonensis w	elcomensis (P12-P16)
								Bulim	nina alazaensis (P6b-P	20)
								Globo	ocassidulina globosa (F	4 and younger)
								Lenti	<i>culina welchi</i> (P12-P15	?)
								Boldi	a <i>hodgei</i> (P15-P17)	
								Cibic	<i>ides haydoni</i> (P15-P16)	
								Alaba	amina wilcoxensis (P6a-	P16)
			- 🖷		· ·			Uvige	erina cocoaensis (P16-	P17)
							Vagir	nulinopsis saundersi (?	P4/6, P7-P9, ?P10-P16)	
							Valvu	<i>ilineria tumeyensis</i> (P1	3-P16)	
								Uvige	erina atwilli (P15-P17)	
								Uvige	erina gallowayi (P16-N1	5, ?N16)
								Epon	ides mexicanus (P7-P22	2)
							Cauc	asina schencki (P15-P1	7)	

Figure 4.11. Biostratigraphy and ranges of diagnostic species in the Arroyo el Bulito section, type early Refugian Stage. Ranges of diagnostic benthic foraminifers from Tipton (1980) are shown. Age interpretations based on planktic microfossils and paleomagnetics are from Warren and Newell (1980) and Prothero and Thompson (2001), respectively. Fm., Formation.

consistent diagnostic Bulitian benthic foraminiferal fauna observed in the various sections. Reexamination of the benthic foraminifers suggests that the strata assigned to the Bulitian in Arroyo el Bulito (type section; fig. 4.7) and Simi Valley (in part; fig. 4.13) sections should be assigned to the Ynezian Stage. These strata contain planktic microfossils diagnostic of zones P4 and CP5 through CP8. In the Simi Valley section, Paleocene species disappear and Eocene species appear between samples A7641 through SS586 (fig. 4.13). Planktic microfossils and paleomagnetics indicate this interval straddles the Paleocene/Eocene boundary. Assignment of this interval to the Bulitian Stage is tentative. No cosmopolitan benthic foraminifers diagnostic of the late Paleocene are recognized, but this may be due to taxonomic problems. In the Media Agua Creek (fig. 4.8) and Pacheco Syncline sections (fig. 4.14), strata interpreted as Bulitian should be assigned to the early Eocene, Penutian Stage. Planktic microfossils in these strata are assigned to zones P7 and CP10. Although Mallory (1959) indicated that Bulitian Stage occurred in the Devils Den and Lodo Gulch sections, the Bulitian Stage is not recognized in any recent studies (Berggren and Aubert, 1983; McDougall, 1989, 1993).

The Bulitian Stage is late Paleocene in age and probably coeval with planktic foraminiferal zones P5 through P6a and the coeval calcareous nannoplankton zone CP8 (fig. 4.2). The P5 to P6a interval is Paleocene, overlies the Ynezian Stage, underlies the Eocene, and occupies the position originally envisioned for the Bulitian Stage. This particular interval is missing from all the sections examined in this study and may be missing throughout the region. If present, the base of the Bulitian Stage could be identified by the first appearance *Aragonia aragonensis*. The upper boundary could be identified by the first appearance of numerous Eocene species and the last appearance of Paleocene cosmopolitan benthic foraminiferal species near the Bulitian/ Penutian Stage boundary (figs. 4.3 and 4.4).

The Bulitian Stage is coeval with a series of rapid sea level fluctuations (Haq and others, 1987a,b, 1988; Johnson and others, 2005), major restructuring of the water masses and currents in the marine environment, and a change in deep water circulation (Thomas, 1990; Kennett and Stott, 1995). The Paleocene-Eocene Thermal Maximum (PETM), which occurs at the Paleocene/Eocene and Bulitian/Penutian Stage boundary, is marked by extinction of 30 to 50 percent of the benthic foraminiferal fauna (Thomas, 2006) (fig. 4.5).

Penutian Stage

The type Penutian Stage and zones as described by Mallory (1959) in the Media Agua Creek section contains planktic microfossils assigned to zones P7 (part), as well as CP10 through CP11. Chron C22r occurs in the upper part of the type Penutian Stage. During the reexamination of the Media Agua Creek section the Paleocene/Eocene is recognized between samples A7080 and A7079 (fig 4.8). Sample A7079 contains a mixture of species that last appear in the Paleocene or first appear in the Eocene. Early Eocene benthic foraminiferal species are present in samples A7079 through A7037. This interval includes strata originally assigned to Mallory's Bulitian, Penutian, and Ulatisian Stages, and is coeval with planktic microfossil zones P6b through P9 and CP9 through CP12 (Poore, 1976; Almgren and others, 1988), and Chrons C22r through C22n (Prothero, 2001a) (fig. 4.8).

In the other sections examined, strata assigned to the Penutian Stage range from late Paleocene through middle Eocene-CP8, CP11, and P4 in Arroyo el Bulito, CP8 and CP9 in Simi Valley, and CP10 and CP12 in the Pacheco Syncline. Placement of the Paleocene/Eocene boundary in these sections occurs within strata defined as Ulatisian (Mallory, 1959; Mallory and others, 1998; between samples 30 and 29 in the Arroyo el Bulito section), within strata defined as Bulitian (Mallory, 1959; between samples A7641 and A7642 in the Simi Valley section), and at the base of the Bulitian Stage (Smith, 1957; Mallory, 1959; between samples Mf7966 and EB599 in the Pacheco Syncline) (figs. 4.7, 4.13, and 4.14). Revised age interpretations of these sections indicate that the base of the Penutian Stage coincides with the Paleocene/Eocene boundary and is coeval with planktic microfossil zones P6b and late CP8. Early Eocene faunas continue up section until they become nondiagnostic in the Arroyo el Bulito and Simi Valley sections or are overlain by middle Eocene microfossils (CP12) in the Pacheco Syncline section.

The Penutian Stage in California is recognized by the first and last appearances of numerous cosmopolitan benthic foraminifers (fig. 4.3). Species that last appear at or below the Paleocene/Eocene boundary or the base of the Penutian Stage include species used to identify the Paleocene Stages. First appearances at the base of the Penutian Stage include numerous Bulimina (B. alazaensis, B. callahani, B. macilenta, B. semicostata, and B. tuxapamensis), Cibicides, Cibicidoides Anomalinoides, and Amphimorphina, as well as the local species of Uvigerina, Trifarina, and Vaginulinopsis. The upper boundary of the Penutian Stage is recognized by the last appearance of Loxostomoides applinae, Clavulina anglica, and Glomospira gordialis and the first appearances of Plectofrondicularia paucicostata, Uvigerina elongata, Vaginulinopsis nudicostata, V. vacavillensis, and Uvigerina churchi.

The Penutian Stage, which follows the PETM, is characterized by a higher sea level, recolonization of the marine environments, and proliferation of buliminids. The faunal turnover at the Paleocene/Eocene boundary is global and followed by a recolonization (Berggren and Miller, 1989; Kennett and Stott, 1995). The global drop in sea level and Eocene canyon cutting event (ECCE, fig. 4.5), which occurs in zone P9, marks the end of the Penutian Stage (Haq and others, 1987a,b, 1988; Haq, 1991).

Tumey fm.		Kreyenhagen Formatior	Temblor Fm.	Formations	Se Welc (type : th Refug				
Na	rizian	Refugian	Zemo	Tipton (1980)	abo h #1 secti le lat				
Amp jenk	<i>himorphina</i> <i>insi</i> Zone	Valvulineria tumeyensis Zone	Uvigerina vicksburgensis Zone	orrian	McDougall, this study	ard We on fr Stag			
522 521 520	55555555 22222 34556789	55555555555555555555555555555555555555	565 965 265	Samples	e) or				
					Globocassidulina globosa (P4	and younger)			
					Valvulineria tumeynsis (P13-P16)				
					Valvulineria jacksonensis weld	comensis (P12-P16)			
					Uvigerina garzaensis (P10-P1	7)			
					Plectofrondicularia packardi (?P13-P14, P15				
					Hanzawaia ammophila (P6a-I	V12)			
					Bulimina sculptilis (P15-P16)				
					Boldia hodgei (?P9-P10, P11-	P15)			
					Uvigerina atwilli (P15-P17)				
					Uvigerina cocoaensis (P16-P1	17)			
					Cibicidoides haydoni (P15-P1	6)			
		F		Caucasina schencki (P15-P1	7)				
		— — -		Uvigerina gallowayi (P16-N15, ?N16)					
					Alabamina wilcoxensis (P6a-F	P16)			
			Cassidlina galvinensis (P16-P20)						

Figure 4.12. Biostratigraphy and ranges of diagnostic species in the Seaboard Welch Well #1, type section for the late Refugian Stage. Ranges of diagnostic benthic foraminiferal species from Tipton (1980) are shown. Informally named Tumey formation is Tumey formation of Atwill (1935). Fm., Formation.



Figure 4.13. Biostratigraphy and ranges of diagnostic species in the Simi Valley section. Black lines indicate benthic foraminiferal ranges based on the original work by Browning (1952), Grier (1953), and Browning and others (1998). Gray lines indicate the further extension of the species range based on the work of Heitman (1983). Planktic microfossil interpretations are from Filewicz and Hill (1983). Paleomagnetics are by Bottjer and others (1991).

Comp Syn	osi clin	te F ie S	Pac Sect	heco tion		to P15)	F18, {F18-F20)				00	-9/ -9. ?P10-13)	17)	22)	(-P5)	P6b-P9, ?P10) 201				6b, ?P7-P9)	P9. ?P10)	5b-P22)	<i>a</i> (?P8-P11, P12-P20)		19. ? N10-N13)	18)			9-P17)	14)		omansis (D10_D16)		P6, P7-P9, ? P10-P16)	P10)	ariu youriger <i>j</i>			o16)	8-P10)		-P12)	(21 1-			714)	P16)	I-N11)
Formations	Smith (1957); Mallory (1959)	Poore (1976)	McDougall, this study	Samples	Frondicularia frankei (P4)	Anomalina regina (P6b-P10, ?	Anomalinoldes capitatus (Poa- Seironlectammina richardi (D4	Spiroprectarimma nonarul (F4 Bulimina maclienta (P7-P15)	Uvigerina laimingi (P4)	Anomalinoides acutus (P4-P9)	Vacinulia primitiva (K-P6a'?)	Vaginum upsis saunuersi (F 1-1 Silicosigmoilina californica (K-1	Alabamina wilcoxensis (P6a-P	Cibicidoides eocaenus (P6b-P	Coryphostoma midwayensis (h	Uvigerina lodoensis mirmirae (Osandi laria mavicana (D6h-D	Osariguaria mexicaria (F00-F Anomalinoides rubigunosus (K	Cibicidoides alleni (P1-P6b)	Cibicidoides dayi (K-P5)	Loxostomoides applinae (P1-F	Vaginumopsis asperumonus (Gonatosphaera eocenica (P7-	Cibicidoides praemundulus (Pi	Plectofrondicularia paucicosta	Bulimina callahani (P6a-P10)	Buliminella robertsi (Poa-P 15) Bulimina tuxapamensis (P6a-N	Amphimorphina ignota (P6b-P	Bulimina alazaensis (P6b-P20	Bulimina trinitatensis (P1-P16)	Pullenia eocenica (?P6a-P8_F	Spiroplectammina directa (K-F	Clavulina anglica (P1-P9)	Trifarina wilcoxensis (P6b-P8) Valviilinaria iacksonansis walc	Eponides mexicanus (P7-P22)	Vaginulinopsisi saundersi (?P [,]	Cibicidoides coalingensis (P9-	Bulimina bradburvi (P4-P20)	Glomospira gordialis (P4-P7)	Lituotuba lituiformis (K-P8)	Cibicidoides subspiralis (P13-F	Vaginulinopsis mudicostata (P	Lenticulina welchi (P12-P15?)	<u>Ovigenna elonigata (F3-F20)</u> Amphimomhina californica (PC	Eagerella elongata (P12-P16)	Karreriella elongata (P8-P22)	Lenticulina ulatisian (P9- P12?	<u>Cibicides maninezensis (P60-1 1 Ividerina darzaensis (P10-P1-</u>	Valvulineria tumevensis (P13-	Hanzawaia ammophiloba (P6e
Alhambra Fm.	Narizian	CP13		A6691 A6690 A6689 A6688 Mf7773 A6664 A6663	-	T 1 1			Ī																								1								T							
Muir Sandstone	utian Ulatisian S	CP12	Ulatisian	no samples A6687 A6686 A6685 A6684 A6683 A6682 A6681 A6682 A6679 A6679 A6679 A6677 A6676 A6677 A6676 A6677 A6676 A6677 A6676 A6672 A6670 A6679 A6670 A6669 A6669 A6668 A6668																																			$\begin{array}{c} \bullet\\ $									
Las Juntas Shale	Bulitian Pen	CP10	Penutian	A6665 A6666 Mf7770 Mf7765 Mf7969 A6662 A6660 Mf7970 A6659 EB599		1				-				1						T 1							1							T	-													
Vine Hill Ss.	Ynezian	CP7	Ynezian	Mf7966 Mf7769 A6658 EB610 Mf7775 Mf7768 A6661 Mf7767																																												

Figure 4.14. Biostratigraphy and ranges of diagnostic species in the Pacheco Syncline based on studies by Smith (1957) and McDougall (unpublished paleontology reports). Planktic interpretations are based on work by Poore (1976). Fm., Formation; Ss., Sandstone.

24

Ulatisian Stage

Mallory's type Ulatisian Stage in Vaca Valley occurs within planktic zones CP11 through CP12, and P9 (Vaughan, 1976; Poore and Bukry, 1983). In Media Agua Creek (type section for the zones), the Ulatisian Stage ranges in age from planktic foraminiferal zones P8 through P10, and CP12 through CP13 (Poore, 1976; Almgren and others, 1988). As suggested by Almgren and others (1988), the stage and zones are different ages. In the revised interpretation, the entire Vaca Valley section is Ulatisian in age and coeval with planktic foraminiferal zones P9 through P12, calcareous nannoplankton zones CP11 through CP13, and Chrons C22r through C20r (fig. 4.9). Because the adjacent stages are not exposed, the age of the upper and lower boundaries of the Ulatisian Stage is unknown. In the revised interpretation of the Media Agua Creek section, the Ulatisian Stage is recognized between samples A7038 and the top of the sampled section (sample A7007; fig. 4.8). The lower boundary of the Ulatisian Stage occurs within zone P9, although there may be a break in sedimentation that obscures the actual base of the stage (fig. 4.8). This interval is coeval with planktic zones P9 (late) and P10 and CP13. The upper part of this interval does not contain



Figure 4.15. Correlation of the Pacheco Syncline sections.

planktic microfossils nor does it contain benthic foraminifers diagnostic of the Narizian Stage. Chron 20r is recognized at the top of the sampled section (Prothero and Brabb, 2001) (fig. 4.8).

The Ulatisian Stage was recognized by Mallory (1959; Mallory and others, 1998) in the Arroyo el Bulito, Devils Den, and Pacheco Syncline sections. In Arroyo el Bulito, Mallory's Ulatisian occurs with Paleocene microfossils and is reassigned to the Ynezian and Penutian Stages. The upper part of Mallory's Ulatisian does not contain diagnostic foraminiferal assemblages and is therefore considered Penutian or younger. In the Devils Den section, the Ulatisian was recognized at the base of the section (samples A7133-38 through C47D) and is still considered Ulatisian. In the Pacheco Syncline sections, both Mallory (1959) and Smith (1957) recognized a thick Ulatisian interval. In this reevaluation, the Ulatisian is recognized in samples A6667 through the top of the sampled section (fig. 4.14). This interval is coeval with planktic zones CP12 through CP13.

Although the upper and lower boundaries of the Ulatisian Stage are in question, the Ulatisian Stage is middle Eocene and appears to be coeval with zones late P9 through P12 or CP12 through CP13 (fig. 4.2). The lower boundary probably corresponds to a global drop in sea level and significant canyon cutting in zone P9 (fig. 4.5). The age discrepancy recognized by Almgren and others (1988) persists because the adjacent stages are not recognized in the type sections.

The lower boundary of the Ulatisian Stage can be recognized by the first appearances of *Karreriella elongata*, Plectofrondicularia paucicostata, Lenticulina ulatisian, Uvigerina churchi, Uvigerina elongata, and U. garzaensis; the last appearances of Anomalinoides preacuta, Loxostomoides applinae, Lituotuba lituiformis, and Glomospira gordialis near the base of the stage; and in most sections a significant change in water depth. The upper boundary of the Ulatisian Stage is marked by the last appearances of Karreriella conversa, Bulimina callahani, Gonatosphaera eocenica, Bolivina explicata lodoensis, Hanzawaia mauriciensis, Vaginulinopsis vacavillensis, and V. nudicostata, and the first appearances of Cibicidoides subspiralis, Bulimina microcostata, and Valvulineria jacksonensis (figs. 4.3 and 4.4). The Ulatisian/Narizian boundary is poorly defined because it does not occur in either of the Ulatisian type sections. Additional work is needed.

Narizian Stage

Previous studies found that the Narizian Stage in California ranged in age from planktic zones P9 through P16 and CP12 through CP15; however, these interpretations were not based on the type section (Poore, 1976; Bukry and others, 1977; Poore, 1980; Warren, 1983; Almgren and others, 1988). Reevaluation of the type section of the Narizian Stage retains the boundaries as identified by Mallory (1959) and supports the unconformity between the Kreyenhagen and Wagonwheel Formations noted by Almgren and others (1988). The age of the Narizian Stage cannot be determined in the type section because planktic microfossils were not examined in the type Narizian section and diagnostic cosmopolitan benthic foraminifers are not present. Chron C20n or C21n occurs within the Narizian interval and Chron C15r occurs in the lower Refugian strata. Therefore, the upper boundary of the Narizian Stage is older than Chron C15r. Because the upper boundary coincides with an unconformity, an unknown quantity of strata is missing.

The Devils Den aqueduct section near the type Narizian section was examined by Berggren and Aubert (1983) and Warren (1983) and interpreted as containing Narizian benthic foraminifers, no planktic foraminifers, and calcareous nannoplankton assigned to zone CP13. Cosmopolitan benthic foraminifers in the interval assigned to the Narizian Stage indicate an age range coeval with zones P8 through P16. The benthic foraminiferal assemblages should be assigned to the Ulatisian, rather than to the Narizian Stage.

The Narizian Stage was recognized by Mallory (1959) in the Media Agua Creek, Vaca Valley, upper Arroyo el Bulito, and Pacheco Syncline sections. In this study, foraminifers in the Media Agua Creek, Pacheco Syncline, and Vaca Valley sections were previously shown to be no younger than Ulatisian. Narizian benthic foraminifers occur in the upper Arroyo el Bulito section underlying the type Refugian Stage. These assemblages are Narizian and coeval with calcareous nannoplankton zones NP16 through NP18 and Chrons C16n and C15r.

The Narizian Stage appears to be middle to late Eocene in age and coeval with planktic foraminiferal zones P12 through P15, calcareous nannoplankton zones CP14 through CP15a (NP16 through NP18), and older than Chron C15r. Considerable work needs to be done on this stage to determine the age and find a type section or boundary stratotypes for the stage. The transition from Ulatisian Stage to the Narizian Stage needs additional study as this boundary appears to coincide with a change in sea level near the base of zone P12 (fig. 4.5), but the rapidly changing sea level and associated erosion may obscure the early part of this stage. Age diagnostic cosmopolitan species are not helpful in clarifying the boundary as few first or last appearance datums occur between zones P12 and P15. Local species may be more useful but are generally less accurately dated so their age ranges are still in question. The transition from the Narizian Stage to the Refugian Stage is marked by numerous first and last appearance datums due to a global deep-sea hiatus and reorganization of abyssal and bathyal water masses (Keller and others, 1987; Berggren and Miller, 1989).

Refugian Stage

The type Refugian Stage ranges in age from planktic zones P16 through P17 and NP19 through NP21. Chrons C15r

Time (Ma)	Chrons	Polarity	Epo	ch	Calca Nannop Zo Martini (1971)	areous olankton nes Bukry (1973,19	y 975)	Foram Stages a Planktic	iniferal nd Zones Benthic (this study)	Type Cheneyian Stage	Type Ynezian Stage and zones	Type Bulitian Stage and zones	Type Penutian Stage and zones	Type Ulatisian Stage and zones	Type Narizian Stage and zones	Type Refugian Stage and zones
33 -	C10		Oligoo	cene	NP23 NP22	<u>CP17/18</u> (CP18)	3	_P18	Zemorrian							2
34 — 35 —	C13 C15			ate	NP21 NP19-20	CP16	6	P17 P16	Refugian							
36 — 37 —	C16		-		NP18	CP15	5	P15							?	675
38	C17				NP17		b								6	
39 40	C18					14		P14	Narizian							
41 42	C19		e		NP16	Ц Ц	a	P12							5	
43 44	C20		cer	ddle	- 15 - 0	13	c	P11							111-1	
45 46			Ш	Ē		CP	a		Ulatisian					9	? 3 4 9	
47	C21			ŀ	4 b	12	b	P10								
49	C22		-		Ž a	<u>Б</u>	a	PQ						4 ? 35		
50 51	022			2	NP13		1	P8								
52	C23			earl	NP12	CP10	C	P7	Penutian			89	3 9	• ?		
54	C04				NP11	CP9	b	P6 b					2	?		
55 56	624				NP10	CP8	b	P5	Bulitian				8	?		
57	C25			ate	NP9 NP8*	CP7	a	c C								
59			မ -		NP7 NP6	CP6 CP5		P4 ⊳	Ynezian		399			2		
60 — 61 —	C26		l Se	lidd	NP5	CP4		P3								
62	C27		ŏ-	2	NP4	CP3	5		Ohanavia		2					
64	C28		ale	J ^{ar}	NP3	CP2) -	P1	Cheneyian	1						
65 66	C29 C30			ĕ	NP2 NP1	CP1	a	P0 a Pa								

Figure 4.16. Age of the type stages and zones based on planktic microfossils and paleomagnetic interpretations. Time scale is the same as in figure 4.2. The duration of each of the type stages is plotted against the time scale to show the extent of each stage. The sections are labeled as follows: 1=Jergins Cheney Ranch Well No. 1; 2=lower Arroyo el Bulito; 3=Media Agua Creek; 4=Vaca Valley; 5=Devils Den; 6=upper Arroyo el Bulito; 7=Seaboard Welch Well # 1; 8=Simi Valley; and 9=Pacheco Syncline.

Time (Ma)	Chrons	Polarity	Epo	och	Calca Nannop Zo Martini (1971)	Calcareous Nannoplankton Zones Martini Bukry (1971) (1973,1975)			niniferal and Zones Benthic (this study)	Type Cheneyian Stage	Type Ynezian Stage and zones	Type Bulitian Stage and zones	Type Penutian Stage and zones	Type Ulatisian Stage and zones	Type Narizian Stage and zones	Type Refugian Stage and zones
32 33	C10		Oliao	cene	NP23 NP22	CP17/18 (CP18)	3	D18	Zemorrian							
34 —	C13		- 5-	-	NP21	CP16	6	<pre></pre>	Befugian							
35	C15 C16			late	NP19-20	CP1/		P16								675
37	C17				INFIO			P15								
38 39	C18				NP17	4	b	P14	Narizian						5 6	
40 41 42	C19		e		NP16	СР	а	P12						?	н	
43 44	C20		ocer	niddle	о 15 а о	913	c b	P11						?	?	
43 46 47 48 49	C21		Ш.		NP14 p a a	CP12 CF	a b a	P10	Ulatisian					49 3		
50	C22				NP13	CP11	1	P9						?		
51 — 52 —	C23			early	NP12	CP10	D	P7	Penutian				829			
54	004				NP11	CP9	b	P6 b				8	8 -			
55 56	624				NP10	CP8	b	D5	Bulitian							
57	005			e	NP9	CP7	a	FJ C				?				
58	625		U.	at	NP8 NP7 NP6	<u>CP6</u> CP5		P4 b	Ynezian		23 9					
60	C26		U U U U U	ddle	NP5	CP4		~a`								
61 62			e e	ă	NP4	СРЗ		P3								
63	C27		a	~		(D)	,	P1 °	Cheneyian	2						
64 65	C28			earl	NP3		b_	b								
66	C30				NP1		a									

Figure 4.17. Revised ages of the type stages and zones based on reevaluation of the benthic foraminiferal assemblages. The duration of each of the type stages is plotted against the time scale to show the extent of each stage. The sections are labeled as follows: 1=Jergins Cheney Ranch Well No. 1; 2=lower Arroyo el Bulito; 3=Media Agua Creek; 4=Vaca Valley; 5=Devils Den; 6=upper Arroyo el Bulito; 7=Seaboard Welch Well # 1; 8=Simi Valley; and 9=Pacheco Syncline.

28

through C13r are recognized in Refugian strata (fig. 4.11). No chronostratigraphic data are available for the Seaboard Welch Well #1. Cosmopolitan benthic foraminifers indicate that the Refugian interval in the Seaboard Welch Well #1 is possibly as old as P15 and as young as P17. Additional Refugian sections in the Santa Cruz Mountains (Sullivan, 1964; Fairchild and others, 1969; Smith, 1971; Poore and Brabb, 1977; McDougall, 1983; Poore and Bukry, 1983; Warren, 1983; Prothero and others, 2001) also contain microfossils indicative of planktic foraminiferal zones P16 and P17 and calcareous nannoplankton zones CP15 and CP16a. Paleomagnetic analysis of the sections indicates the presence of Chrons C16n(?) through C13r (Prothero and others, 2001).

The age of the Refugian Stage is interpreted as late Eocene and coeval with planktic zones P16 and P17, CN15 and CP16a, and Chrons C16n(?) through C13r. This interval is bracketed by a deep-sea hiatus (PH, fig. 4.5) that coincides with the onset of circum-Antarctic circulation and global changes in circulation patterns, and a deep-sea hiatus (PH, fig. 4.5) that coincides with a short-term climatic change recognized in the Pacific Ocean (Keller and others, 1987; Berggren and Miller, 1989).

Only a few cosmopolitan species can be used to recognize the Refugian Stage. Most species have long ranges that begin in the early to middle Eocene and extend into the Oligocene (figs. 4.11 and 4.12). Buliminella robertsi and Bulimina *macilenta* last appear at the Narizian/Refugian boundary, and Alabamina wilcoxensis, Bulimina trinitaentensis, Cibicides subspiralis, Pullenia eocenica, and Nuttaloides truempyi last appear at or near the Refugian/Zemorrian boundary. These species are not common in the California Refugian sections due to the paleoenvironment. Diagnostic local species found in the assemblages include the last appearances of Anomalina regina, Bulimina microcostata, Lenticulina welchi, Spiroplectammina richardi, and Uvigerina churchi and the first appearances of Anomalina californiensis, Cassidulina galvinensis, Uvigerina cocoaensis, and U. gallowavi at the Narizian/Refugian boundary. A faunal turnover in planktic foraminiferal zone P15 appears to have resulted in a proliferation of local species (Berggren and Miller, 1989). The Refugian/Zemorrian boundary is marked by the last appearances of Boldia hodgei, Bulimina sculptilis, Caucasina schencki, Cibicides haydoni, Cibicidoides coalingensis, Eggerella elongata, Uvigerina atwilli, Uvigerina cocoaensis, Valvulineria jacksonensis, and Valvulineria tumevensis, at or near the boundary. These ranges are not as well documented as the cosmopolitan species and therefore may be subject to change as more data becomes available.

Conclusions

Reexamination of the Paleogene Stages and their type sections in light of new studies, more rigorous taxonomy, and global rather than local species ranges resolves most of the time transgressive problems associated with the California benthic foraminiferal stages. Recognizing breaks or unconformities in the type sections also aids in eliminating much of the time transgressiveness in the stage boundaries. Clarification of the stage and zonal criteria of the Paleogene Stages suggests that the Paleocene is composed of the Cheneyian, Ynezian, and Bulitian Stages and the Eocene is composed of the Penutian, Ulatisian, Narizian, and Refugian Stages. Each of the stages, however, needs some additional work to establish adequate type sections or boundary stratotypes that document the boundaries of this stage.

The Paleocene Stages include the Chenevian, Ynezian, and Bulitian. The Cheneyian Stage is coeval with planktic zone P1 through P3. Faunal lists were never published for this stage nor was a type section officially designated. Further, the Cheneyian/Ynezian Stage boundary is not represented in any section examined for this study and may be obscured in California strata due to erosional events. The Ynezian Stage is coeval with planktic zone P4 and the Bulitian Stage is thought to be coeval with zones P5 and P6a. The boundaries of the Ynezian Stage are obscured by unconformities and strata that should be assigned to the Bulitian Stage are largely missing from the California sections. Foraminiferal species diagnostic of the Ynezian Stage are widespread, whereas foraminiferal species diagnostic of the Bulitian Stage are often found reworked into the early Eocene assemblages. New type sections or boundary stratotypes for these stages need to be designated.

In the Eocene, the Penutian Stage is coeval with planktic zones P6b through early P9 (no younger than the overlap between P9 and CP11), the Ulatisian Stage is coeval with P9 (younger than CP11) through P11, the Narizian Stage is coeval with zones P12 through P15, and the Refugian Stage is coeval with zones P16 and P17 (fig. 4.17). The lower boundary of the Penutian Stage in the type section and other sections examined is either an unconformity or a barren or sparsely fossiliferous interval with no diagnostic species. The upper boundary in the type section is conformable with the overlying Ulatisian Stage. The upper and lower limits of the Ulatisian Stage are not observed in the sections examined for this study except for the lower Ulatisian boundary in the Media Agua Creek Section where the Ulatisian conformably overlies the Penutian Stage. The limits of the Narizian Stage are either not observed in most other sections or where observed, there are no other chronostratigraphic data to indicate the age of the boundary. Similar problems exist with the Refugian Stage and more chronostratigraphic data are needed to establish the age of the boundaries.

Cosmopolitan and local benthic foraminiferal species are present in the California sections. The most useful of these species and their ranges are given in figures 4.3 and 4.4. Few species are identified for the Cheneyian and Bulitian Stages. Considerable work needs to be done on the Cheneyian Stage to separate it from the underlying Cretaceous strata. The Bulitian Stage is poorly represented in California since it coincides with the Paleocene/Eocene Thermal Maximum and several sea level changes. Numerous first and last appearance datums of benthic foraminiferal species identify the other stage boundaries.

Acknowledgments

The author wishes to thank Earl Brabb and John Barron for their thorough review of the manuscript and thoughtful discussions on stratigraphy over the years. Earl Brabb was also instrumental in collecting or providing many of the samples. The author also wishes to thank Allegra Hosford Scheirer for reviewing the manuscript, as well as for the opportunity to write this paper.

References Cited

- Almgren, A.A., and Filewicz, M.V., 1984, Benthic foraminiferal and calcareous nannofossil biostratigraphy of the Markley Canyon fill, *in* Almgren, A.A., and Hacker, P.D., eds., Paleogene submarine canyons of the Sacramento Valley, California: Los Angeles, Pacific Section, American Association of Petroleum Geologists, p. 115-124.
- Almgren, A.A., Filewicz, M.V., and Heitman, H.L., 1988, Lower Tertiary foraminiferal and calcareous nannofossil zonation of California—An overview and recommendation, *in* Filewicz, M.V., and Squires, R.L., eds., Paleogene stratigraphy, West Coast of North America: Los Angeles, Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, v. 58, p. 83-106.
- Atwill, E.R., 1935, Oligocene Tumey Formation of California: Bulletin of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists, v. 19, no. 8, p. 1192-1204.
- Aubry, M.-P., Berggren, W.A., Kent, D.V., Flynn, J.J., Klitgord, K.D., Obradovich, J.D., and Prothero, D.R., 1988, Paleogene geochronology—An integrated approach, *in* Berggren, W.A., and Kent, D.V., eds., Geochronology and the marine record: Paleoceanography, v. 3, no. 6, p. 707-742.
- Bandy, O.L., 1949, Eocene and Oligocene Foraminifera from Little Stave Creek, Clarke County, Alabama: Bulletins of American Paleontology, v. 32, no. 131, p. 1-210.
- Barr, F.T., and Berggren, W.A., 1981, Lower Tertiary biostratigraphy and tectonics of northwestern Libya, *in* Salem, M.J., and Busrewil, M.T., eds., The Geology of Libya, 2: New York, Academic Press, Inc., p. 163-192.
- Bartow, J.A., 1992, Paleogene and Neogene time-scales for southern California, U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 92-212.
- Berggren, W.A., 1972, A Cenozoic time-scale— Some implications for regional geology and paleobiogeography: Lethaia, v. 5, no. 2, p. 195-215.
- Berggren, W.A., and Aubert, J., 1983, Paleogene benthic foraminiferal biostratigraphy and paleobathymetry of the central Coast Ranges of California, *in* Brabb, E.E., ed., Studies in Tertiary stratigraphy of the California Coast Ranges: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper

1213, p. 4-21.

- Berggren, W.A., Kent, D.V., Flynn, J.J., and van Couvering, J.A., 1985, Cenozoic geochronology: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 96, no. 11, p. 1407-1418.
- Berggren, W.A., Kent, D.V., Swisher, C.C., III, and Aubry, M.-P., 1995, A revised Cenozoic geochronology and chronostratigraphy, *in* Berggren, W.A., Kent, D.V., Aubry, M.-P., and Hardenbol, J., eds., Geochronology, time scales and global stratigraphic correlation: Tulsa, Okla., SEPM (Society for Sedimentary Geology) Special Publication No. 54, p. 129-212.
- Berggren, W.A., and Miller, K.G., 1989, Cenozoic bathyal and abyssal calcareous benthic foraminiferal zonation: Micropaleontology, v. 35, no. 4, p. 308-320.
- Blake, G.H., 1991, Review of the Neogene biostratigraphy and stratigraphy of the Los Angeles Basin and implications for basin evolution, *in* Biddle, K.T., ed., Active margin basins: Tulsa, Okla., American Association of Petroleum Geologists Memoir 52, p. 135-184.
- Blow, W.H., 1969, Late middle Eocene to Recent planktonic foraminiferal biostratigraphy, *in* Brönnimann, R., and Renz, H.H., eds., Proceedings of the First International Conference on Planktonic Microfossils, Geneva, 1967: Leiden, Netherlands, E. J. Brill, p. 199-421.
- Blow, W.H., 1979, The Cainozoic Globigerinida—A study of the morphology, taxonomy, evolutionary relationships and the stratigraphic distribution of some Globigerinida (mainly Globigerinacea): Leiden, Netherlands, E. J. Brill, v. 1-3, 1413 p.
- Boersma, A., 1984, Handbook of common Tertiary *Uvigerina*: Stony Point, New York, Microclimates Press, 207 p.
- Bottjer, D.J., Lund, S.P., Powers, J.E., Steele, M.C., and Squires, R.L., 1991, Magnetostratigraphy of Paleogene strata in San Diego and the Simi Valley, southern California, *in* Abbott, P.L., and May, J.A., eds., Eocene geologic history San Diego region: Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, book 68, p. 115-124.
- Boyd, H.A., 1949, Eocene Foraminifera from the "Vacaville Shale": Berkeley, Calif., University of California, Berkeley, M.S. thesis, 76 p.
- Boyd, H.A., 1998, Eocene Foraminifera from the "Vacaville Shale", *in* Martin, J.E., ed., Contributions to the paleontology and geology of the West Coast—In honor of V. Standish Mallory: Thomas Burke Memorial Washington State Museum Research Report No. 6, p. 115-130.
- Bragg, G., De Biase, R., Gruniq, A., and Proto Decima, F., 1975, Foraminiferi Bentonici del Paleocene ed Eocene della Sezione de Possagno [Benthonic Foraminifera of the Paleocene and Eocene of the Possagno Section]: Schweizerische Palaeontologische Abhandlungen, c. 97, Monografia micropaleontologica sul Paleocene el'Eocene di Possagno, p. 85-111.

Bramlette, M.N., and Sullivan, F.R., 1961, Coccolithophorids and related nannoplankton of the early Tertiary in California: Micropaleontology, v. 7, no. 2, p. 129-188.

Browning, J.L., 1952, Foraminifera from the upper Santa Susana Shale: Berkeley, Calif., University of California, Berkeley, M.S. thesis, 118 p.

Browning, J.L., Grier, A.W., Kleinpell, R.M., and Mallory, V.S., 1998, An early Paleogene foraminiferal sequence from the Simi Valley, southeastern Ventura County, California, *in* Martin, J.E., ed., Contributions to the paleontology and geology of the West Coast—In honor of V. Standish Mallory: Thomas Burke Memorial Washington State Museum Research Report No. 6, p. 131-162.

Bukry, D., 1973, Low-latitude coccolith biostratigraphic zonation, *in* Edgar, N.T., Kaneps, A.G., and Herring, J.R., eds., Initial reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project, volume 15: Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, p. 685-703.

Bukry, D., 1975, Coccolith and silicoflagellate stratigraphy, northwestern Pacific Ocean, Deep Sea Drilling Project Leg 32, *in* Gardner, J.V., ed., Initial reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project, volume 32: Washington, D.C., U.S. Government Printing Office, p. 677-692.

Bukry, D., Brabb, E.E., and Vedder, J.G., 1977, Correlation of Tertiary nannoplankton assemblages from the Coast and Peninsular Ranges of California: Memoir Segundo Congresco Venezuela Boletin de Geologia Publication Especial, no. 7, p. 1461-1483.

Classen, W.J., Jr., and Hornaday, G.R., 1998, Eocene Foraminifera from the vicinity of Las Cruces, Santa Barbara County, California, *in* Martin, J.E., ed., Contributions to the paleontology and geology of the West Coast—In honor of V. Standish Mallory: Seattle, Thomas Burke Memorial Washington State Museum Research Report No. 6, p. 175-190.

Coxall, H.K., D'Hondt, S., and Zachos, J.C., 2006, Pelagic evolution and environmental recovery after the Cretaceous-Paleogene mass extinction: Geology, v. 34, no. 4, p. 297-300.

Cramer, B.S., and Kent, D.V., 2005, Bolide summer—The Paleocene/Eocene thermal maximum as a response to an extraterrestrial trigger: Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 224, p. 144-166.

Culver, S.J., 2003, Benthic Foraminifera across the Cretaceous-Tertiary (K-T) boundary—A review: Marine Micropaleontology, v. 47, p. 177-226.

Cushman, J.A., 1936, New genera and species of the families Verneuilinidae and Valvulinidae and of the subfamily Virgulininae: Cushman Foundation for Foraminiferal Research Special Publication 6, 71 p.

Cushman, J.A., and Simonson, R.R., 1944, Foraminifera from the Tumey Formation, Fresno County, California: Journal of Paleontology, v. 18, no. 2, p. 186-203.

Dibblee, T.W., Jr., 1950, Geology of southwestern Santa

Barbara County, California: San Francisco, Calif., State of California, Department of Natural Resources, Division of Mines Bulletin No. 150, 95 p.

English, W.A., 1921, Geology and ground waters of the western part of San Diego County, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water Supply Paper 446, 321 p.

Fairchild, W.W., Wesendunk, P.R., and Weaver, D.W., 1969, Eocene and Oligocene Foraminifera from the Santa Cruz Mountains, California: Berkeley, Calif., University of California Publications in Geological Sciences, v. 81, 93 p.

Filewicz, M.V., and Hill, M.E., III, 1983, Calcareous nannofossil biostratigraphy of the Santa Susana and Llajas Formations, north side Simi Valley, *in* Squires, R.L., and Filewicz, M.V., eds., Cenozoic geology of the Simi Valley area, southern California: Los Angeles, Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, p. 45-60.

Finger, K.L., 1990, Atlas of California Neogene Foraminifera: Cushman Foundation for Foraminiferal Research Special Publication 28, 271 p.

Gibson, J.M., 1976, Distribution of planktonic Foraminifera and calcareous nannoplankton, Late Cretaceous and early Paleogene, Santa Ynez Mountains, California: Journal of Foraminiferal Research, v. 6, no. 2, p. 87-106.

Goudkoff, P.P., 1945, Stratigraphic relations of Upper Cretaceous in Great Valley, California: Bulletin of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists, v. 29, no. 7, p. 956-1007.

Gradstein, F.M., Kaminski, M.A., and Berggren, W.A., 1988, Cenozoic foraminiferal biostratigraphy of the central North Sea, *in* Rogel, F., and Gradstein, F.M., eds., Proceedings of the second workshop on agglutinated Foraminifera: Abhandlungen der Geologischen Bundesanstalt, v. 41, p. 97-108.

Gradstein, F.M., and Ogg, J.G., 2005, Time scale, *in* Selley, R.C., Cocks, L.R.M., and Plimer, I.R., eds., Encyclopedia of geology, v. 5: Oxford, United Kingdom, Elsevier Academic Press, p. 503-520.

Gradstein, F.M., Ogg, J.G., and Smith, A.G., eds., 2004, A geologic time scale 2004: Cambridge, United Kingdom, Cambridge University Press, 589 p.

Graymer, R.W., Jones, D.L., and Brabb, E.E., 1994, Preliminary geological map emphasizing bedrock formations in Contra Costa County, California—A digital database: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 94-622, 19 p.

Grier, A.W., 1953, Lower Tertiary Foraminifera from the Simi Valley, California: Berkeley, Calif., University of California, Berkeley, M.S. thesis, 108 p.

Haq, B.U., 1991, Sequence stratigraphy, sea-level change, and significance for the deep sea, *in* Macdonald, D.I.M., ed., Sedimentation, tectonics, and eustasy—Sea-level changes at active margins: Oxford, U. K., Blackwell Scientific Publications, International Association of Sedimentologists Special Publication 12, p. 3-39. Haq, B.U., Hardenbol, J., and Vail, P.R., 1987a, Chronology of fluctuating sea levels since the Triassic: Science, v. 235, p. 1156-1167.

Haq, B.U., Hardenbol, J., and Vail, P.R., 1987b, The new chronostratigraphic basis of Cenozoic and Mesozoic sea level cycles, *in* Ross, C.A., and Harman, D., eds., Time and depositional history of eustatic sequences—Constraints on seismic stratigraphy: Cushman Foundation for Foraminiferal Research Special Publication 24, p. 7-13.

Haq, B.U., Hardenbol, J., and Vail, P.R., 1988, Mesozoic and Cenozoic chronostratigraphy and cycles of sea-level change, *in* Wilgus, C.K., Hastings, B.S., Ross, C.A., Posamentier, H., Van Wagoner, J., and Kendall, C.G.S.C., eds., Sea-level changes—An integrated approach: Tulsa, Okla., Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Special Publication 42, p. 71-108.

Hedberg, H.D., 1976, International stratigraphic guide—A guide to stratigraphic classification, terminology, and procedure: New York, John Wiley & Sons, 200 p.

Heitman, H.L., 1983, Paleoecological analysis and biostratigraphy of the lower Paleogene Santa Susana Formation, northern Simi Valley, Ventura County, California, *in* Squires, R.L., and Filewicz, M.V., eds., Cenozoic geology of the Simi Valley area, southern California: Los Angeles, Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, p. 33-44.

Herlyn, H.T., 1958, Lower Tertiary Foraminifera from the western Santa Ynez Mountains of California: Berkeley, Calif., University of California, Berkeley, M.S. thesis, 260 p.

Hornaday, G.R., 1974, Historical determination of the base of the Paleogene in the Panoche Creek area, *in* Payne, M., ed., The Paleogene of the Panoche Creek-Cantua Creek area: Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, p. 25-27.

Ingle, J.C., Jr., 1980, Cenozoic paleobathymetry and depositional history of selected sequences within the southern California continental borderland, *in* Sliter, W.V., ed., Studies in marine micropaleontology and paleoecology—A memorial volume to Orville L. Bandy: Cushman Foundation for Foraminiferal Research Special Publication 19, p. 163-195.

Jenkins, D.G., and Murray, J.W., eds., 1989, Stratigraphic atlas of fossil Foraminifera: Chichester, United Kingdom, Ellis Horwood, 593 p.

Johnson, C.L., Bloch, R.B., and Graham, S.A., 2005, Tertiary sequences of the central San Joaquin Basin, California— Age control and eustatic versus tectonic forcing factors: Pacific Section, American Association of Petroleum Geologists MP49, 1 sheet.

Kahn, A., and Aubry, M.-P., 2004, Provincialism associated with the Paleocene/Eocene thermal maximum— Temporal constraint: Marine Micropaleontology, v. 52, p. 117-131. Kaminski, M.A., Gradstein, F.M., Berggren, W.A., Geroch, S., and Beckman, J.P., 1988, Flysch-type agglutinated foraminiferal assemblages from Trinidad—Taxonomy, stratigraphy, and paleobathymetry: Abhandlungen der Geologischen Bundersanstalt, v. 41, p. 155-227.

Keller, G., Herbert, T., Dorsey, R., D'Hondt, S., Johnsson, M., and Chi, W.R., 1987, Global distribution of late Paleogene hiatuses: Geology, v. 15, p. 199-203.

Kelley, F.R., 1943, Eocene stratigraphy in western Santa Ynez Mountains, Santa Barbara County, California: Bulletin of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists, v. 27, no. 1, p. 1-19.

Kennett, J.P., and Stott, L.D., 1995, Terminal Paleocene mass extinction in the deep sea—Association with global warning, *in* Stanley, S.M., chairman, Effects of past global change on life: Washington, D. C., National Academy Press, p. 94-107.

King, C., 1989, Cenozoic of the North Sea, *in* Jenkins, D.G., and Murray, J.W., eds., Stratigraphic atlas of fossil Foraminifera: Chichester, United Kingdom, Ellis Horwood, p. 418-489.

Kleinpell, R.M., 1938, Miocene stratigraphy of California: Tulsa, Okla., American Association of Petroleum Geologists, 450 p.

Kleinpell, R.M., ed., 1980, The Miocene stratigraphy of California revisted: Tulsa, Okla., American Association of Petroleum Geology Studies in Geology No. 11, 349 p.

Kleinpell, R.M., and Mallory, V.S., 1998, The Paleogene foraminiferal sequence in the Point of Rocks-Devil's Den area, California—Part 3, The upper Eocene, type Narizian stage at Point of Rocks, Devil's Den, Kern County, California, *in* Martin, J.E., ed., Contributions to the paleontology and geology of the West Coast—In honor of V. Standish Mallory: Seattle, Thomas Burke Memorial Washington State Museum Research Report No. 6, p. 229-244.

Kleinpell, R.M., and Weaver, D.W., 1963, Foraminiferal faunas from the Gaviota and Alegria Formations, *in* Pabst, A., Berry, W.B.N., Fry, W.L., and Weiss, L.E., eds., Oligocene biostratigraphy of the Santa Barbara embayment, California: Berkeley, Calif., University of California Press, University of California Publications in Geological Sciences, v. 43, p. 1-45.

Laiming, B.G., 1939, Some foraminiferal correlations in the Eocene of San Joaquin Valley, California: Proceedings of the Sixth Pacific Science Congress of the Pacific Science Association, v. 2, p. 535-568.

Laiming, B.G., 1940, Foraminiferal correlations in Eocene of San Joaquin Valley, California: Bulletin of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists, v. 24, no. 11, p. 1923-1939.

Laiming, B.G., 1943, Eocene foraminiferal correlations in California, *in* Jenkins, O.P., ed., Geologic formations and economic development of the oil and gas fields of California: San Francisco, State of California, Department of Natural Resources, Division of Mines Bulletin No. 118, p. 193-198.

Loeblich, A.R., Jr., 1958, Danian stage of Paleocene in California: Bulletin of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists, v. 42, no. 9, p. 2260-2261.

Loeblich, A.R., Jr., and Tappan, H., 1957, Correlation of the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plain Paleocene and lower Eocene formations by means of planktonic foraminifera: Journal of Paleontology, v. 31, no. 6, p. 1109-1137.

Mallory, V.S., 1959, Lower Tertiary biostratigraphy of the California Coast Ranges: Tulsa, Okla., American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, 416 p.

Mallory, V.S., 1970, Lower Tertiary Foraminifera from the Media Agua Creek drainage area, Kern County, California: Seattle, Thomas Burke Memorial Washington State Museum Research Report No. 2, 211 p.

Mallory, V.S., Herlyn, H.T., Jr., Kleinpell, R.M., and Hornaday, G.R., 1998, The Anita Shale and the type Paleocene foraminiferal stages, Santa Barbara County, California, *in* Martin, J.E., ed., Contributions to the paleontology and geology of the West Coast—In honor of V. Standish Mallory: Seattle, Thomas Burke Memorial Washington State Museum Research Report No. 6, p. 245-266.

Martin, L.T., 1943, Eocene Foraminifera from the type Lodo Formation, Fresno County, California: Stanford University Publications in Geological Sciences, v. 3, p. 93-125.

Martini, E., 1970, Standard Paleogene calcareous nannoplankton zonation: Nature, v. 226, p. 560-561.

Martini, E., 1971, Standard Tertiary and Quaternary calcareous nannoplankton zonation, *in* Farinacci, A., ed., Proceedings of the second planktonic conference: Rome, Edizioni Teconscienza, p. 739-785.

McDougall, K., 1980, Paleoecologial evaluation of late Eocene biostratigraphic zonations of the Pacific coast of North America, *in* Lundin, R.F., ed., Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists Paleontological Monograph Number 2: Tulsa, Okla., Journal of Paleontology, v. 54, no. 4, p. 1-75.

McDougall, K., 1983, Upper Eocene to lower Miocene benthic foraminifers from the Santa Cruz Mountains area, California, *in* Brabb, E.E., ed., Studies in Tertiary stratigraphy of the California Coast Ranges: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1213, p. 61-77.

McDougall, K., 1988, Re-evaluation of early Eocene, Penutian Stage [abs.]: American Association of Petroleum Geologists, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, and Society of Exploration Geophysicists, Annual Meeting, 1988, Program with Abstracts, 1 p.

McDougall, K., 1989, Paleogene benthic foraminifers from the Loma Prieta quadrangle, California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 89-649, 91 p.

McDougall, K., 1991, Benthic Foraminifera from the Laurel quadrangle, California: U.S. Geological Survey OpenFile Report 91-13, 66 p.

McDougall, K., 1993, Eocene benthic foraminiferal assemblages of the Palo Alto 7-1/2' quadrangle, California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 93-180, 93 p.

Murphy, M.A., and Salvador, A., eds., 1999, International stratigraphic guide—An abridged version: Episodes, v. 22, no. 4, p. 255-271.

Murray, J.W., Curry, D., Haynes, J.R., and King, C., 1989, Palaeogene, *in* Jenkins, D.G., and Murray, J.W., eds., Stratigraphic atlas of fossil Foraminifera: Chichester, United Kingdom, Ellis Horwood, p. 490-536.

Natland, M.L., 1952, Pleistocene and Pliocene stratigraphy of southern California: Los Angeles, University of California at Los Angeles, Ph.D. dissertation, 165 p.

Okada, H., and Bukry, D., 1980, Supplemental modification and introduction of code numbers to the low-latitude coccolith biostratigraphic zonation (Bukry, 1973; 1975): Marine Micropaleontology, v. 5, no. 3, p. 321-325.

Ortiz, N., 1995, Differential patterns of benthic foraminiferal extinctions near the Paleocene/Eocene boundary in the North Atlantic and the western Tethys: Marine Micropaleontology, v. 26, no. 1-4, p. 341-359.

Poore, R.Z., 1976, Microfossil correlation of California lower Tertiary sections—A comparison: Washington, D.C., U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 743-F, 8 p.

Poore, R.Z., 1980, Age and correlation of California Paleogene benthic foraminiferal stages: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1162-C, 8 p.

Poore, R.Z., and Brabb, E.E., 1977, Eocene and Oligocene planktonic Foraminifera from the upper Butano Sandstone and type San Lorenzo Formation, Santa Cruz Mountains, California: Journal of Foraminiferal Research, v. 7, no. 4, p. 249-272.

Poore, R.Z., and Bukry, D., 1983, Eocene to Miocene calcareous plankton from the Santa Cruz Mountains and northern Santa Lucia Range, *in* Brabb, E.E., ed., Studies in Tertiary stratigraphy of the California Coast Ranges: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1213, p. 49-61.

Prothero, D.R., 2001a, Magnetic stratigraphy of the middle Eocene Point of Rocks Sandstone (Ulatisian and type Narizian stages), western San Joaquin Basin, California, *in* Prothero, D.R., ed., Magnetic stratigraphy of the Pacific Coast Cenozoic: Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, book 91, p. 65-74.

Prothero, D.R., ed., 2001b, Magnetic stratigraphy of the Pacific Coast Cenozoic: Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, v. 91, 394 p.

Prothero, D.R., and Brabb, E.E., 2001, Magnetic stratigraphy of the lower middle Eocene (Type Ulatisian) Vacaville Shale, Solano County, California, *in* Prothero, D.R., ed., Magnetic stratigraphy of the Pacific Coast Cenozoic: Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and

34 California Cenozoic Biostratigraphy—Paleogene

Mineralogists, book 91, p. 56-64.

- Prothero, D.R., Sutton, J., and Brabb, E.E., 2001,
 Magnetostratigraphy of the Eocene-Oligocene San Lorenzo and Vaqueros Formations, Santa Cruz
 Mountains, California—Implications for California biostratigraphic zonations, *in* Prothero, D.R., ed.,
 Magnetic stratigraphy of the Pacific Coast Cenozoic:
 Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, book 91, p. 154-168.
- Prothero, D.R., and Thompson, M., 2001, Magnetic stratigraphy of the type Refugian Stage (late Eocene-early Oligocene), western Santa Ynez Range, Santa Barbara County, California, *in* Prothero, D.R., ed., Magnetic stratigraphy of the Pacific Coast Cenozoic: Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, book 91, p. 119-135.
- Schenck, H.G., and Kleinpell, R.M., 1936, Refugian stage of Pacific Coast Tertiary: Bulletin of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists, v. 20, no. 2, p. 215-225.
- Schmidt, R.R., 1975, Upper Paleocene-middle Eocene planktonic biostratigraphy from the Great Valley of California and adjacent areas, and correlation to the west coast microfossil stages, *in* Weaver, D.W., Hornaday, G.R., and Tipton, A., eds., Paleogene Symposium and Selected Technical Papers—Conference on future energy horizons of the Pacific Coast: Pacific Sections, American Association of Petroleum Geologists, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, and Society of Exploration Geophysicists, p. 439-455.
- Schymiczek, H.B., 1983, Benthic Foraminifera and paleobathymetry of the Eocene Llajas Formation, north side of Simi Valley, California, *in* Squires, R.L., and Filewicz, M.V., eds., Cenozoic geology of the Simi Valley area, southern California: Los Angeles, Pacific Section, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, p. 97-108.
- Sliter, W.V., 1968, Upper Cretaceous Foraminifera from southern California and northwestern Baja California, Mexico: University of Kansas Paleontological Contributions, 141 p.
- Sliter, W.V., McDougall, K., Murchey, B.L., and Kohnen, E.V., 1993, Mesozoic and Cenozoic microfossils from geologic units within the San Jose 1:100,000 quadrangle, California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 93-344, 119 p.
- Smith, H.P., 1956, Foraminifera from the Wagonwheel Formation, Devil's Den District, California: Berkeley, Calif., University of California Press, University of California Publications in Geological Sciences, v. 32, no. 2, p. 65-125.
- Smith, B.Y., 1957, Lower Tertiary Foraminifera from Contra Costa County, California: Berkeley, Calif., University of California Press, University of California Publications in Geological Sciences, v. 32, no. 3, p. 127-242.

- Smith, R.K., 1971, Foraminiferal studies in the lower and middle Tertiary of Soquel Creek, Santa Cruz County, California: Berkeley, Calif., University of California Press, University of California Publications in Geological Sciences, v. 91, 86 p.
- Speijer, R.P., and Schmitz, B., 1998, A benthic foraminiferal record of Paleocene sea level and trophic/redox conditions at Gebel Aweina, Egypt: Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, v. 137, no. 1-2, p. 79-101.
- Speijer, R.P., Schmitz, B., and van der Zwann, G.J., 1997, Benthic foraminiferal extinction and repopulation in response to latest Paleocene Tethyan anoxia: Geology, v. 25, no. 8, p. 683-686.
- Steineck, P.L., and Gibson, J.M., 1971, Age and correlation of the Eocene Ulatisian and Narizian stages, California: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 82, no. 2, p. 477-480.
- Sullivan, F.R., 1964, Paleocene, *in* Pabst, A., Berry, W.B.N., Fry, W.L., and Weiss, L.E., eds., Lower Tertiary nannoplankton from the California Coast Ranges: Berkeley, Calif., University of California Press, University of California Publications in Geological Sciences, v. 44, no. 3.
- Sullivan, F.R., 1965, Eocene, *in* Axelrod, D.I., Durrell, C., Engel, A.E.J., Kleinpell, R.M., Savage, D.E., and Wahrhaftig, C., eds., Lower Tertiary nannoplankton from the California Coast Ranges: Berkeley, Calif., University of California Press, University of California Publications in Geological Sciences, v. 53, p. 1-52.
- Thomas, E., 1990, Late Cretaceous-early Eocene mass extinctions in the deep sea, *in* Sharpton, V.L., and Ward, P.D., eds., Global catastrophes in Earth history—An interdisciplinary conference on impacts, volcanism, and mass mortality: Boulder, Colo., Geological Society of America Special Paper 247, p. 481-495.
- Thomas, E., 2006, Deep sea benthic Foraminifera and the oceanic carbon cycle during the Cenozoic: Anuario do Instituto de Geociencias, v. 29, no. 1, p. 170-171.
- Tipton, A., 1980, Foraminiferal zonation of the Refugian Stage, latest Eocene of California, *in* Sliter, W.V., ed., Studies in marine micropaleontology and paleoecology—A memorial volume to Orville L. Bandy: Cushman Foundation for Foraminiferal Research Special Publication 19, p. 258-277.
- Tjalsma, R.C., and Lohmann, G.P., 1983, Paleocene-Eocene bathyal and abyssal benthic Foraminifera from the Atlantic Ocean: Micropaleontology Special Publication 4, 90 p.
- van Morkhoven, F.P.C.M., Berggren, W.A., and Edwards, A.S., 1986, Cenozoic cosmopolitan deep-water benthic Foraminifera: Bulletin des Centres de Recherches Exploration—Production Elf-Aquitaine, Memoire v. 11, 421 p.
- Vaughan, J.L., Jr., 1976, Biostratigraphic analysis of Mallory's

(1959) Ulatisian benthic foraminiferal stage (Eocene of California): Los Angeles, University of Southern California, M.S. thesis, 85 p.

- Vedder, J.G., 1972, Revision of stratigraphic names for some Eocene formations in Santa Barbara and Ventura Counties, California: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 1354-D, 16 p.
- Warren, A.D., 1983, Lower Tertiary nannoplankton biostratigraphy in the central Coast Ranges of California, *in* Brabb, E.E., ed., Studies in Tertiary stratigraphy of the California Coast Ranges: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1213, p. 22-38.
- Warren, A.D., and Newell, J.H., 1980, Plankton biostratigraphy of the Refugian and adjoining stages of the Pacific Coast Tertiary, *in* Sliter, W.V., ed., Studies in marine micropaleontology and paleoecology—A memorial volume to Orville L. Bandy: Cushman Foundation for Foraminiferal Research Special

Publication 19, p. 233-251.

- Wissler, S.G., 1943, Stratigraphic formations of the producing zones of the Los Angeles basin oil fields, *in* Jenkins, O.P., ed., Geologic formations and economic development of the oil and gas fields of California: San Francisco, State of California, Department of Natural Resources, Division of Mines Bulletin No. 118, p. 209-234.
- Wissler, S.G., 1958, Correlation chart of producing zones of Los Angeles basin oil fields, *in* Higgins, J.W., ed., A guide to the geology and oil fields of the Los Angeles and Ventura regions: Los Angeles, Pacific Section, American Association of Petroleum Geologists, p. 59-61.
- Zachos, J.C., Schouten, S., Bohaty, S., Quattlebaum, T., Sluijs, A., Brinkhuis, H., Gibbs, S.J., and Bralower, T.J., 2006, Extreme warming of mid-latitude coastal ocean during the Paleocene-Eocene thermal maximum—Inferences from TEX₈₆ and isotope data: Geology, v. 34, no. 9, p. 737-740.

36 California Cenozoic Biostratigraphy—Paleogene

This page intentionally left blank

Appendix

Appendix 4.1 - Taxonomic Notes

Alabamina wilcoxensis Toulmin - - Smith (1957), p. 187,

pl. 28, fig. 8. - - Mallory (1959), p. 227, pl. 19, fig. 10. - - Mallory (1970), p. 138. - - Tipton (1980), p. 271. - -Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). = *Alabamina scitula* Bandy - - Vaughan (1976), p. 67. = *Eponides beisseli* (White) - - Smith (1957), p. 182, pl. 27, fig. 7. - - Mallory (1959), p. 237. - - Browning and others (1998), p. 149 (list). - -Mallory and others (1998), p. 256 (list). = *Alabamina wilcoxensis californica* Mallory - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234, 237 (list). = *Alabamina kernensis* Smith (1956), p. 99, pl. 15, figs. 3, 4. - - Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 274.

Range: Mallory (1959) gave the range of A. wilcoxensis as early Bulitian to late Penutian and cites its presence in the Media Agua Creek and Devils Den sections. Except for a questionable occurrence in the strata assigned to zone P4 in the Media Agua Creek section, A. wilcoxensis ranges from sample A7075 to A7088 (Bulitian to Penutian, Mallory, 1970). This interval has, however, been assigned to the early Eocene Penutian Stage (fig. 4.8) and planktic zones P7 and CP10 (Poore, 1976; Almgren and others, 1988). Alabamina wilcoxensis is listed in the Devils Den section (Kleinpell and Mallory, 1998) in the Narizian interval coeval with Chrons C21n or C20n through C15n (Prothero, 2001a). Other questionable Paleocene occurrences of A. wilcoxensis are noted in the Arroyo el Bulito, Simi Valley, and Pacheco Syncline sections (Smith, 1957; Heitman, 1983; Mallory and others, 1998; McDougall, unpublished paleontology reports). In other sections examined for this study, A. wilcoxensis is found in Penutian through Refugian strata coeval with zones P7 through P16. Alabamina wilcoxensis resembles and may be a junior synonym of the cosmopolitan species A. dissonata, which ranges from zones P6a through P17 (latest Paleocene through late Eocene; Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983). The range of A. wilcoxensis is P6 through P16 with rare questionable occurrences in the Paleocene P4 zone. Ecology: Alabamina dissonata has a wide bathymetric distribution in the early Eocene but in the middle and late Eocene it is restricted to deeper sites (>2,000 m) (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983). A. wilcoxensis has a similar range.

- Amphimorphina californica Cushman and McMasters -Laiming (1940), p. 547 (list) - - Mallory (1959), p. 215, pl. 18, fig. 6.
- **Range**: Mallory (1959) restricts *A. californica* to the late Ulatisian, *A. californica* zone; occurrences listed are in sections not examined in this study. *A. californica* occurs only in the Ulatisian of the Pacheco Syncline section (fig. 4.14) examined for this paper and a tentative range of P9 through P12 is assigned to this species.

- Amphimorphina ignota Cushman and Siegfus Martin (1943), p. 9 (list). Mallory (1959), p. 215-216, pl. 18, fig. 7; pl. 33, fig. 9. Mallory (1970), p. 100.
 Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list). Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 22, pl. 14, fig. 18. Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 2, fig. 7. Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234 (list). Mallory and others (1998), p. 255, 258 (list). = Amphimorphina (?) sp. Smith (1957), p. 172, pl. 24, fig. 1.
- Range: Although Mallory (1959) gives range as late Ynezian to early Narizian (Paleocene through Eocene), the late Ynezian occurrences in the Media Agua Creek section (sample A7078 to A7017 and questionably as high as A7007), are assigned to planktic foraminiferal zone P6b through P10 (Poore, 1976) and thus are Eocene in age. *Amphimorphina ignota* is also reported from the Arroyo el Bulito section by Gibson (1976), in the Ynezian and Bulitian (P4 and P5) but taxonomic problems in this section do not necessarily support this Paleocene occurrence. Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983) give a range of Eocene and find this species occurring sporadically throughout the Eocene (zones P6b through P18).
- Angulogalvelinella avnimelechi (Reiss) - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 344-346, pl. 112. - -*Gyroidina browningi* Grier (1953), p. 92, pl. 1, fig. 8. - - Browning and others (1998), p.141, 145 (list).
- Range: Angulogalvelinella avnimelechi ranges from the Cretaceous through late Paleocene (P5) (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). This species, previously recognized in the Simi Valley section as *Gyroidina browningi*, is present in the Ynezian portion of the section, coeval with P4 and CP5 through CP8 (fig. 4.13) and the Cheneyian Stage (Goudkoff, 1945). It may also be lumped with various *Gyroidina* species in other studies.
- *Anomalina californiensis* Cushman and Hobson - Smith (1956), p. 100, pl. 16, fig. 3. - Tipton (1980), p. 274.
- **Range:** Anomalina californiensis occurs in Refugian through early Saucesian strata in California (Kleinpell, 1938; Smith, 1956; Tipton, 1980). The range of this species is tentatively given as P16 through N5.
- Anomalina regina Martin - Smith (1957), p. 191, pl. 29, fig. 8. - Mallory (1959), p. 261, pl. 38, fig. 6a, b, c. - Mallory (1970), p. 154, pl. 14, fig. 3a-c.
 Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). - Browning and others (1998), p. 140, 143 (list). = Anomalina cf. A. regina Martin - Mallory (1970), p. 154, pl. 14, fig. 5. - Browning and others (1998), p. 149 (list). =

Anomalina regina minor Smith (1957), p. 192, pl. 29, figs. 2 and 4. - - Mallory (1959), p. 261, pl. 23, fig. 6a, b, c. - - Browning and others (1998), p. 149 (list). - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 237 (list). = *Anomalinoides welleri* (Plummer) - - Berggren and Aubert (1983), p. 16.

- Range: Although Mallory (1959) gives the range of A. regina as early Bulitian (late Paleocene) to late Penutian (early Eocene), this species ranges from planktic zone P6b through P10, and questionably up to P15 (McDougall, 1988). Bulitian localities listed by Mallory (1959) are from the Lodo Gulch section (Martin, 1943), Simi Valley (Browning, 1952; Grier, 1953), Pacheco Syncline (Smith, 1957), and Media Agua Creek (Mallory, 1959, 1970). The oldest occurrence cited by Martin (1943; sample I-X7) is in strata assigned to planktic foraminiferal zones P5 (Poore, 1976; Berggren and Aubert, 1983), however, Berggren and Aubert (1983) have not found A. regina in strata older than P8 in the Lodo Gulch section. Anomalina regina in the Simi Valley section occurs in the Paleocene but taxonomic problems in this section make these specimens suspect. The other Bulitian localities listed by Mallory (1959) are in strata assigned to P6b or younger zones. The variety A. regina minor occurs in strata as young as late Narizian (late Eocene) (Mallory, 1959). The range of A. regina is therefore P6b through P10 and questionably to P15.
- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *A. regina* has an upper depth limit in the upper middle bathyal biofacies (500 to 1,500 m) (*Melonis regina*, Ingle, 1980).
- Anomalinoides acutus Plummer = Anomalina acuta Plummer - Mallory (1959), p. 258. = Anomalinoides acuta (Plummer) - Berggren and Aubert (1983), p. 11, pl. 5, figs. 1-3. = Cibicides alazaensis (Nuttall) - Smith (1957), p. 195, pl. 29, fig. 10.
 = Cibicidoides midwayensis (Plummer) - Smith (1957), p. 96, pl. 30, fig. 4. = Cibicides susanaensis Browning in Mallory (1959) - Mallory (1959), p. 271, pl. 32, fig. 11, 12. - Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). - Browning and others (1998), p. 150 (list). - Mallory and others (1998), p. 255 (list). = Cibicidoides durhami Smith (1957), p. 196, pl. 32, figs. 3, 4.
- Range: Mallory (1959) gives the range of A. acutus as restricted to the Ulatisian Stage and of C. susanaensis as lower Ynezian to lower Bulitian in the Santa Barbara area. The Arroyo el Bulito and Simi Valley sections reexamined in this paper contain A. acutus in the Ynezian and Bulitian intervals coeval with zones P4 through P6a and CP5 through CP9 (Poore, 1976; Filewicz and Hill, 1983; Heitman, 1983). Berggren and Aubert (1983) also report this species

from the Lodo Formation where it ranges from P5 through P9. The range of *A. acutus* is tentatively given as P4 through early P9, although it may be extended in the future.

Ecology: Anomalinoides acutus has an upper depth limit in the outer shelf biofacies (50 to 150 m) (Ingle, 1980).

Anomalinoides capitatus (Gumbel) - - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 276-278, pl. 92, figs. 1-2. = Gavelinella capitata (Gumbel) - - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 31, pl. 16, figs. 4-5. = Anomalina dorri Cole - - Martin (1943), p. 9 (list). - -Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). = Anomalina dorri aragonensis Nuttall - - Smith (1957), p. 191, pl. 31, figs. 1-2. - - Mallory (1959), p. 259, pl. 35, fig. 5. - - Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list). = Anomalina aragonensis Nuttall - - Martin (1943), p. 9 (list). - - Berggren and Aubert (1983), p. 10 (list), pl. 5, figs. 7, 8, 9. = Gavelinella dorri var. aragonensis (Nuttall). - - Browning and others (1998), p. 141, 145 (list). - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 235 (list). - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 256, 258 (list). = Anomalina (?) sp. - - Smith (1957), p. 192, pl. 29, fig. 7. = Gavelinella rubiginosus - - Mallory (1970), p. 155-156. Gavelinella cf. G. rubiginosus - - Mallory (1970), p. 156, pl. 14, fig. 2.

Range: A late Paleocene (P6a) through early Oligocene (P18) range with questionable occurrences in early Oligocene zones P19 and P20 is given by van Morkhoven and others (1986). Forms transitional between A. rubiginosus and A. capitatus have been observed in the middle Paleocene (P4) and early Eocene (P6b to P11) (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). In California, Berggren and Aubert (1983) found A. capitatus (A. aragonensis) in the early Eocene Lodo (P6 to P9) and Kreyenhagen (P8 to P9) Formations. Almgren and others (1988) give the range of A. dorri aragonensis as zones E and pseudo-C corresponding to nannofossil zones CP5 through CP11 (planktic foraminiferal zones P4 through P9). The older occurrences noted by Almgren and others (1988) have not been examined and may be the transitional forms noted by van Morkhoven and others (1986). Mallory (1959) found this species to be widespread throughout California, ranging from Ynezian through Ulatisian. In sections examined for this study, A. capitatus was found in the Paleocene, Ynezian and Bulitian Stages of the Arroyo el Bulito (fig. 4.7), Simi Valley (fig. 4.13) and Pacheco Syncline (fig. 4.14) sections and in the Eocene of most other sections (fig. 4.8). Paleocene specimens in the Arroyo el Bulito, Simi Valley, and Pacheco Syncline sections may be the transitional forms or may be A. rubiginosus; more

40 California Cenozoic Biostratigraphy—Paleogene

recent work in California has failed to recognize *A. capitatus* in the Paleocene portion of these sections. The Paleocene occurrences of this species are therefore assumed to be misidentified and are probably *A. rubiginosus* since this species was rarely reported from California strata in these older works. The upper limit of this species range appears to be in the Oligocene as it is present throughout the Eocene sections.

- Ecology: Anomalinoides capitatus was primarily a bathyal species but ranged to abyssal depths (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Ingle (1980) considers this species to have an upper depth limit in the lower bathyal biofacies (≥ 2,000 m).
- Anomalinoides rubiginosus Cushman - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 366-368, pl. 119.
- **Comments:** *Valvulineria lillisi* of Mallory (1959, p. 231, pl. 20, fig. 7) and Goudkoff (1945, Table II) is probably a synonym of *Anomalinoides rubiginosus* based on the coarse pores and umbo regions that more closely resemble *A. rubiginosus*.
- **Range**: Anomalinoides rubiginosus ranges from late Cretaceous (Campanian) through Paleocene (P5) (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). This species was not recognized by Mallory (1959) or other earlier workers, but is recognized in recent work in the Paleocene Vine Hill Sandstone (fig. 4.14).
- Ecology: Anomalina rubiginosus is a middle neritic to abyssal species (50 m to >2,000 m) (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- Anomalinoides praeacuta Vasilenko - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 4, pl. 4, fig. 10, pl. 10, figs. 8a-b.
- **Range**: Anomalinoides praeacuta ranges from Paleocene zone P1 to early Eocene zone P6b (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983). This species was not recognized in California strata by earlier workers. It is present in the Paleocene of the Lodo Gulch section (Berggren and Aubert, 1983; Israelsky, unpublished data).
- Aragonia aragonensis (Nuttall) = Bolivina aragonensis (Nuttall) - Mallory (1959), p. 199-200, pl. 28, fig. 19a-b. - Mallory (1970), p. 112. - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234 (list). = Aragonia aragonensis (Nuttall) - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 2, figs. 15-17. - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 23, pl. 11, figs. 2a-b. - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 308-314, pl. 101a, figs. 1-3; pl. 101B, figs. 1-4; pl. 101C, figs. 1-3.
- **Range**: The range of *A. aragonensis* is late Paleocene (P5) through latest middle Eocene (P14) (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983; van Morkhoven and others,

1986). Mallory (1959) gives the range as upper Ynezian to lower Narizian. The Ynezian occurrences are from Media Agua Creek but revision of the age of this section indicates that this species first appears in the mixed interval between the Ynezian and the Penutian and continues to the top of the Penutian Stage (fig. 4.8). Although Ynezian occurrences were noted in the Arroyo el Bulito section by Gibson (1976), conformity of the taxonomic designations with the present study has not been established so specimens designated *A. aragonensis* by Gibson may not be consistent with this study. Other occurrences in the section reexamined for this paper included an early Narizian occurrence in the Devils Den section.

- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *A. aragonensis* has an upper depth limit in the upper bathyal biofacies (150 to 500 m) (Ingle, 1980) but is considered primarily a lower bathyal and abyssal form (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- Boldia hodgei (Cushman and Schenck) - McDougall (1980), p. 33, pl. 29, fig.4-6. Tipton (1980), p. 272. = Cibicides hodgei Cushman and Schenck
 Smith (1956), p. 101, pl. 16, fig. 1. Mallory (1959), p. 265, pl. 24, fig. 6. Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 274. = Cibicidina hodgei? (Cushman and Schenck) Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 238 (list). = Cibicides cf. C hodgei Cushman and Schenck Boyd (1998), p. 125 (list). = Cibicidina cf. C. hodgei (Cushman and Schenck) Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 238 (list).
- **Range**: Mallory (1959) and Tipton (1980) report this species ranging from the late Narizian through Refugian and note that there are some reports of this species occurring in older deposits but these are thought to be the result of misidentification. The range of *B. hodgei* is tentatively given as P15 through P17.
- Bolivina explicata lodoensis Mallory (1959), p. 200, pl. 16, fig. 19a, b. - - Mallory (1970), p. 112-113, pl. 7, fig. 6. - - Vaughan (1976), p. 67. - - Berggren and Aubert (1983), p. 11 (list).
- Range: Bolivina explicata lodoensis ranges from early Bulitian through late Ulatisian (Mallory, 1959). The early Bulitian and Penutian occurrences in the Media Agua Creek section (samples A7075 through A7088) are in assemblages assigned to planktic zone P7 (fig. 4.8). Ulatisian occurrences are in the Oil City section in strata assigned to planktic foraminiferal zones P10 (Mallory, 1959; Poore, 1976) and in the Lodo Gulch section (Berggren and Aubert, 1983; Israelsky, unpublished data; species not listed by Mallory, 1959 or Martin, 1943). Boliv-

ina explicata lodoensis was recognized by Berggren and Aubert (1983) in Lodo Gulch in strata assigned to early Eocene zones P8 and P9. The range of *B. explicata lodoensis* is from early to middle Eocene zones P7 to P10.

- Bolivinoides delicatulus (Cushman) - Mallory and others (1998), p. 254, 255 (list). - - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 337-339, pl. 110. = ? Bolivinoides stewarti Mallory (1959), p. 203, pl. 16, fig. 27 - - Mallory (1970), p. 99, pl. 7, fig. 9. - - Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list). - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 254, 255 (list).
- **Range**: *Bolivinoides delicatulus* ranges from the Cretaceous through late Paleocene (P6a) (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) and Mallory and others (1998) restricted this species to the late Ynezian, citing its presence in the Media Agua Creek and Arroyo el Bulito sections; however Mallory and others (1998) also indicate that this species last appears in the Bulitian Stage. Both occurrences fall within the range given by van Morkhoven and others (1986).
- Bulimina alazaensis Cushman- Smith (1957), p. 173, pl. 24, fig. 12. - - Mallory (1959), p. 187, pl. 36, fig. 15a, b, c. - - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 24, pl. 14, fig. 4. = Bulimina adamsi Cushman and Parker - - Mallory (1959), p. 187, pl. 41, fig. 12. - Mallory (1970), p. 103, pl. 6, fig. 3. - - Boyd (1998), p. 122, 123 (list). - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 258 (list). = Bulimina corrugata Cushman and Siegfus - - Smith (1956), p. 95, pl. 13, fig. 7. - - Smith (1957), p. 174, pl. 24, fig. 8. - - Mallory (1959), p. 189, pl. 28, fig. 13a, b. - - Mallory (1970), p. 105. - - Vaughan (1976), p. 68. - - Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 274. - - Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list). - - Boyd (1998), p. 125. - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234, 237 (list). - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 258 (list). = Bulimina truncanella Finley - - Mallory (1959), p. 197, pl. 36, fig. 18a,b,c. - -Mallory (1970), p. 111. - - Vaughan (1976), p. 69. -- Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234, 237 (list). = Bulimina truncana Gumbel - - Smith (1957), p. 175, pl. 24, fig. 11. = Bulimina whitei Martin (1943), p. 20, pl. 6, fig. 5a,b. - - Smith (1957), p. 175-176, pl. 24, fig.9. - - Mallory (1959), p. 198, pl. 28, fig. 18a, b, c; pl. 36, fig. 19a, b, c. - - Mallory (1970), p. 111, pl. 7, fig. 5a, b. - - Vaughan (1976), p. 69. - - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 3, figs. 11-12. - -Browning and others (1998), p. 143, 150 (list).
- **Range**: The species *B. alazaensis* was assigned a variety of names in California strata and most are either junior synonyms or misidentifications. The range of *B. alazaensis* is given as earliest Eocene (P6b) to

the Oligocene (P22) (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983). This range spans the ranges give by Mallory (1959) for *B. adamsi* (late Penutian through late Ulatisian), *B. corrugata* (early Ulatisian through late Narizian), *B. truncanella* (late Ynezian through late Narizian), and *B. whitei* (early Bulitian through early Narizian). No Ynezian or Bulitian occurrences appear in the reexamined sections. The oldest occurrence is in the Media Agua Creek section where *B. alazaensis* occurs in the mixed assemblage between the Ynezian and the Penutian Stage (fig. 4.8). Almgren and others (1988) give the range of *B. corrugata* as pseudo-C through A-2 zones, which is equivalent to nannofossil zones CP11 through CP14b (planktic foraminiferal zones late P8-P14).

- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *B. corrugata* and *B. whitei* have upper depth limits in the lower middle bathyal biofacies (500 to 1,500 m) (Ingle, 1980).
- Bulimina bradburyi Martin (1943), p. 19, pl. 6, fig. 4a, b.
 Mallory (1959), p. 188, pl. 16, fig. 11. Mallory (1970), p. 104. Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list). Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 24, pl. 12, figs. 1, 2a, b. Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). Browning and others (1998), p. 140, 143 (list). Mallory and others (1998), p. 255 (list). = Buliminella bradburyi (Martin) Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 2, fig. 13. = Bulimina cf. B. bradburyi Martin Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234 (list).
- **Comments**: Confusion exists between *Bulimina excavata* and *B. bradburyi*, which are approximately the same size and shape. *B. excavata* has a small depression along the suture lines that extends upward into the chambers, usually one per chamber. The specimen illustrated by Mallory (1959, pl. 16, fig. 13) as *B. excavata* may be *B. bradburyi* but preservation obscures the presence or absence of excavations. *Bulimina bradburyi* is morphologically close to *B. tuxapamensis* from which it differs by having a more slender test, somewhat inflated chambers, and a generally smaller size (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983).
- Range: Bulimina bradburyi ranges from the late Paleocene (P4) into the early Oligocene (P22) (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983). Mallory (1959) gives the range as late Ynezian to early Penutian. The late Ynezian and Bulitian occurrences are from the Media Agua Creek (fig. 4.8), Arroyo el Bulito (fig. 4.7), and Simi Valley sections in strata assigned to planktic foraminiferal zones P4 through P7 (Poore, 1976; Filewicz and Hill, 1983; Heitman, 1983), and thus are within the range given for this cosmopolitan species.

Ecology: Along the East Pacific margin, B. bradburyi

42 California Cenozoic Biostratigraphy—Paleogene

has an upper depth limit in upper bathyal biofacies (150 to 500 m) (Ingle, 1980).

Bulimina callahani Galloway and Morrey. - - Martin (1943), p. 9 (list). - Mallory (1959), p. 188, pl. 16, fig. 10. - Mallory (1970), p. 104. - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 3, figs. 1-5. - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 24-25, pl. 11, figs. 6a-7c. - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 322-327, pl. 105A, figs. 1-3; pl. 105B, figs. 1-4. - Browning and others (1998), p. 143 (list).

- Range: Bulimina callahani ranges from the late Paleocene (P6a) through middle Eocene (P10) (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983; van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) gives the range as late Ynezian through early Ulatisian. These occurrences are in strata assigned to planktic foraminiferal zones P6b through P10. A single rare occurrence in the Paleocene (P4) of the Simi Valley section is, however, noted and in the same sample as a rare occurrence of *Pullenia eocenica* whose presence in the Paleocene is also questioned.
- Ecology: *Bulimina callahani* is a middle and lower bathyal and abyssal species (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Its upper depth limit is estimated as 600 m along the Pacific margin (Berggren and Aubert, 1983). Ingle (1980) places the upper depth limit of this species in upper middle bathyal biofacies (500 to 1,500 m).
- *Bulimina excavata* Cushman and Parker - Mallory (1959), p. 190, pl. 16, fig. 13. - - Mallory (1970), p. 106. - - Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list). - - Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list). - - Browning and others (1998), p. 143 (list).
- **Range**: Mallory (1959) gives the range as upper Ynezian through lower Bulitian based on the occurrence of this species in the Simi Valley, Arroyo el Bulito, and Reliz Canyon sections. Each of these occurrences is in the Ynezian Stage coeval with P4 to P5 and CP7 to CP8 as determined by this study (figs. 4.7 and 4.13). In the Media Agua Creek section, *B. excavata* is recognized at the base of the Penutian interval in strata assigned to zones P6b and CP9 (fig. 4.8). Almgren and others (1988) restrict this species to their C zone or modified Penutian Stage, which is equivalent to nannofossil zones CP9 through CP10 (planktic foraminiferal zones P7 to P8). Confusion between *B. excavata* and *B. bradburyi* is unresolved at this time.
- *Bulimina macilenta* Cushman and Parker - Mallory (1959), p. 193-194, pl. 28, fig. 15a,b,c. - - Mallory (1970), p. 108. - - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 3, fig. 8. - - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 25, pl.

14, fig. 3. - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234
(list). - Mallory and others (1998), p. 258 (list).
- Browning and others (1998), p. 143, 150 (list). = Bulimina arkandelphiana macilenta Cushman and Parker - Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). = Bulimina pachecoensis Smith (1957), p. 175, pl. 24, fig. 14.

- Range: Bulimina macilenta ranges from zones P7 through P15 (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983). Mallory (1959) gives the range as late Ynezian through early Narizian. The Ynezian and Bulitian occurrences are in the Media Agua Creek, Arroyo el Bulito and Simi Valley sections. In the Media Agua Creek section the Ynezian occurrence is now assigned to the Penutian, P7 zone and in the Arroyo el Bulito section, the Bulitian occurrence is now assigned to the early Eocene, Penutian, coeval with CP11. In the Simi Valley section B. macilenta occurs in strata assigned to the Ynezian through Bulitian Stages coeval with zones P4 to P5 and CP5 through CP8. These specimens have probably been misidentified, as these occurrences are considerably older than the range of this species noted globally. The range of B. macilenta in California is therefore the same as the cosmopolitan range.
- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *B. macilenta* has an upper depth limit in the upper middle bathyal biofacies (500 to 1,500 m) (Ingle, 1980).
- Bulimina microcostata Cushman and Parker - Mallory (1959), p. 194, pl. 16, fig. 9. - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 237 (list).
- **Range**: *Bulimina microcostata* is restricted to the Narizian (Mallory, 1959). In this study *B. microcostata* was found only in the Devils Den section, where it occurs in Narizian strata correlated with Chrons C19n or C20n. The range is therefore tentatively given as late P12 through P15.
- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *B. microcostata* has an upper depth limit in the upper middle bathyal biofacies (Ingle, 1980).
- *Bulimina sculptilis* Cushman - Smith (1956), p. 95-96, pl. 12, fig. 9, pl. 5, fig. 4. - - Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 274. - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 237 (list). = *Bulimina sculptilis lacinata* Cushman and Parker - - Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 274.
- **Range**: *Bulimina sculptilis* is typically found in late Eocene strata throughout California. In this study it occurs in the Narizian and Refugian of the Devils Den and Arroyo el Bulito sections, and Seaboard Welch Well #1 (figs. 4.10, 4.11, and 4.12) coeval with zones P15 through P16.
- Bulimina semicostata Nuttall - Vaughan (1976), p. 69. - - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 25, pl. 13,

figs. 1-3. - - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 279-281, pl. 93, figs. 1-5. - - Browning and others (1998), p. 143 (list). = *Bulimina* cf. *B. semicostata* (Nuttall) - - Mallory (1970), p. 110, pl. 7, fig. 3a,b. - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 257 (list). = *Bulimina semicostata lacrima* Mallory (1959), p. 196, pl. 16, fig. 8a, b, c. - - Mallory (1970), p. 110. - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234 (list). = *Bulimina lacrima* Mallory - Mallory and others (1998), p. 257 (list).

- Range: Bulimina semicostata ranges from the early Eocene (P6b) through early Oligocene (P18) (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983; van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) gave the range as early Ulatisian through early Narizian, which is consistent with the cosmopolitan range of this species. In the present study, specimens identified as *B. semicostata* were found in the Ynezian portion of the Simi Valley section, occurring in the same interval as several other seemingly out of place early Eocene species (fig. 4.13). In the Media Agua Creek and Arroyo el Bulito sections, *B. semicostata* ranges from Penutian through Narizian, coeval with P8 through P10.
- Ecology: Although *B. semicostata* is primarily a lower bathyal and abyssal species, it has an upper depth limit in the upper middle bathyal biofacies (500 to 1,500 m) (Ingle, 1980; van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- Bulimina trinitatensis Cushman and Jarvis Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 7-8. - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 3, figs. 9, 10. - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 299-303, pl. 98a, figs. 1-2; pl. 98B, figs. 1-4. - Browning and others (1998), p. 140, 143 (list).
- **Range**: *Bulimina trinitatensis* ranges from the early Paleocene (P1) through late Eocene (P16) (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983; van Morkhoven and others, 1986). This species is not recognized in Mallory's (1959) work but has been recognized in the Simi Valley and Pacheco Syncline sections.
- Ecology: *Bulimina trinitatensis* is primarily a bathyal to abyssal species (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). During the Eocene the upper depth limit may have been as shallow as 500 to 600 m (Barr and Berggren, 1981; Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983; van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- Bulimina tuxapamensis Cole - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 26, pl. 12, figs. 3-4. - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 155-158, pl. 51A, figs. 1-4; pl. 51B, figs. 1-2. - Mallory and others (1998), p. 255 (list). - Mallory and others (1998), p. 257, 258 (list). = Buliminella bradburyi (Martin) - Berggren

and Aubert (1983), p. 16, pl. 2, fig. 13. = *Uvigerina* cf. *lodoensis* (Martin) - - Smith (1957), p. 178, pl. 25, fig. 7.

- Range: Bulimina tuxpamensis ranges from the late Paleocene (P6a) through early middle Miocene (N9) with doubtful occurrences in middle Miocene zones N10 to N13 (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983; van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) did not recognize this species in his sections. It was identified in the Arroyo el Bulito and Pacheco Syncline sections in the Penutian Stage coeval with zones CP10 and CP11.
- **Ecology**: *Bulimina tuxapamensis* is a bathyal to abyssal species that occurs commonly in the upper bathyal biofacies (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Ingle (1980) indicates the upper depth limit of *B. bradburyi* is in the upper bathyal biofacies (150 to 500 m).
- Buliminella grata Parker and Bermudez. - Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list). - - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 163-165, p. 54, figs. 1-2. - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 257 (list). = Buliminella grata Parker and Bermudez convoluta Mallory (1959), p. 185, pl. 15, fig. 13. - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 2, figs.11, 12. - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234 (list). = Buliminella grata joaquinensis Mallory (1959), p. 185, pl. 15, fig. 13. - - Mallory (1970), p. 103, pl. 6, fig. 6. - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 258 (list).
- **Comments:** *Buliminella obtusa* (d'Orbigny) in Mallory and others (1998, list) may be a synonym of *B. grata*; further checking is needed.
- **Range**: An early Paleocene (P1) through middle Miocene (N12) range is given by van Morkhoven and others (1986). Mallory (1959) indicates that this species ranges from Ulatisian through Narizian. Its presence in the Ynezian through Penutian of the Arroyo el Bulito section represents the older portion of the *B. grata* range.
- **Ecology**: *Buliminella grata* is primarily a bathyal species; maximum abundances occurred at depths of 1,000 to 2,000 m in the Atlantic (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983; van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- Buliminella robertsi Howe and Ellis Mallory and others (1998), p. 255 (list). = Buliminella grata Parker and Bermudez Smith (1957), p. 173, pl. 24, fig. 10. Mallory (1959), p. 186, pl. 15, fig. 14. Mallory (1970), p. 103. Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234 (list). Browning and others (1998), p. 150 (list). = Turrilina robertsi (Howe and Ellis) Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 37, pl. 14, fig. 5.
- Comments: Buliminella robertsi is probably a junior

44 California Cenozoic Biostratigraphy—Paleogene

synonym of Turrilina brevispira.

- **Range**: *Buliminella robertsi* ranges from latest Paleocene (P6a) through late Eocene (P15) (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983). Mallory (1959) gives the range as Ynezian through Narizian. Ynezian and Bulitian occurrences in the Media Agua, Simi Valley, Pacheco Syncline, and Devils Den (Mallory, 1959) sections are now assigned to the Penutian through Ulatisian (fig. 4.8) within the cosmopolitan range of this species.
- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *B. robertsi* has an upper depth limit on the outer shelf (Ingle, 1980).
- *Cassidulina galvinensis* Cushman and Frizzell - Smith (1956), p. 99-100, pl. 13, fig. 11. - Tipton (1980), p. 274.
- **Range**: *Cassidulina galvinensis* ranges from the late Refugian into the early Zemorrian. The range of this species is considered to be P16 through P20, however confusion between *C. galvinensis* and *C. crassipunctata* in California needs to be resolved.
- Caucasina schencki (Beck) = Bulimina schencki Beck - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234 (list). - -Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 274. = Bulimina capitata Yokoyama - - Smith (1956), p. 95, pl. 13, fig. 5.
- **Range**: *Caucasina schencki* first appears in the Narizian and ranges through the Refugian in the Devils Den, Arroyo el Bulito, and Seaboard Welch Well #1 sections examined for this study. The range of this species is tentatively given as P15 through P17.
- Cibicides haydoni (Cushman and Schenck) - McDougall (1980), p. 34. - - Tipton (1980), p. 265, (list), 274. = Planulina haydoni Cushman and Schenck - -Smith (1956), p. 100, pl. 16, fig. 5.
- **Range**: Both McDougall (1980) and Tipton (1980) restrict this species to the Refugian Stage coeval with planktic foraminiferal zones P15 and P16.
- **Ecology**: *Cibicides haydoni* has an upper depth limit in the outer shelf biofacies (Ingle, 1980).
- Cibicides martinezensis Cushman and Barksdale -Martin (1943), p. 9 (list). - - Smith (1957), p. 193, pl. 31, fig. 6. - - Mallory (1959), p. 267, pl. 35, fig. 7a-c; pl. 38, fig. 7a-c. - Mallory (1970), p. 159. - -Vaughan (1976), p. 70. - - Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). - - Browning and others (1998), p. 143 (list). - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234 (list). = Cibicides cf. C. martinezensis Cushman and Barksdale - - Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list). = Cibicidoides martinezensis malloryi Smith (1957), p. 193-194, pl. 31, fig. 7. - Mallory (1970), p. 159.
- **Range**: Mallory (1959) gives the range as Bulitian to lower Narizian with questionable occurrences in

the upper Ynezian. The upper Ynezian occurrences are in Lodo Gulch (Martin, 1943) and Media Agua Creek (Mallory, 1959). These occurrences are in strata now assigned to the Penutian and Ulatisian Stages coeval with zones P6b through P10 (fig. 4.8). The Paleocene occurrences in the Simi Valley section may be attributed to taxonomic problems, as all other occurrences of this species are restricted to the Eocene. In the Simi Valley, specimens assigned to *C. martinezensis* may instead be *C. alleni*, which is a Paleocene species. Almgren and others (1988) also give the range of this species as zones C through A-2 (rare), which is coeval with nannofossil zones CP9 through CP14 (planktic foraminiferal zones P6b to P14).

- Cibicidoides alleni (Plummer) - Heitman (1983), fig.
 4 (list). = Cibicides martinezensis Cushman and Barksdale - - Martin (1943), p. 9 (list). = Cibicides spiropunctatus (Gumbel). - - Browning and others (1998), p. 140, 143 (list). = Cibicides aff. C. spiropunctatus (Gumbel) - - Browning and others (1998), p. 143 (list).
- Range: van Morkhoven and others (1986) indicate the range of *C. alleni* is P1 to P6b and that this species is the ancestor of the *C. eocaenus-tuxpamensis* lineage. Although Mallory (1959) does not recognize this species in California strata, it has been recognized in the Ynezian of the Simi Valley and Pacheco Syncline sections (Heitman, 1983; McDougall, unpublished paleontology reports; fig. 4.13). Specimens assigned to *Cibicides spiropunctatus* by Browning and others (1998) are probably this species.
- **Ecology**: The bathymetric range of *C. alleni* is middle neritic to middle bathyal in the Paleocene (P1 to P5) and is restricted to the middle and outer neritic in the late Paleocene and early Eocene (P6a to P6b) (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- Cibicidoides coalingensis (Cushman and Hanna) -Smith (1957), p. 195, pl. 30, figs. 2, 3. - - Vaughan (1976), p. 70. - - Tipton (1980), p. 274. = "Anomalina" coalingensis Cushman and Hanna - - Martin (1943), p. 9 (list). = Anomalina coalingensis (Cushman and Hanna) - - Boyd (1998), p. 123, 124 (list). = Cibicides coalingensis (Cushman and Hanna) - - Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list). = Cibicidoides coalingensis (Cushman and Hanna) - -Mallory (1959), p. 273, pl. 38, fig. 11a-c. - - Mallory (1970), p. 162. - - Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list).
 - Browning and others (1998), p. 143, 150 (list).
 - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 238 (list).
- **Range**: Mallory (1959) gives the range of *C. coalingensis* as lower Bulitian through upper Narizian,

and Almgren and others (1988) give the range as restricted to zone B-1 equivalent to nannofossil zones CP11 to CP12a (late P9 to early P10). Bulitian occurrences from the Media Agua Creek section are in the interval now assigned to the Penutian (fig. 4.8). In the Simi Valley section, *C. coalingensis* occurs in the Bulitian interval but because of taxonomic problems in this section this species may not be correctly identified. Additionally this species occurs in the Penutian through Refugian Stages in the Pacheco Syncline, Vaca Valley, and Devils Den sections examined in this study; this range is much broader than indicated by Almgren and others (1988). The range of *C. coalingensis* is tentatively given as P6b through P17.

- **Ecology**: The upper depth limit of *C. coalingensis* is given as both outer shelf and lower middle bathyal biofacies by Ingle (1980).
- *Cibicidoides dayi* (White) = *Cibicides stephensoni* Cushman - - Mallory (1959), p. 271, pl. 32, fig. 9. - -Browning and others (1998), p. 143 (list).
- **Range**: *Cibicidoides dayi* ranges from Late Cretaceous (Campanian) through late Paleocene (P5) (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) recognized this species in the Ynezian of the California sections and it is noted in the Ynezian of the Simi Valley and Pacheco Syncline sections as well as the Lodo Gulch section.
- **Ecology**: *C. dayi* is a bathyal and abyssal species (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- *Cibicidoides eocaenus* (Gumbel) - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 256-263, pl. 86A, figs. 1-4; pl. 86B, figs. 1-2; pl 86C, figs. 1-3; pl. 86D, figs. 1-2. *Cibicides spiropunctatus* Galloway and Morrey Mallory (1959), p. 270, pl. 25, fig. 3. Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list) = Cibicides whitei Martin (1943), p. 122, pl. 8, figs. 4a, b, c. Vaughan (1976), p. 70. = Cibicidoides whitei (Martin) Berggren and Aubert (1983), p. 10 (list), p. 16 (list).
- **Range**: *Cibicidoides eocaenus* ranges from the early Eocene (P6b) through late Oligocene (P22) (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) noted *C. spiropunctatus* and *C. whitei* in the Ynezian through Narizian. The Ynezian and Bulitian occurrences noted by Mallory (1959) are in Media Agua Creek and Lodo Gulch; both occurrences are now assigned to the Penutian (fig. 4.8).
- **Ecology**: *Cibicidoides eocaenus* is primarily a bathyal species although it ranges from outer neritic to abyssal depths. Ingle (1980) considered the upper depth limit of *C. perlucidus* to be in the lower middle bathyal and of *C. spiropunctatus* to be in the upper bathyal biofacies.

- *Cibicidoides fortunatus* (Martin) = *Cibicides fortunatus* Martin (1943), p. 31, pl. 8, fig. 5a, b, c. - Mallory (1959), p. 265, pl. 24, fig. 1. - Mallory (1970), p. 158. - McDougall (1980), pl. 24, figs. 10-11. - -Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 5, figs. 22-24.
- **Range:** *Cibicidoides fortunatus* is probably a junior synonym or ecological variant of *C. subspiratus*, which ranges from P6b through P9 (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) gave the range of *C. fortunatus* as late Ynezian to late Penutian. The late Ynezian occurrences in the Media Agua Creek section where *Cibicidoides fortunatus* ranges from samples A7078 to A7076 are now assigned to zone P6b (fig. 4.8). The upper Bulitian occurrence is from Lodo Gulch in strata now assigned to planktic foraminiferal zone P7 and younger (Poore, 1976; Berggren and Aubert, 1983).
- **Ecology:** Along the East Pacific margin, *C. fortunatus* has an upper depth limit in the upper bathyal biofacies (Ingle, 1980).
- *Cibicidoides grimsdalei* (Nuttall) - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 5, figs. 19, 20, 21. - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 247-251, pl. 83a, figs. 1-3; pl. 83b, figs. 1-7. = ?*Cibicides laimingi* of Mallory (1959), pl. 24, fig. 3.
- Range: An early Eocene (P8) through Miocene (N4) range is given by van Morkhoven and others (1986). *Cibicides laimingi* was reported by Mallory (1959) to range from lower Ulatisian through lower Narizian Stages in California. In sections examined for this study *C. grimsdalei* is present in the Devils Den section (fig. 4.10) where it occurs in the Narizian well within the range of this species.
- **Ecology**: *Cibicidoides grimsdalei* was a lower bathyal and abyssal species. Ingle (1980) gives the upper depth limit of this species along the Pacific margin as in the lower bathyal biofacies. Greatest abundances of this species are reported at paleodepths of 2,000 to 4,000 m in the Atlantic by Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983).
- Cibicidoides praemundulus Berggren and Edwards = Cibicides ungerianus (d'Orbigny) - - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 28-29, pl. 18, fig. 1; pl. 21, figs. 5-6. = Cibicides cf. C. ungerianus (d'Orbigny) - -Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list). Probably not Cibicides cf. C. ungeriana (d'Orbigny) - - Mallory (1959), p. 272. - - Mallory (1970), p. 160, pl. 15, fig. 3a, b, c.
- **Range**: An early Eocene (P6b) through late Oligocene (P22) range is given by van Morkhoven and others (1986). Almgren and others (1988) restrict this species to zone D, which is equivalent to nannofossil zone CP9 and planktic foraminiferal zone P6b. This

46 California Cenozoic Biostratigraphy—Paleogene

species is present in the Pacheco Syncline in the Penutian (CP10) interval. As this species becomes more widely recognized, a better understanding of its range will emerge.

- **Ecology**: *Cibicidoides praemundulus* is primarily a lower bathyal and abyssal form, but occurs sporadically in middle bathyal sediments. Greatest abundances are found at abyssal depths (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- *Cibicidoides subspiratus* (Nuttall) - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 314-316, pl. 102, figs. 1a,b,c.
- **Range**: A late early Eocene (P9) through late middle Eocene (P13) range is given by van Morkhoven and others (1986). This species was not recognized in California strata by Mallory (1959). It is included because of its association with *C. fortunatus* and because it has been found in California although not in the sections examined for the current study.
- **Ecology**: *Cibicidoides subspiralis* is a bathyal and abyssal species (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- *Clavulina anglica* (Cushman) = *Pseudoclavulina anglica* Cushman (1936), p. 18, pl. 3, fig. 5.
- Range: This species was not previously recognized in California, which may be the result of lumping this species with another genus such as *Karreriella* or because the species was not recorded. King (1989) observes *C. anglica* in North Sea sediments in the early Paleocene to early Eocene, zones NSB 1a to 1b and 3a to 3b. These zones are equivalent to planktic foraminiferal zones P1 to early P4 and late P6b to early P9. Jenkins and Murray (1989) and Bragg and others (1975) also observe this species in the early Eocene and report rare occurrences as young as P14 in Italy.
- **Ecology**: *Clavulina anglica* is common on marine shelves (Murray and others, 1989).
- *Coryphostoma incrassata* (Reuss) - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 382-384, pl. 126.
- **Range**: *Coryphostoma incrassata* is a Late Cretaceous species (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). *Bolivina incrassata* recognized by Mallory in California strata is *C. midwayensis*, a Tertiary species.
- **Ecology**: The upper depth limit of *C. incrassata* is on the outer shelf (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- *Coryphostoma midwayensis* - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 364-366, pl. 118, figs. 1a-c. = *Bolivina incrassata* Reuss - - Goudkoff (1945), Table II. - - Mallory (1959), p. 201, pl. 16, fig. 24. -- Mallory (1970), p. 113. - - Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). = *Bolivina midwayensis* Cushman - - Mallory (1959), p. 202. - - Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list). - -

Browning and others (1998), p. 143 (list).

- Range: Coryphostoma midwayensis ranges from the Late Cretaceous (Maastrichtian) to early Paleocene (P5) (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) reports a single occurrence of *B. incrassata* from the upper Bulitian of the Media Agua Creek section (sample A-7069) that is early Eocene, zone P7 (Poore, 1976); this species was not listed by Mallory (1970). Coryphostoma midwayensis occurs in the Cheneyian Stage (Goudkoff, 1945) and the Ynezian in the Arroyo el Bulito and Simi Valley sections (figs. 4.8 and 4.9).
- **Ecology**: *Coryphostoma midwayensis* is primarily an outer neritic and bathyal species and is very rare in abyssal deposits (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- *Eggerella elongata* Blaisdell - Smith (1971), p. 34, pl. 2, fig. 5. - Tipton (1980), p. 274. = *Eggerella* sp. Mallory (1959), p. 124. - Mallory (1970), p. 44-45. - Berggren and Aubert (1983), p. 11 (list).
- Range: Mallory (1959) gives the range of *E. elongata* as upper Ulatisian through upper Narizian. *E. elongata* is present in the Ulatisian and (or) Narizian intervals of the Media Agua Creek and Pacheco Syncline sections as well as many other Narizian and Refugian sections in California. The range of *E. elongata s.s.* is late Ulatisian through Refugian, coeval with zones P12 to P16. Questionable occurrences of *E. elongata* are found in strata as old as early Ulatisian, coeval with zone P10.
- *Eponides mexicanus* (Cushman) Smith (1957), p. 182, pl. 27, fig. 10. Mallory (1959), p. 237, pl. 37, fig. 11; pl. 41, fig. 9. Vaughan (1976), p. 73. Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). Boyd (1998), p. 122, 124, 125 (list). Browning and others (1998), p. 150 (list). = Eponides aff. E. mexicana (Cushman) Smith (1957), p. 183, pl. 27, fig. 15. = Eponides gaviotaensis Wilson Smith (1956), p. 98, pl. 14, fig.8. Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 274. = Eponides guaybalensis yeguaensis Weinzierl and Applin Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). = Eponides yeguaensis Weinzierl and Applin Tipton (1980), p. 274. = Eponides kleinpelli Cushman and Frizzell Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 274. = Neoeponides mexicanus (Cushman) Mallory (1970), p. 134.
- **Range**: *Eponides mexicanus* is a long ranging species that is common throughout the Eocene and Oligocene. It is present in most sections examined for this study but occurs under a wide variety of names. The range of *E. mexicanus s.s.* is P7 through P22.
- **Ecology**: *Eponides mexicanus* has an upper depth limit in the inner neritic (0 to 50 m) (Ingle, 1980).

Eponides plummerae Cushman - - Mallory (1959), p.

25, 32, 86 (not in taxonomic section). - - Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list). - - Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). - - Browning and others (1998), p. 145 (list).

- **Range**: *Eponides plummerae* was given a range of Ynezian and Bulitian (Mallory, 1959). In the sections examined for this study *E. plummerae* occurs in the Ynezian and Bulitian in the Arroyo el Bulito, Simi Valley and Lodo Gulch sections. The range of this species in California is tentatively given as P3 through P5, but it probably has a more extensive range.
- *Frondicularia frankei* Cushman - Mallory (1959), p. 160. = ? *Frondicularia* cf. *F. inversa* - - Smith (1957), p. 169, pl. 23, fig. 8. - Mallory (1959), p. 160. - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 256 (list).
- Range: Frondicularia frankei is an E zone marker of Laiming (1940) but is not listed by Mallory (1959). Frondicularia frankei is recognized in the Ynezian of several sections examined for this study (Arroyo el Bulito, fig. 4.7; Pacheco Syncline, fig. 4.14). Several other species of Frondicularia that also occur in the Ynezian and Bulitian of California may be synonyms. The range of this species is tentatively given as P4.
- Globocassidulina globosa (Hantken) - Tipton (1980),
 p. 265 (list), 274. = Cassidulina globosa Hantken -Smith (1956), p. 100, pl. 14, fig. 2. - - Smith (1957),
 p. 187, pl. 28, fig. 13. - - Mallory (1959), p. 226, pl.
 33, fig. 11a,b. - - Mallory (1970), p. 139. = Cassidulina cf. C. globosa - - Mallory (1970), p. 140. =
 Globocassidulina subglobosa (Brady) - - Vaughan (1976), p. 70. - - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p.
 31, pl. 16, fig. 9. - - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl.
 4, fig. 15, 16, 17. - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998),
 p. 235, 238 (list).
- Range: Globocassidulina globosa is a common species in California, where it ranges from the early Penutian through late Narizian (Mallory, 1959) and into the Refugian (Tipton, 1980). Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983) indicate that this species first appears in the Paleocene planktic zone P4 and ranges throughout the Eocene and into younger strata. No Paleocene occurrences have been noted yet in California. *Globocassidulina globosa* is found in the Penutian through Ulatisian of the Media Agua Creek section (P7 through at least P10).
- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, the upper depth limit of *G. globosa* is in the outer shelf biofacies (50 to 150 m) (Ingle, 1980).
- *Glomospira gordialis* (Jones and Parker) = *Glomospira charoides* (Jones and Parker) *corona* Cushman and Jarvis - - Mallory (1959), p. 109, pl. 1, fig. 16. - -Mallory (1970), p. 28-29. - - Gibson (1976), Table 2

(list). - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 235 (list). = *Glomospira corona* Cushman and Jarvis - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 256 (list).

- Range: Glomospira gordialis ranges from planktic foraminiferal zone P4 (late Paleocene) to P7 (early Eocene) (Kaminski and others, 1988). Mallory (1959) notes this species primarily in the Paleocene but also notes its presence in the Ulatisian and Narizian of Media Agua Creek and Devils Den sections. In the Media Agua Creek section, G. gordialis ranges from the Ynezian through the Penutian (P4 to early P9); it is not present in the Ulatisian (fig. 4.8). This species is recognized in the Narizian of the Devils Den section (Kleinpell and Mallory, 1998), but until further examination this young occurrence is questioned.
- Gonatosphaera eocenica Mallory (1959), p. 225, pl. 18, fig. 19. - - Mallory (1970), p. 124, pl. 9, fig. 2. - -Mallory and others (1998), p. 258 (list). = Gonatosphaera multicosta Laiming (1940), (not Costa), p. 550, (list).
- Range: Gonatosphaera eocenica occurs rarely in the early Penutian through early Ulatisian (Mallory, 1959). Gonatosphaera eocenica is present in the Media Agua Creek section in benthic foraminiferal assemblages assigned to the Penutian Stage by McDougall (1988, 1991) and with planktic foraminifers assigned to zone P8 (Poore, 1980). In the Arroyo el Bulito and Pacheco Syncline sections, G. eocenica occurs with benthic foraminiferal assemblages interpreted as Penutian (figs. 4.7 and 4.14) and in association with nannofossils assigned to zone CP10/CP11 (Poore, 1976; Bukry, unpublished paleontologic report, 1988). Although the range appears to be restricted to the Penutian (zones P7 to early P9), occurrences in the Ulatisian Stage have not yet been ruled out.
- Gyroidinoides globosus (Hagenow) - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 14, pl. 7, fig. 5. - - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 329-331, pl. 107, figs.
 1-3. = Gyroidina globosa (Hagenow) - - Goudkoff (1945), Table II. = Gyroidina cf. G. globosa (Hagenow) - - Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). - - Browning and others (1998), p. 145 (list).
- **Comments:** *Gyroidina obesa* and *G. depressa* in Mallory and others (1998) and Goudkoff (1945) are probably synonymous with *Gyroidinoides globosus*.
- **Range**: *Gyroidinoides globosus* ranges from the Cretaceous (Campanian) through the early Eocene P6b zone (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Although this species was not recognized by Mallory (1959) in California strata, it was noted in the Ynezian of the Simi Valley section (Heitman, 1983; Browning

48 California Cenozoic Biostratigraphy—Paleogene

and others, 1998), where it occurs in the Ynezian Stage coeval with zones P4 and CP5 through CP8 (fig. 4.13).

Ecology: *Gyroidina globosus* is an upper bathyal and abyssal species (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).

- Hanzawaia ammophila (Gumbel) - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 168-171, pl. 56, figs. 1-3. = *Cibicides cushmani* Nuttall - - Smith (1957), p. 192, pl. 31, fig. 4. - - Mallory (1959), p. 264, pl. 31, fig. 3. - Mallory (1970), p. 158. - - Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 274. = *Cibicidina cushmani* (Nuttall) - -Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234 (list). = *Hanzawaia cushmani* (Nuttall) - - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 32, pl. 17, fig. 1. = *Anomalina sampsoni* Mallory (1959), p. 262, pl. 23, fig. 7. - Mallory (1970), p.154, pl. 14, fig. 6.
- Range: A range of latest Paleocene (P6a) through middle Miocene (N11) is given by van Morkhoven and others (1986) for *H. ammophila*. The form frequently assigned to *H. cushmani* is most commonly found in the Eocene (P6a) to Oligocene (P18). Mallory (1959) gave the range as late Bulitian through late Narizian, however the Bulitian occurrence in the Media Agua Creek section is actually in the Penutian (P7), so the range in Media Agua Creek is Penutian through Ulatisian (P7 through at least P10) (fig. 4.8). In this study, *H. ammophila* occurs in the Devils Den, Arroyo el Bulito, and Seaboard Welch Well #1 sections.
- **Ecology**: The depth range of *H. ammophila* is outer neritic to upper bathyal; it may also be found at abyssal depths (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Ingle (1980) gives the upper depth limit of this species along the Pacific margin as in the lower middle bathyal biofacies (1,500 to 2,000 m).
- Hanzawaia caribaea (Cushman and Bermudez) - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 303-305, pl.
 99, figs. 1-2. = Anomalina crassisepta Cushman and Siegfus - Mallory (1959), p. 258, pl. 32, fig.
 4. - Mallory (1970), p. 152. - Vaughan (1976), p. 67. - Mallory and others (1998), p. 258 (list).
 - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234 (list). = Anomalinoides crassisepta (Cushman and Siegfus)
 - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 5, figs. 4-6.
- **Range**: *Hanzawaia caribaea* ranges from the late early Eocene, zone P9 through middle Eocene zone P13, with questionable occurrences in the late middle Eocene zones P14 to P15 (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) considered *A. crassisepta* a long-ranging form that occurred in the late Ynezian through early Narizian strata in the Media Agua Creek section. This species occurs infrequently in the strata now assigned to the Penutian

Stage (fig. 4.8) and becomes more common in the Ulatisian interval. It is also present in the Arroyo el Bulito and the Devils Den sections (Kleinpell and Mallory, 1998; Mallory and others, 1998), where it occurs in the latest Penutian (fig. 4.7) and Narizian (fig. 4.10). The Penutian occurrences of this species suggest that the range should extend at least questionably into older strata (P7 through P8).

- **Ecology**: Bathyal species with an upper depth limit of 500 m (Berggren and Aubert, 1983; van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- *Hanzawaia mauricensis* (Howe and Roberts) = *Cibicides* sp. - Mallory (1959), p. 273, pl. 23, fig. 12. = *Cibicides* spp. - Mallory (1970), p. 161 (in part). = *Anomalina umbonata* Cushman - Mallory (1959), p. 262, pl. 31, fig. 2. - Mallory (1970), p. 155, pl. 14, fig. 4. - Browning and others (1998), p. 143, 149 (list).
- **Range**: Bandy (1949) records *Hanzawaia mauricensis* from the middle Eocene of the Gulf Coast (middle Eocene encompasses zones P9 through P14 and part of P15). In California, *Hanzawaia mauricensis* is present in the Penutian and Ulatisian of the Media Agua Creek section (Bulitian through Narizian of Mallory, 1959, 1970), coeval with zones P7 through at least P10 and in the Bulitian (?) portion of the Simi Valley section. The single specimen in the Simi Valley section occurs in strata assigned to planktic foraminiferal zone P5. The range of this species in California is tentatively given as P7 through P10 but the range will likely be modified as more specimens are identified.
- Karreriella chapapotensis (Cole) - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 32. = Karreriella chapapotensis monumentensis Mallory (1959), p. 126, pl. 5, fig. 3. - Mallory (1970), p. 47. - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 235 (list). = Karreriella monumentensis Mallory - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 1, fig. 16.
- **Range**: Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983) give the range of *K. chapapotensis* as early Eocene (P6b) through the Oligocene (P22). The range of the synonym, *K. chapapotensis monumentensis*, is early Ulatisian through early Narizian (Mallory, 1959). In this study *K. chapapotensis* ranges from Ulatisian through the Narizian and is coeval with zones P10 through P11, but only limited younger strata were examined so the cosmopolitan range (P6b to P22) is used.
- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *Karreriella chapapotensis* has an upper depth limit in the upper middle bathyal biofacies (500 to 1,500 m) (Ingle, 1980).

Karreriella conversa (Gryzbowski) - - Kaminski and others (1988), p. 196, pl. 9, figs. 17-18b.

- **Range**: *Karreriella conversa* ranges from Late Cretaceous (Maastrichtian) through at least early Eocene (P8) (Kaminski and others, 1988). Gradstein and others (1988) indicate this species ranges into the middle Eocene (approximately 46 Ma, planktic zone P11) in the North Sea.
- *Karreriella elongata* Mallory (1959), p. 127, pl. 5, fig.
 4.). = *Textularia elongata* (Mallory) - Vaughan (1976), p. 80.
- Range: Karreriella elongata is probably a junior synonym of K. subglabra, which ranges from P8 through Oligocene (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983). Mallory (1959) restricts K. elongata to the early Narizian, which represents only a portion of the cosmopolitan range. In the sections examined for this study K. elongata is present in the Ulatisian (CP12, Vaca Valley, fig. 4.19) and Narizian (Devils Den section, fig. 4.10).
- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *K. elongata* has an upper depth limit in the lower middle bathyal biofacies (1,500 to 2,000 m) (Ingle, 1980).
- Lenticulina ulatisensis (Boyd) - Vaughan (1976), p. 73. - - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 2, fig. 1. = *Robulus ulatisensis* Boyd - - Mallory (1959), p. 142, pl. 6, fig. 10; pl. 40, fig. 4. - - Mallory (1970), p. 62. - - Boyd (1998), p. 122, 123 (list). = *Robulus* cf. *R. ulatisensis* (Boyd) - - Mallory (1970), p. 62.
- **Range**: *Lenticulina ulatisensis* ranges from the late Penutian through early Narizian (Mallory, 1959) and is coeval with zones P9 through P12. In this study *L. ulatisensis* is present in the Ulatisian of the Media Agua Creek (fig. 4.8), Pacheco Syncline (fig. 4.14) and Vaca Valley (fig. 4.9) sections. Questionable, poorly preserved specimens from the Penutian of Media Agua Creek were assigned to this species (Mallory, 1959, 1970). The upper limit of this species range may be younger than given here but additional work is needed to verify this.
- Lenticulina welchi (Church) - Vaughan (1976), p. 76. - - Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 274. - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 236, 239 (list). = Robulus welchi Church - - Smith (1957), p. 159, pl. 21, figs. 4,5,6. - - Mallory (1959), p. 143, pl. 7, fig. 8. - -Mallory (1970), p. 62-63. = Robulus cf. R. welchi (Church) - - Smith (1956), p. 89, pl. 10, fig. 6. - -Mallory (1970), p. 63.
- **Range**: *Lenticulina welchi* first appears in the Ulatisian and ranges into the late Narizian (Mallory, 1959) and is coeval with zones P10 through P15. In this

study *L. welchi* occurs in the Ulatisian and Narizian of the Media Agua Creek, Simi Valley, Vaca Valley, Devils Den, and Refugian sections. In Media Agua Creek and Pacheco Syncline sections, questionable *L. welchi* specimens are found in strata assigned to the Penutian (fig. 4.8). The range of this species is therefore P11 through P15 with questionable occurrences in P9 and P10.

- *Lituotuba lituiformis* (Brady) = *Lituotuba* cf. *L. lituiformis* (Brady) - - Mallory (1959), p. 109, pl. 1, fig. 17. - Mallory (1970), p. 29. - - McDougall (1991), p. 43.
- Range: Lituotuba lituiformis ranges from the Late Cretaceous through at least P8 (Kaminski and others, 1988). Mallory (1959) recognized this species in the late Ynezian, early Penutian, and Ulatisian Stages. Ulatisian and Narizian occurrences are from the Media Agua Creek section in the interval now assigned to the Penutian Stage (zones P7 through early P9 and CP10 through CP12). Other Narizian and Ulatisian occurrences noted by Mallory (1959) are in sections not examined in this study. The cosmopolitan range (Cretaceous to P8) is tentatively accepted pending further study.
- Loxostomoides applinae (Plummer) - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 3, fig. 21. -- van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 327-329, pl. 106, figs. 1-3. = Loxostomum applinae (Plummer) - - Mallory (1959), p. 202, pl. 17, fig. 1. - - Mallory (1970), p. 113-114.
 - Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). - - Browning and others (1998), p. 141, 146 (list). = Bulimina cf. B. applini Plummer - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 257 (list). = ?Loxotomum delicatulum (Cushman) - -Smith (1957), p. 176, pl. 25, fig. 4. = Loxotomium plaitum (Carsey) - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 254.
- Range: Loxostomoides applinae ranges from early Paleocene zone P1 through late early Eocene zone P6b with rare occurrences in early Eocene zones P7 through P9 (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) gives the range of this species as Ynezian through Ulatisian, which encompasses almost the same interval. The Ulatisian occurrences noted by Mallory (1959) in Media Agua Creek are in the interval that includes planktic foraminifers assigned to zone P8, calcareous nannoplankton assigned to CP12, and benthic foraminifers now assigned to the Penutian Stage (fig. 4.8).
- **Ecology**: *Loxostomoides applinae* is a neritic taxa but may also occur at upper bathyal depths (Ingle, 1980; van Morkhoven and others, 1986).

Neoeponides hillebrandti Fisher - - Tjalsma and Lohm-

ann (1983), p. 16, pl. 7, fig. 9a-b.

Range: *Neoeponides hillebrandti* ranges throughout most of the Paleocene, zones P1 to P5 (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983).

Ecology: *Neoeponides hillebrandti* has a wide bathymetric range with most abundant occurrences at abyssal depths during the early Paleocene and bathyal depths during the late Paleocene (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983).

Neoflabellina jarvisi (Cushman) and *Neoflabellina semireticulata* (Cushman and Jarvis)

- Range: Species of *Neoflabellina* were not recognized by Mallory (1959) or other early workers in the Tertiary of California. *Flabellina pilulifera* was recognized by Goudkoff (1945) in his zone A (= Cheneyian) and is probably synonymous with one of the three *Neoflabellina* species listed here. Three species—*N. jarvisi* and *N. semireticulata*—are recognized in more recent studies, and their restricted ranges (Cretaceous through P5; Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983; van Morkhoven and others, 1986; Berggren and Miller, 1989) make them extremely useful for identifying Paleocene strata.
- **Ecology**: Wide bathymetric range with most abundant occurrences at abyssal depths during the early Paleocene and bathyal depths during the late Paleocene (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983). *Neoflabellina semireticulata* may be the deep water variation of *N. jarvisi* (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- Nuttaloides truempyi (Nuttall) - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 4, figs. 2,3,4. = Asterigerina crassa-formis Cushman and Siegfus - Smith (1957), p. 186-187, pl. 28, figs. 7,10. - Mallory (1959), p. 242, pl. 37, fig. 13a,b,c. - Mallory (1970), p. 137. Mallory and others (1998), p. 258 (list). = Asterigerina crassaformis umbilicatula Mallory (1959), p. 242, pl. 22, fig. 1a,b,c. Mallory (1970), p. 137. Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list). Mallory and others (1988), p. 255, 258 (list). Mallory and others (1998), p. 255, 258 (list). Mallory and others (1998), p. 234, 237 (list). = Asterigerinoides crassaformis umbilicatula (Mallory) Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 234 (list).
 Range: Nuttaloides truempyi ranges from the Late
- Cretaceous (Campanian) through late Eocene zone P17 (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) gives the range of Asterigerina crassaformis as Ulatisian through Narizian and A. crassaformis umbilicatula as Penutian through Narizian. Because only limited Paleocene strata were examined, no Paleocene occurrences were noted by Mallory (1959). This species is, however, present in the Media Agua Creek (Penutian through Ulatisian),

Arroyo el Bulito (Ynezian through Penutian), Pacheco Syncline (Penutian through Ulatisian), Vaca Valley (Ulatisian) and the Devils Den (Narizian) sections. The range of *Asterigerina crassaformis umbilicatula* given by Almgren and others (1988) is zones C through A-2, which is coeval with zones CP9 through CP14 (zones P7 to P14) and also falls within the broader cosmopolitan range of *Nuttaloides truempyi*. Berggren and Aubert (1983) considered the extinction of *N. truempyi* a useful event for identification of the Eocene/Oligocene boundary in deep-water sediments.

- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, the upper depth limit of *N. truempyi* is in the lower bathyal biofacies (1,500 to 2,000 m) (Ingle, 1980), but *N. truempyi* is most common at abyssal depths (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- Nuttallinella florealis (White) = Gyroidina florealis White - - Mallory (1959), p. 234, pl. 21, fig. 2. - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 356-358, pl. 115.
- Range: Nuttallinella florealis ranges from the Cretaceous through the late Paleocene P5 zone (van Morkhoven and others, 1986; Berggren and Miller, 1989). Mallory (1959) noted N. florealis (G. florealis) in the Ynezian through Penutian; Penutian and Ulatisian occurrences were noted by Laiming (1940). The Penutian occurrences in the Devils Den section have not been verified and the species not found in subsequent studies of this area (Berggren and Aubert, 1983). The location of the reported Ulatisian occurrence is unknown. In the sections examined for this study, N. florealis is present in the Ynezian through Penutian (CP9 and CP11) of the Arroyo el Bulito section (fig. 4.7). The Penutian specimens in the Arroyo el Bulito section may be N. truempyi, a similar species.
- Osangularia mexicana (Cole) - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 4, figs. 13,14. - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 35, pl. 20, fig. 6. = Eponides lodoensis martini Smith (1957), p. 182 (in part). = Parrella culter midwayensis (Cushman) - Mallory (1959), p. 239, pl. 21, fig. 7. - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 236 (list). = Parrella culter (Parker and Jones) - Browning and others (1998), p. 147 (list). = Osangularia culter - Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list). = Parrella tenuicarinata - Mallory (1959), p. 240, pl. 21, fig. 5. - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 236 (list).
- **Range**: Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983) give the range of *O. mexicana* as early Eocene (P6b) through the Oligocene (P22). Forms identified by Mallory (1959) as *Parrella culter midwayana* and *Parrella tenui*-

carinata range from early Ynezian through the early Narizian, and late Bulitian through late Narizian. The early Ynezian occurrence of *P. midwayana* is from the Media Agua Creek section in the interval now assigned to the early Eocene, Penutian Stage (fig. 4.8). The Bulitian occurrence of *P. tenuicarinata* is not identified (Mallory, 1959). The ranges of these synonymous California species are therefore early Eocene to Oligocene as noted by Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983).

- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *O. mexicana* has an upper depth limit in the upper middle bathyal biofacies (Ingle, 1980).
- Palmula primitiva Cushman - Smith (1957), p. 169, pl. 23, fig. 7. - - Mallory (1959), p. 159, pl. 32, fig. 4, pl. 36, fig. 9. - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 257 (list). - - Browning and others (1998), p. 147 (list).
- Range: Palmula primitiva ranges from the Late Cretaceous through Paleocene (P6a?) (Sliter, 1968).
 Mallory (1959) restricted this species to the Ynezian. Occurrences in the sections examined in this study support a Cretaceous through Paleocene range for this species.
- Plectofrondicularia miocenica Cushman - Kleinpell (1938), p. 240, pl. 7, fig. 12. Smith (1956), p. 94, pl. 12, fig. 8. = Parafrondicularia miocenica (Cushman) - Finger (1990), p. 188-189, plate-figs. 1-11.
- Range: Kleinpell (1938) gives the range of *P. mioce-nica* as Zemorrian through Relizian (late Oligocene through middle Miocene); Finger (1990) gives the range of *P. miocenica* as Oligocene to Pliocene, which is coeval with P18 through N21. This species is noted in the Devils Den section in association with latest Refugian faunas and in strata assigned to chron C15r, which is latest Eocene (Prothero, 2001b). A range of P18 through N21 with a questionable occurrence in P17 is therefore proposed for this species.
- **Ecology:** The upper depth limit of *P. miocenica* is in the lower middle bathyal biofacies (Ingle in Finger, 1990). Ingle (1980) lists *P. miocenica laimingi* as having an upper depth limit in the lower bathyal biofacies ($\geq 2,000$ m). This variety has a broad flat periphery instead of the acute keeled periphery of *P. miocenica*, and thus, probably has a shallower upper depth limit.
- Plectofrondicularia packardi Cushman and Schenck McDougall (1980), p. 37. Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 239 (list). = Plectofrondicularia packardi packardi Cushman and Schenck Smith (1956), p. 94, pl. 12, figs. 1,7. Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list),

275. = *Plectofrondicularia packardi multilineata* Cushman and Simonson - - Smith (1956), p. 94, pl. 12, fig. 6. - - Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 275. = *Plectofrondicularia packardi robusta* Kleinpell and Weaver - - Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 275.

- **Range**: This species includes a number of variants that probably represent ecological variations within the range of *P. packardi*. *Plectofrondicularia packardi* ranges from the late Narizian into the Oligocene (Mallory, 1959; McDougall, 1980; Tipton, 1980). This species has, however, been found throughout the Narizian as well as the Oligocene so the range is tentatively given as P15 through P22 with questionable or rare occurrences in P13 and P14. *Plectofrondicularia packardi* is present in the Devils Den, Arroyo el Bulito and Seaboard Welch Well #1 sections.
- Plectofrondiuclaria paucicostata Cushman and Jarvis van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 273, pl. 91, figs. 1-2. = Plectofrondicularia kerni Cook Mallory (1959), p. 212, pl. 18, fig. 2; pl. 33, fig. 10a,b.
 Mallory (1970), p. 99-100. Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 2, fig. 8.
- **Range**: *Plectofrondicularia paucicostata* ranges from the middle Eocene (P12) through early Oligocene (P20) with questionable or rare occurrence from early Eocene P8 through middle Eocene P11 (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) gives the range of *P. kerni* as early Penutian through early Narizian. In the sections studied here *P. paucicostata* ranges from the Penutian through Narizian (P7 to P11), which represents only the questionable or rare part of the cosmopolitan range of *P. paucicostata*.
- **Ecology**: *Plectofrondicularia paucicostata* is a middle bathyal to abyssal species (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- Pullenia eocenica Cushman and Siegfus - Mallory (1959), p. 246, pl. 30, fig. 4a,b. - Mallory (1970), p. 142, pl. 12, fig. 4. - Tjalsma and Lohmann (1983), p. 36, pl. 16, fig. 2. - Boyd (1998), p. 125 (list) - Browning and others (1998), p. 147 (list).
 Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 236, 240 (list).

Range: Pullenia eocenica is common from early Eocene zone P9 through late Eocene P17 with rare occurrences as old as P6a (late Paleocene) (Tjalsma and Lohmann, 1983). According to Mallory (1959), *P. eocenica* ranges from late Bulitian through late Narizian, however the older occurrences in Media Agua Creek section are now assigned to the Penutian. In the Arroyo el Bulito section *P. eocenica* ranges from the Cheneyian (P1/P3) through Bulitian

^{- -} Mallory and others (1998), p. 257 (list).

(?) (CP11) portion of the section. *Pullenia eocenica* is also recognized in the Ynezian of the Simi Valley section coeval with zone P4. The Eocene range of *P. eocenica* is accepted and the Paleocene occurrences in the sections examined here are assumed to be misidentified.

- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *P. eocenica* has an upper depth limit in the upper middle bathyal biofacies (500 to 1,500 m) (Ingle, 1980).
- Silicosigmoilina californica Cushman and Church Smith (1957), p. 155, pl. 19, figs. 8 and 12. Mallory (1959), p. 129. Mallory (1970), p. 50. Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list). Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list). Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 1, fig. 19. Browning and others (1998), p. 142, 148, 152 (list). Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 236 (list). Mallory and others (1998), p. 257 (list).
- **Range**: *Silicosigmoilina californica* is probably a junior synonym of Rzehakina epigona (Rzehak). The range of R. epigona is Late Cretaceous (Campanian through early Eocene (P9) with doubtful occurrences in middle Eocene zones P10 through P13 (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Mallory (1959) records S. californica as present in the Paleocene and Eocene in California. Almgren and others (1988) indicate this species ranges from zone D through A-2, which is equivalent to nannofossil zone CP4 through CP14 (planktic foraminiferal zones P4 through P14). Only rare or questionable occurrences of S. californica are noted in zone A-2 (P10 to P14) (Almgren and others, 1988). In the sections examined for this study S. californica is common in the Paleocene through middle Eocene coeval with zones P1 through P13, although the middle Eocene occurrences are not as common. Therefore the range suggested by van Morkhoven and others (1986) is accepted.
- **Ecology**: *Rzehakina epigona* is common in bathyal and abyssal environments (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- Spiroplectammina directa (Cushman and Siegfus) Mallory (1959), p. 116, pl. 3, fig. 5a,b. Mallory (1970), p. 37. Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list). Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 1, fig. 8, 9. Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). Browning and others (1998), p. 142, 148 (list). Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 236, 240 (list).
- **Range**: *Spiroplectammina directa* is probably a junior synonym of *S. specialis* that ranges from the Cretaceous to late middle Eocene planktic foraminiferal zone P14 (approximately 40 Ma, Gradstein and others, 1988). *Spiroplectammina directa* was

thought to be restricted to the Ulatisian and Narizian Stages (Mallory, 1959). This species has, however, been found in Paleocene and early Eocene assemblages in association with calcareous nannofossil assemblages (CP6 through CP11 as well as in the middle Eocene). The cosmopolitan range given by Gradstein and others (1988) of *S. directa* (Cretaceous to P14) is used.

- Spiroplectammina richardi Martin - Mallory (1959), p. 118, pl. 3, fig. 9; pl. 27, fig. 5. - - Mallory (1970), p. 38. - - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 1, fig. 7. - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 236 (list). = Spiroplectammina? cf. S. richardi Martin - - Mallory (1959), p. 118, pl. 3, fig. 10. - - Mallory (1970), p. 39. = Spiroplectammina adamsi Lalicker - - Smith (1957), p. 150-151, pl. 18, figs. 4a-b. - - Mallory (1970), p. 37. - - Browning and others (1998), p. 148 (list). = Spiroplectammina adamsi Lalicker - - Smith (1957), p. 150-151, pl. 18, fig. 4. = Spiroplectammina cf. S. adamsi Lalicker - - Mallory (1970), p. 37. = Spiroplectammina gryzbowski Frizzell - - Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list). - - Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list). - - Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). - - Browning and others (1998), p. 142, 148 (list). - - Mallory and others (1998), p. 257 (list). = Spiroplectammina gryzbowski Frizzell - - Browning and others (1998), p. 148 (list). = Spiroplectammina mississippiensis Cushman - - Mallory (1970), p. 38. -- Vaughan (1976), p. 80. - - Boyd (1998), p.123 (list). = Textularia mississippiensis (Cushman) - - Smith (1957), p. 151-152, pl. 18, figs. 1-3. = Spiroplectammina perplexa Israelsky - - Mallory (1970), p. 38.
- **Comments**: *Spiroplectoides clotho* (Gryzbowski) of Goudkoff (1945, Table II) may also be a synonym of *S. richardi*.
- Range: Spiroplectammina richardi has been identified under a variety of names in California strata. The range given by Mallory (1959) is early Bulitian through early Narizian. Spiroplectammina richardi (S. gryzbowski) occurs in zones E through A-2 of Almgren and others (1988), which are coeval with planktic zones P4 through P15. In the sections examined for this study, S. richardi is common in the Ynezian through early Narizian coeval with zones P4 through P10. Because younger occurrences were noted by Almgren and others (1988), the younger range of this species in zones P11 through P15 is tentatively accepted but questioned. If S. clotho is synonymous with this species, the range of S. richardi would be extended into the early Paleocene, zone P1.
- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *S. richardi* has an upper depth limit in the outer shelf biofacies (50 to 150 m) (Ingle, 1980).

- Stensioina beccariiformis (White) - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 346-353, pls. 113A, B, C, and D. = Gavelinella beccariiformis White - - Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list) = Pseudovalvulineria beccariformis - - Gibson (1976), Table 2 (list).
- **Range**: *Stensioina beccariiformis* was not recognized by earlier workers in California micropaleontology. It has been recognized as a cosmopolitan species that ranges from the Late Cretaceous (Santonian) through late Paleocene (P5) (van Morkhoven and others, 1986). Almgren and others (1988) considered this species diagnostic of their upper E zone, which is coeval with planktic foraminiferal zones P4 and P5.
- *Tappanina selmensis* (Cushman) - van Morkhoven and others (1986), p. 332-334, pl. 108, figs. 1-3.
- Range: Although *T. selmensis* was not recognized by previous workers in California, it has now been found in the Paleocene of Lodo Gulch and Smith Grade (Locatelli Formation; Berggren and Aubert, 1983). The range of *T. selmensis* is Maastrichtian through early Eocene (P6b) (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- **Ecology**: *Tappanina selmensis* is an outer neritic species but is also found in bathyal facies (van Morkhoven and others, 1986).
- *Trifarina wilcoxensis* (Cushman and Ponton) = *Angulogerina wilcoxensis* (Cushman and Ponton) - - Smith (1957), p. 179, pl. 25, fig. 9. - - Mallory (1959), p. 211, pl. 37, fig. 6. - - Mallory (1970), p. 117, pl. 8, fig. 5. - - Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). - - Browning and others (1998), p. 142, 149 (list). = *Angulogerina* cf. *A. wilcoxensis* (Cushman and Ponton) - - Vaughan (1976), p. 67. - - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 3, fig. 14.
- Range: Trifarina wilcoxensis ranges from late Bulitian through early Penutian with a questionable occurrence in the late Ulatisian (Mallory, 1959). Almgren and others (1988) give the range as zones C through B-4, coeval with planktic zones P6b though late P8. In this study *T. wilcoxensis* was found in the Paleocene of the Simi Valley section (fig. 4.13) but this occurrence is suspect due to taxonomic problems encountered in this section. Other occurrences of *T. wilcoxensis* suggest this species ranges from the Penutian through Ulatisian (P7 to P10).
- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *T. wilcoxensis* has an upper depth limit on the outer shelf biofacies and is transitional to upper bathyal biofacies (Ingle, 1980).
- Uvigerina atwilli Cushman and Simonson - Smith (1956), p. 96, pl. 12, fig. 10. - - Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 275. = Uvigerina cf. U. atwilli Cushman

and Simonson - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 240 (list).

- Range: Uvigerina atwilli is restricted to the Refugian Stage coeval with zones P16 and P17 (McDougall, 1980; Tipton, 1980).
- **Ecology:** Uvigerina glabrans is common at upper bathyal depths in carbonate rich foraminiferal sands. Along the Pacific margin, U. atwilli occurs most frequently in association with outer shelf and upper bathyal assemblages (McDougall, 1980).
- Uvigerina alabamensis - Mallory (1959), p. 206, pl. 29, fig. 5a,b,c. - Berggren and Aubert (1983), p. 11.
- **Range**: The range of *U. alabamensis* is given as Penutian through Ulatisian by Mallory (1959). It has been recognized in the Penutian of the Lodo Gulch section (Berggren and Aubert, 1983) and the Ulatisian of the Vaca Valley section (Mallory, 1959). This species is probably unrecognized in most studies because of its small size. Until more data on the occurrence of this species is available, a broad range of zones P6b through P12 will be used.
- Uvigerina churchi Cushman and Siegfus - Mallory (1959), p. 206, pl. 17, fig. 6. - - Mallory (1970), p. 115, pl. 8, fig. 2. - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 237 (list). = Uvigerina churchi demicostata Mallory (1959), p. 207, pl. 17, fig. 10. - - Mallory (1970), pl. 8, fig. 1. - - Vaughan (1976), p. 80. - -Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 237 (list).
- **Range**: Mallory (1959) gives the range of *Uvigerina churchi* as Narizian, however, in sections examined for this study, *U. churchi* occurs in the Ulatisian and Narizian of the Media Agua Creek, Vaca Valley and Devils Den sections. It is not present in the Refugian. The range of *U. churchi* is tentatively given as zones P10 through P15.
- *Uvigerina cocoaensis* Cushman - Smith (1956), p. 96, pl. 12, fig. 11. - -Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 275. - -McDougall (1980), p. 38, pl. 16, figs. 4-13; pl. 17, figs. 1-10. - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 240 (list).
- **Range**: Although Tipton (1980) restricts this species to the middle and late Refugian Stage, McDougall (1980) considers its first appearance datum to be in the early Refugian, coeval with P15. The species does not appear in the Zemorrian. The range of *U. cocoaensis* is therefore given as P16 through P17.
- *Uvigerina elongata* Cole - Smith (1957), p. 177, pl. 26, fig. 11. - - Mallory (1959), p. 207, pl. 29, fig. 4. - -Mallory (1970), p. 115, pl. 8, fig. 3. - - Vaughan

54 California Cenozoic Biostratigraphy—Paleogene

(1976), p. 80. - - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 3, fig. 16, 17.

- Range: Mallory (1959) gives the range of U. elongata as late Bulitian through early Narizian. The Bulitian occurrence is in Media Agua Creek section and is now assigned to the Penutian (zone P7); the remaining occurrences are Ulatisian coeval with zone P9 through P11. The cosmopolitan range of U. elongata is middle Eocene (zone P9) through Oligocene (zone P20) (Boersma, 1984), which is accepted here despite the rare Penutian occurrence in the Media Agua Creek section.
- **Ecology:** Boersma (1984) finds *U. elongata* in shallow shelf sediments, frequently in warmer regions and associated with glauconite.

Uvigerina gallowayi Cushman - - Tipton (1980), p. 275.

- Range: The range of U. gallowayi is given as early through late Miocene, coeval with zones N4 to N15 and possibly N16 (Boersma, 1984). Kleinpell (1938) noted the presence of this species in the early Zemorrian, early Oligocene. This species is also present in the late Refugian in California (Tipton, 1980). The range of U. gallowayi is therefore P16 through N15 and possibly N16.
- **Ecology**: *Uvigerina gallowayi* has an upper depth limit in the upper middle bathyal biofacies (500 to 1,500 m) (Ingle, 1980).
- Uvigerina garzaensis Cushman and Siegfus - Smith (1956), p. 97, pl. 13, fig. 2. Smith (1957), p. 177, pl. 26, fig. 9. Mallory (1959), p. 208, pl. 37, fig. 2a,b. Mallory (1970), p. 115-116. Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 269, 271. Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 237, 240 (list). = Uvigerina garzaensis nudorobustata Mallory (1959), p. 208, pl. 17, figs. 11,13. Mallory (1970), p. 116. -- Vaughan (1976), p. 81. Tipton (1980), p. 275. Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 240 (list).
- **Range**: Although the range of this hispid uvigerinid and its ecologic variants is given as early Narizian through Refugian (Mallory, 1959; Tipton, 1980), it probably has a more extensive range, particularly in deeper water. In the sections examined for this study, *U. garzaensis* ranges from Ulatisian through Refugian and probably extends into the Zemorrian. A range from the Ulatisian through Refugian, coeval with zones P10 through at least P17, is tentatively accepted for this species.
- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *U. garzaensis* has an upper depth limit in the lower bathyal biofacies (Ingle, 1980).
- *Uvigerina laimingi* Smith (1957), p. 177-178, pl. 26, fig. 4a-c, 8a-c. - - Mallory (1959), p. 208-209. = *Pseudouvigerina sp. C* - - Laiming (1940), p. 553.

- - Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list).

- **Range**: *Uvigerina laimingi* was found only in the Ynezian of Pacheco Syncline by Mallory (1959). The range of this species is therefore Paleocene and restricted to the Ynezian Stage, coeval with zone P4.
- Uvigerina lodoensis miriamae Mallory (1959), p. 209, pl. 17, figs. 8-9; not pl 40, fig. 9. Mallory (1970), p. 116. Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 3, figs. 18, 19, 20. Browning and others (1998), p. 152 (list). = Uvigerina cf. U. lodoensis Martin Smith (1957), p. 178, pl. 25, fig. 7. = Uvigerina spp., Smith (1957), p. 179, pl. 25, fig. 10, not pl. 26, fig. 3. = Pseudouvigerina vacavillensis Boyd (1949), p. 48, pl. II, fig. 35. Vaughan (1976), p. 79.
- Range: Mallory (1959) gives the range of U. lodoensis *miriamae* as Penutian through Ulatisian. Specimens occur in the Penutian of the Media Agua Creek and Pacheco Syncline sections, coeval with zones late P7 to P9. The range of U. lodoensis miriamae in California appears to continue into younger strata as it has been observed in the Poppin shale of Classen and Hornaday (1998; informal term for a shale member of the Anita Formation), which is early Ulatisian (CP12a, Bukry, unpublished paleontologic report, 1989; planktic foraminiferal zone P10). Other Ulatisian occurrences given by Mallory (1959) have not been confirmed. This species is probably a synonym of Uvigerinella abbreviata, which King (1989) has found in the North Sea. Uvigerinella abbreviata ranges from NSB3a to 3b (equivalent to late P6b to early P9) in the North Sea and to the middle Eocene in the onshore sequences (King, 1989). The range of U. lodoensis miriamae is therefore given as P6b though P9 and questionably as young as P10.
- Vaginulinopsis asperuliformis (Nuttall) - Mallory (1959), p. 155, pl. 27, fig. 20a,b. - Mallory (1970), p. 73. - Vaughan (1976), p. 81. - Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list). - Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 2, figs. 4, 5. - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 237 (list). - Mallory and others (1998), p. 259 (list). - Browning and others (1998), p. 149 (list). Browning and others (1998), p. 149 (list). Vaginulinopsis cf. V. asperuliformis (Nuttall) - Mallory (1970), p. 72, pl. 4, fig. 11. Browning and others (1998), p. 152 (list).
- **Range**: Mallory (1959) gives the range as late Bulitian through early Narizian; Almgren and others (1988) give the range as zone C through A-2 (rare), which corresponds to nannofossil zones CP9 through CP14 (planktic foraminiferal zones P6b to P14). In the sections examined for this study *V. asperuliformis* ranges from early Eocene Penutian through early Narizian, coeval with P6b though P14.

- **Ecology**: Along the East Pacific margin, *V. asperuliformis* has an upper depth limit in the outer shelf biofacies (50 to 150 m) (Ingle, 1980).
- Vaginulinopsis nudicostata (Cushman and Hanna) =
 Vaginulinopsis mexicana nudicostata (Cushman and Hanna) Smith (1957), p. 162, pl. 22, fig. 3. Mallory (1959), p. 157, pl. 28, fig. 1; pl. 40, figs. 2-3. Mallory (1970), p. 74, pl. 4, fig. 13. Vaughan (1976), p. 81. Berggren and Aubert (1983), pl. 2, fig. 6. Boyd (1998), p.122, 123 (list). Browning and others (1998), p. 152 (list).
 = Vaginulinopsis mexicana var B Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5.
- Range: Mallory (1959) gives the range as lower Bulitian through upper Ulatisian, but the Paleocene occurrences were in the Media Agua Creek section and have now been assigned to the Penutian (fig. 4.8). Almgren and others (1988) give the range as zones B-4 through B-1, which are equivalent to late P8 through early P10. This range is consistent with the observed occurrences in the studied sections.
- Vaginulinopsis saundersi (Hanna and Hanna)- Smith (1957), p. 162, pl. 22, figs. 1-2. Mallory (1959), p. 157, pl. 11, fig. 10. - Mallory (1970), p. 75. - Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 267, 275. - Heitman (1983), fig. 4 (list). = Vaginulinopsis (?) aff. V. saundersi (Hanna and Hanna) - Smith (1957), p. 163, pl. 22, fig. 4. = Marginulina mexicana var C Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list). = Vaginulinopsis mexicana var C (Laiming, 1940) - Boyd (1998), p. 123.
- Range: The range according to Mallory (1959) is Bulitian through Ulatisian; Almgren and others (1988) give the range as zones B-4 through B-2, which are equivalent to nannofossil zones CP10 through CP11 (planktic foraminiferal zones late P7 to P9). Mallory's (1959) Bulitian occurrence in the Media Agua Creek section is now assigned to the Penutian and coeval with zone P7 (fig. 4.8). In the sections examined for this study, Vaginulinopsis saundersi occurs in the late Paleocene or early Eocene of the Media Agua Creek, Simi Valley, Pacheco Syncline, and Vaca Valley sections. Excluding the Paleocene occurrences in the Simi Valley and Pacheco Syncline sections (probably misidentified), this species appears to range from the Penutian through the early Ulatisian coeval with zones P7 through P9. Tipton (1980) also reports this species from the middle Refugian Stage in the Gaviota section. Until the Paleocene and late Eocene occurrences are resolved, the range of V. saundersi is P7 through P9 with questionable occurrences in P4 through P6 and P10 through P16.

- Vaginulinopsis vacavillensis (Hanna) - Smith (1957), p. 163, pl. 22, figs. 6,7,8. - - Vaughan (1976), p. 81.
 - Boyd (1998), p.122, 123 (list). = Vaginulinopsis mexicana vacavillensis (Hanna) - - Mallory (1959), p. 157, pl. 11, fig. 8, pl. 40, figs. 1,7. = Vaginulinopsis mexicana var A - - Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list).
- Range: Mallory (1959) gives the range of V. vacavillensis as late Ynezian through late Ulatisian, however he does not provide references to the Ynezian or Bulitian occurrences, citing only Penutian and Ulatisian occurrences. Almgren and others (1988) give the range as zones B-3/B-2 through B-1, which are coeval with CP11 through CP12 (or planktic zones P8 to P10). This range is consistent with the occurrences noted in the sections examined for this study. V. vacavillensis is noted in the Pacheco Syncline area, where it occurs in Ulatisian strata assigned to calcareous nannoplankton zone CP12 and in the Ulatisian of the Vaca Valley section coeval with CP11 and CP12 (P9 to P10).
- Vaginulinopsis vertuculosa Martin (1943), p. 16, pl.
 5, fig. 6 Smith (1957), p. 164, pl. 21, fig. 19.
 Mallory (1959), p. 158, pl. 36, fig. 8. Mallory (1970), p. 75-76, pl. 5, fig. 2. = Marginulina mexicana var D Laiming (1940), p. 198, pl. 83, fig.
 7. = Vaginulinopsis mexicana var D (Laiming) Almgren and others (1988), fig. 5 (list).
- Range: Mallory (1959) gives the range of *V. ver-ruculosa* as late Bulitian through late Ulatisian. Almgren and others (1988) indicate that this species ranges from their B-4 and B-3/B-2, and Pseudo-C zones but is missing in the B-1 zone, which gives a range coeval with calcareous nannoplankton zones CP10 and CP11 (or planktic zones P7 to early P9). Mallory's (1959) Bulitian occurrence is in the Media Agua Creek section, which is now assigned to the Penutian (fig. 4.8). A Penutian range coeval with zones P7 through P9 is compatible with the observed occurrences in the sections examined for this study.
- Valvulineria jacksonensis welcomensis Mallory (1959),
 p. 231, pl. 20, figs. 3a,b,c; 5a,b,c. Mallory (1970),
 p. 129, pl. 10, fig. 6. Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list).
 Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 237, 240 (list). =
 Valvulineria cf. V. jacksonensis welcomensis Mallory
 Vaughan (1976), p. 81. = Valvulineria martinezensis Smith (1957), p. 180, pl. 27, figs. 1, 4.
- Range: Mallory (1959) gives the range of *V. jacksonen*sis welcomensis as Narizian through Refugian. In the sections examined for this study *V. jacksonensis* welcomensis occurs in the Vaca Valley, Devils Den, Arroyo el Bulito, and Seaboard Welch Well #1 sec-

56 California Cenozoic Biostratigraphy—Paleogene

tions. The Vaca Valley occurrence is in the Ulatisian Stage and coeval with zones P10/11 through P12. The occurrence in zones P10/11 is questioned. The Narizian and Refugian occurrences are coeval with Chrons C20n or C21n through C19n or C20n (Devils Den, fig. 4.10), and zone P15 (Arroyo el Bulito, fig. 4.11). A range of Ulatisian through Refugian, coeval with zones P12 through P16, is tentatively suggested for this species.

- Valvulineria tumeyensis Cushman and Simonson -Mallory (1959), p. 232. - - Tipton (1980), p. 265 (list), 275. - - Kleinpell and Mallory (1998), p. 240 (list). = Valvulineria chirana Cushman and Stone - - Smith (1957), p. 180, pl. 27, fig. 2.
- **Range**: *Valvulineria tumeyensis* ranges from the early Narizian through the Refugian (Mallory, 1959;

McDougall, 1980; Tipton, 1980), coeval with zones P13 through P16.

Zeauvigerina lodoensis Martin - - Mallory (1959), p. 211. - - Mallory (1970), p. 101

Range: Mallory (1959) cites a rare occurrence of *Zeauvi-gerina lodoensis* in the Ynezian of the Media Agua Creek section, the early Penutian in Lodo Gulch (Martin, 1943), and the early Ulatisian of the Devils Den section. The Media Agua Creek occurrence is now assigned to the Penutian Stage and coeval with planktic foraminiferal zone P6b, as is the Lodo Gulch occurrence. The Devils Den occurrence cannot be located so the Ulatisian portion of the range is unsupported. The range of *Z. lodoensis* is Penutian, coeval with zones P6b through P8.